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About The Cover
Through the years, MacroAsia is reaching new heights as a highly
integrated aviation services conglomerate of world-class distinction.
As it continues to grow and diversify, MacroAsia is defining its
leadership in aviation services and beyond, with its fast-emerging
frontiers and expanding horizons across the country.
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About Us

MAC continues to operate through joint ventures with
reputable local and foreign companies, or through
wholly-owned subsidiaries:
yy

yy

The firm is listed under the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) and has
been conducting commercial operations since 1996 as a holding
company under its amended charter. Originally incorporated as
Infanta Mineral & Industrial Corporation on February 16, 1970,
the company was to engage in the business of geological
exploration and development. However, on January 26, 1994,
its Articles of Incorporation was amended and the company was
renamed into Cobertson Holdings Corporation and was to engage
in the business of a holding company. On November 6, 1995, the SEC
further approved another change of its corporate name to what is
now known as - MacroAsia Corporation.
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MacroAsia Catering Services, Inc. (MACS),
a majority-owned subsidiary (67% MAC, 33% SATS
Ltd.) that operates in NAIA. It offers in-flight catering
to the majority of international airline clients that
fly to Manila, and to Philippine Airlines through
its wholly-owned subsidiary, MacroAsia SATS
Inflight Services  Corporation (MSIS). In addition to
this, the group also caters to the needs of some
institutional clients, such as banks and BPOs.

First Aviation Academy, Inc. (FAA), a joint venture
company with an equity sharing of 51% for MAC
and 49% for Philippine Transmarine Carriers (PTC).
The JV is a training and skills assessment center for
aviation professionals. The training facility is capable
for ab initio pilot training, certification and career
development courses;

yy

MacroAsia Properties Development Corporation
(MAPDC), a developer/operator of the sole
Special Economic Zone at the NAIA and MCIA.
Today, MAPDC serves as a vehicle for the group to
become one of the natural resources development
partner in the Philippines, focusing on water
re-use, treatment and distribution. So far, the
company has commenced operations in Solano,
Nueva Vizcaya (Solano Water, 100% MacroAsiaowned), Boracay Island (Boracay Tubi, 67%
MacroAsia-owned) and Naic, Cavite (Naic Water,
100% MacroAsia-owned).

yy

Allied Water Services, Inc. (AWSI), formerly
Airport Specialists’ Services Corporation (ASSC),
holding subsidiary of the Group for water
businesses. Currently operating through a 60%
owned subsidiary, Summa Water Resources, Inc.
(SWRI) which supplies water treatment equipment
and bulk water to private and government entities
in several locations in the Philippines – Balesin,
Mactan, Iloilo, Albay, Bulacan, and Cavite.

yy

MacroAsia Air Taxi Services, Inc. (MAATS),
a fixed based operations (FBO) service provider
like auxiliary service support of executive jets and
permitting requirements of fixed-wing aircraft
operators with no commercial presence in the
Philippines; and

yy

MacroAsia
Mining
Corporation
(MMC),
a mining exploration services that specializes
in nickel ore. MMC also provides outsourced
exploration services.

The growth in non-airline business led to the
creation of a wholly-owned subsidiary, MacroAsia
SATS Food Industries Corporation (MSFI) that
operates a new commissary outside NAIA;

MacroAsia Corporation (MAC)

is a leading
provider of aviation-related support services in the Philippines.
The group mainly operates thru three main subsidiaries, in which
in-flight catering, ground handling and aircraft maintenance are
the main line of businesses. MAC has also ventured into natural
resources development, particularly in projects involving
water distribution and treatment. This water segment has been
growing, adding another revenue pillar for MAC.

Lufthansa Technik Philippines, Inc. (LTP), a joint
venture with Lufthansa Technik AG. With 49%
owned by MAC, LTP was incorporated in December
1999, to provide aircraft maintenance, repair and
overhaul (MRO) in Ninoy Aquino International
Airport (NAIA). With its modern facilities, LTP is a
globally competitive company offering aircraft and
engine maintenance, repair, and overhaul to airline
clients from almost all parts of the world;

yy

yy

yy

yy

Cebu Pacific Catering Services, Inc. (CPCS),
the only in-flight catering company that operates
at the Mactan-Cebu International Airport (MCIA).
MAC has a 40% stake in the company;
MacroAsia Airport Services Corporation
(MASCORP), a majority owned subsidiary
(80% MAC, 20% Konoike Transport Ltd.) Transport
that provides airport and ground handling services
in a total of 30 airport locations in the country.
The company provides gateway services that
includes various ground handling activities
such as passenger check-in services, ramp
handling,
baggage
and
cargo
handling
among others. MASCORP also performs
maintenance of ground support equipment
and apron/ramp cleaning in the airport;
Japan Airport Service Co., Ltd. (JASCO),
30% owned affiliate that provides safe flight
operation in addition to value-added quality
services accompanied by on-time performance
to 29 carriers operating out of Narita International
Airport in Japan;

Moving forward, MAC will continue to focus and pursue
developing its business in the aviation support industry,
while supporting the growth of its water concessions
segment outside of Metro Manila.
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MacroAsia at a Glance (amount in Php millions)

1,730.9
1,455.9

2018

EBITDA

6,167.8

1,086.1

2017

Revenue

1,194.0

1,066.2

Net Income

Core Values

Accountability - We accept our individual and team
responsibilities and we meet our commitments.
We take responsibility for our performance in all of
our decisions and actions.

yy

Responsible Citizenship - We encourage a
healthy and safe workplace for our people,
commit ourselves to responsible governance as a
corporation and as a partner of government, and
seek to promote a competitive free enterprise
system, excellent environmental compliance and
enrichment of the communities where we operate.

Our Vision

Within the first two decades of the 21st century, to
be the globally competitive aviation support, logistics
services provider and a natural resources development
partner in the Philippines, with a full range of products
and services for which we shall be acknowledged by our
clients and other stakeholders for excellent customer
service, pioneering technology, integrity, value-for-money
and social responsibility, all made possible by self-driven,
smart and world-class people.

4
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2017

2018

2018

2019

Total Equity

6,837.8

yy

Total Liabilities

2017

5,598.4

Respect - We honor the rights and beliefs of
our stakeholders - our employees, our customers,
our shareowners, our suppliers and our community.

2019

2019

2017

2018

4,369.0

yy

2018

5,650.1

Teamwork - We support and establish unified
though diverse teams in our operating units. We
seek to work together and establish synergies to
meet our common goals.

Total Assets

2017

3,964.3

yy

2019

3,460.6

We shall achieve our mission to increase shareholder
value, ensure long-term profitability, develop world-class
competencies, provide career opportunities and create
synergies as we build mutually beneficial partnerships,
alliances or joint ventures with those who share our
philosophy and values.

Integrity - We manage all parts of our business in
a manner that builds value into the investment,
employing ethical standards, demonstrating
honesty and fairness in every action that we take,
thus building value and confidence among all our
business stakeholders.

12,488.0

Such passion and drive shall be anchored on a
committed team of professionals who shall embody a
strong stakeholder focus, integrity, strategic thinking,
empowering leadership, continual development and
commitment to national growth and social responsibility.

yy

9,562.7

MacroAsia Corporation - a holding company with a
diverse business portfolio within the next decade, will
achieve leadership position in the market it serves by
being passionate and driven with values and goals that
are aligned with the objectives of its shareholders.

Our way of life in MacroAsia is built on the fundamental
ideal of service to all stakeholders, especially our
customers. In doing so, we are guided by:

7,829.5

Our Mission

780.8

2,770.8

We will passionately pursue our vision with:
Efficiency, Strategic Focus, and Character that models
a world-class people.

3,426.6

Our Motto

2019

2017

2018

2019
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Core Investments

Three (3) Pillars of Profitability

MacroAsia Equity Ownership

Revenues
(Php Millions)

Lufthansa Technik Philippines, Inc.
(LTP)

Lufthansa Technik Philippines

49%

MacroAsia Catering Services, Inc.
(MACS)

67%

MacroAsia SATS Inflight Services
Corporation (MSIS)

67%

2,062.4

0%

MacroAsia Catering Services and subsidiaries

2,905.5

75%

235.3

0%

MacroAsia Airport Services Corporation

2,869.6

96%

210.2

58%

Total Assets

80%

12,488.0

9,562.7

7,829.5

3,599.9

1,853.3

1,827.0

Non-current Assets

8,888.1

7,709.4

6,002.5

Total Liabilities

5,650.1

5,650.1

3,460.6

Current Liabilities

2,883.1

1,354.3

1,495.9

Non-current Liabilities

2,767.1

2,610.0

1,964.6

Total Equity

6,837.8

5,598.4

5,598.4

4.33

3.52

3.51

Revenue

6,167.8

3,426.6

2,770.8

Gross Profit

1,352.0

827.2

785.9

Shares in Earnings of Associates

1,077.3

1,070.0

978.5

Income from Operations

1,390.7

1,186.5

1,163.0

Book Value per share (Php)

30%

51%

Other Income/(Loss)

100%

-5.3

16.9

16.9

Income before Income Tax

1,385.4

1,203.4

1,182.6

Consolidated Net Income

1,194.0

1,086.1

1,066.2

EBITDA (Php millions)

1,730.9

1,455.9

780.8

0.71

0.66

0.64

Cash Balance at the Beginning of the year

675.2

913.2

559.7

Cash Flows from (used in) Operating Activities

-105.0

102.7

237.7

Cash Flows from (used in) Investing Activities

534.3

-424.0

-202.8

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

120.8

82.3

321.4

EPS

67%

Cash Flows Statement Highlights (Php Millions)

Naic Water Supply Corporation
(NAWASCOR)

100%

SNV Resources Development Corporation
(SNVRDC)

100%

Effect of Exchange Rate

-5.7

1.0

-2.7

1,219.6

675.2

913.2

Current Ratio (X)

1.25

1.37

1.22

Return on Equity

17%

19%

19%

Debt-equity Ratio

27%

20%

13%

Revenue Growth

80%

24%

26%

EBITDA Margin

28%

42%

28%

Cash Balance at the End of year
Financial Ratios

60%

Price/Earnings Ratio (X)

MacroAsia Corporation 2019 Annual Report

2017

Current Assets

Net Margin

6

2018

Income Statement Highlights (Php Millions)

MacroAsia Properties Development
Corporation (MAPDC)

Summa Water Resources, Inc.
(SWRI)

5%

2019

40%

MacroAsia Airport Services Corporation
(MASCORP)

Boracay Tubi System, Inc.
(BTSI)

14,605.2

Financial Highlights

67%

Cebu Pacific Catering Services, Inc.
(CPCS)

First Aviation Academy, Inc.
(FAA)

Movement

Balance Sheet Highlights (Php Millions)

MacroAsia SATS Food Industries
Corporation (MSFI)

Japan Airport Service Co., Ltd.
(JASCO)

Net Income
(Php Millions)

Movement

19%

32%

38%

23.24

25.76

27.47
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Chairman’s Message

Dear Fellow Stakeholders,
We started 2019 positively, but we
ended the year on a challenging
note. We foresee the challenge of
Covid-19 not only in the travel and
hospitality sector, but in all other
segments of society. While doing
business in the coming year will
be difficult, it is also a time that will
bring opportunities for growth and
change. MacroAsia Corporation, like
all of us, will strive to be dynamic and
healthy.
When we started MacroAsia as an
aviation services provider about 23
years ago, it was a shell company,
with no reputation in the industry,
solid human capital base and
track record. As we ended 2019,
MacroAsia has become a reputable
name and preferred provider in
aviation services, not only in the
Philippines, with a workforce that is
recognized and awarded by clients
for service excellence and reliability.
Moreover, our company is primed for
continuing and sustainable growth,
even beyond aviation services.
We are now a company that has
grown stronger and bigger as a
leading provider of aviation support
services that can compete globally,
whether it be in airline catering,
groundhandling or the more

competitive aircraft maintenance,
repair and overhaul (MRO).
Through our adaptive and resilient
human resources, MacroAsia has
continued to expand its business
segments. We have proven that with
our new investments, we are not
afraid of change, as we set ourselves
for sustainable growth.
Our teams have been working
passionately to ensure and deliver
growing and fair returns to our
investors,
notwithstanding
the
difficulties in our operations amidst
expansion in our business segments.
The enduring creative spirit of our
teams has consistently enabled
us to prevail through the various
challenges.
I then take this opportunity to
express my gratitude to our teams,
and to you, fellow stakeholders of
MacroAsia, for your unwavering
support and confidence. Your trust
has kept our sight focused on further
growth in the years ahead.
Sincerely yours,

Dr. Lucio C. Tan
Chairman

“Our teams have been working passionately to ensure and deliver
growing and fair returns to our investors, notwithstanding the
difficulties in our operations amidst expansion in our business
segments.”
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President’s and COO Message

Looking back to 2019, our net income
of Php1.19 billion is 10% better than
our 2018 performance. Within the
context of our long-term business
plan set in 2015, we targeted a
compounded annual growth rate
of 20%, but our actual 5-year
performance reflects a rate of 37%.
In that long-term plan, we then
envisioned ourselves to grow our
core aviation services businesses
geographically, while establishing
new revenue streams outside
of aviation services to serve as
cash generation buffer in times of
critical aviation incidents like SARS,
911 and the like. Thus, we started
our commercial water concessions
business in 2016, while growing our
ground handling foothold in other
airports outside of Manila, Clark
and Cebu.
I am pleased to report that 2019
saw our Group achieve milestones
that expanded our revenue pipeline
as follows:
1. Through MacroAsia SATS
Food Industries, we opened
a food commissary that
we constructed in our
own MacroAsia property
in
Muntinlupa
City.

2. In March 2019, through
MacroAsia
SATS
Inflight
Services, we took over the
inflight kitchen of Philippine
Airlines to service fully
the catering requirements
of PAL in its Manila base.
This new account more than
doubled our daily airline meal
output in Manila.
3. At the same time, MacroAsia
Airport
Services
finally
provided fully the ground
handling requirements of PAL
and PAL Express not only in
Manila, but in all other airports
in the Philippines.
4. In May 2019,
First
Aviation

Php1.19B

37%

25,000

20%

10% better than our 2018
performance.

Within the context of our long-term
business plan set in 2015

Production capacity of new
commissary in Muntinlupa City

Envisioned from Lufthansa Technik
Philippines’ USD40M new hangar

NET INCOME

10

This spacious food production
facility can produce more
than 25,000 meals daily,
to augment the capacity of
our flight kitchens inside
the airport. It is intended to
produce food products mainly
for the non-airline market,
as we see a huge potential in
doing institutional food sales
and toll manufacturing for
others.

MacroAsia Corporation 2019 Annual Report

ACTUAL 5-YEAR PERFORMANCE
GROWTH RATE

MEALS DAILY

our JV,
Academy,

ADDITIONAL BASE
MAINTENANCE CAPACITY
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President’s and COO Message

started its first batch of pilot
trainees in Subic International
Airport. FAA has a training
facility, equipped with a fleet
of
brand-new
TECNAM
planes with full glass cockpit
electronic
instrumentation
and the REDBIRD MCX
and TD2 G-1000 simulators.
Three training classes for
pilots were in full session as
we ended 2019.
5. In November 2019, Lufthansa
Technik Philippines (LTP) broke
ground for the construction
of a USD40M new hangar,
which was targeted for
operational use in the last
quarter of 2020, but is now
moved to 2021. The hangar is
envisioned to increase LTP’s
base maintenance capacity
by 20%. This hangar will be
multipurpose, accommodating
both narrow and wide-bodied
aircraft.
6. In December 2019, MacroAsia
and Konoike Transport Co. Ltd,
a listed company in Japan,
agreed to have a partnership

in ground handling. MacroAsia
acquired a 30% stake in
Japan Airport Service Co. Ltd.
(“JASCO”)
through
NKS
Holding Co. Ltd., the Tokyo
based subsidiary of Konoike
Transport
and
Parent
Company to JASCO, while a
20% stake of MacroAsia’s
groundhandling
handling
subsidiary,
MacroAsia
Airport Services Corporation
(“MASCORP” was acquired
by Konoike Transport.
With our investment in
JASCO, MacroAsia is now
present in Japan as an equity
partner in a ground handling
company. Through our JV in
Manila, skilled Filipino airport
workers will be trained and
deployed in Japan to help
expand the business to other
areas.
7. By
December
2019,
MacroAsia
already
has
5 operating subsidiaries in its
water business segment, with
locations in Nueva Vizcaya,
Boracay Island, Bulacan,

While operational developments
in 2019 were encouraging, one big
loss in 2019 is MacroAsia founder,
Director and Treasurer Lucio K.
Tan, Jr., who died on November
11, 2019 at a young of age
of 53. Bong as we fondly called him,
was the visionary behind the
acquisition of MacroAsia and
its subsequent transition into
aviation services. We owe Bong,
together with the then long-serving
Chairman, Washington Sycip who
was with MAC from its start in
1996 until 2017, the initial
groundwork and masterplan for

30%

5

while a 20% stake of MacroAsia’s
groundhandling handling subsidiary,
MacroAsia Airport Services Corporation
(“MASCORP”) was acquired by Konoike
Transport.

Its last acquisition, Summa Water
Resources, Inc., started building the 10-MLD
Maragondon Water Treatment Plant in the
3rd quarter of 2019.

ACQUIRED STAKE IN JAPAN
AIRPORT SERVICE. CO. LTD.

12

Albay and Iloilo. Our last
acquisition, Summa Water
Resources,
Inc.,
started
building
the
10-MLD
Maragondon Water Treatment
Plant in the 3rd quarter of 2019.
This plant will be operational
by third quarter of 2020. We
have also started building a
wastewater treatment plant
in General Trias, Cavite to
service the requirements
of
several
towns
in
Cavite. This plant will also
be operational in 2020.

MacroAsia Corporation 2019 Annual Report

OPERATING SUBSIDIARIES IN
MACROASIA WATER BUSINESS

MAC’s aviation services business
model. Their legacies thrive,
and are now enshrined in the
performance culture of the various
MAC companies.
Outlook:
When we started 2020, the engines
for revenue and net income growth
have been primed, and we updated
our long-term business plan to
focus on:
yy Building synergies within the
Group to optimize costs and
resource deployment;
yy Operational
Improvements
growth in 2019;

Efficiency
after
big

yy New Business Pursuits to
further expand the revenue
stream; and
yy Growth in Stakeholder Values.
With guarded optimism, we saw the
January travel figures remain high,
positively benefiting our various
business
units.
But
then,
the travel industry took a severe

hit, worst than 911 and SARS,
beyond
our
imagination
and
prognosis, as COVID-19 took
center stage.
As aviation services ground to a halt
by mid-March, we had to focus
on cost-containment and cash
conservation strategies. With the
strong financial standing of the
subsidiaries
and
associates,
our aviation-related companies have
been coping with the challenges.
However, the constricted revenue
pipeline will drive operating losses
for our group in 2020, the first time
in so many years. The extent of
our operating losses remain fluid
as of now, as the re-opening of
airports in the country and outside
are
influenced
by
changing
pandemic-related regulations of
health authorities and LGUs.
We believe though that while
aviation has been impacted severely,
travel is bound to resume at some
point in the future. Hence, we are
still keeping our bid for the Sangley
Airport Project development alive,
hoping that in due time, we can
make MacroAsia an airport operator

in a premier base airport that it can
truly call its home in the future.
In the meantime, our water
companies are growing and doing
well in this period of quarantine.
Together with our non-airline food
business, these segments will
provide avenues for growth in a
challenging operating environment.
We see a lot of tough work ahead
of us, but we believe that our teams
will measure up to the challenges.
With the support of our shareholders,
we will come through this period
to become a stronger and resilient
MacroAsia family. On behalf of our
teams, I thank our shareholders and
the investing public for their trust and
confidence, inspiring us to do our
best always.

Joseph T. Chua
President and COO

“We owe Bong, together with the then long-serving Chairman,
Washington Sycip who was with MAC from its start in 1996
until 2017, the initial groundwork and masterplan for MAC’s
aviation services business model. Their legacies thrive, and
are now enshrined in the performance culture of the various
MAC companies.”
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Lufthansa Technik Philippines, Inc. (LTP)

Founded in the year 2000 as a joint venture of
Lufthansa Technik AG and Philippine aviation
services
provider
MacroAsia
Corporation,
Lufthansa
Technik
Philippines,
Inc.
(LTP)
offers a wide range of aircraft maintenance, repair and
overhaul (MRO) services to customers worldwide.
As one of the 30 affiliates and subsidiaries within
the Lufthansa Technik network, the company is
committed to ensuring that every aircraft that comes
out of its hangars reflects the world-renowned
Lufthansa Technik standard of quality, safety
and reliability.
LTP specializes in base maintenance checks for
the A320 family, A330, A340, A380 and B777
aircraft types, including major modifications, cabin
reconfiguration/retrofit programs, and lease return
checks. It is equipped with scalable docking systems,
which can accommodate different aircraft types.

Its facility can fit two A380s comfortably for simultaneous
base maintenance checks.
Lufthansa Technik Philippines’ maintenance base is located
within a free-trade zone at the country’s main international
gateway, the Ninoy Aquino International Airport (NAIA).
It also has maintenance stations in Cebu, Clark,
Davao, Kalibo, and Puerto Princesa. The Philippines is
strategically located in Southeast Asia – main Asian hubs
such as Hong Kong and Singapore are within a 4-hour
flight radius.
The Manila facility occupies a total area of 229,000 square
meters. It maintains three (3) hangars capable of servicing
six (6) wide-body and three (3) narrow-body aircraft
at a time, and nine (9) apron parking slots. Its hangars
are equipped with platform systems, overhead
cranes, and engine, tail, and wing docks. Modern and
process-oriented workshops support aircraft overhaul,

making sure that every passenger
gets home safely and medical needs
arrive at their destinations.

229,000 3,300
SQUARE METERS

HEADCOUNT

Can maintain three (3) hangars capable
of servicing six (6) wide-body and three (3
narrow-body aircraft at a time, and nine
(9) apron parking slots. Its hangars are
equipped with platform systems, overhead
cranes, and engine, tail, and wing docks.

A combination of highly skilled English
speaking mechanics, engineers and support
personnel

major
modifications,
cabin
reconfiguration, and aircraft painting.
The Civil Aviation Authority of the
Philippines, United States-FAA,
the European Union EASA, CASA
Australia, Japan CAB, Korea MOLIT
and other aviation authorities
worldwide have certified LTP as an
approved maintenance organization
for
aircraft
MRO
services.
Meanwhile, its technical services
group is certified to operate as a
Design Department under Lufthansa
Technik AG’s Design Organization
Approval (EASA.21J.019).
Acquiring and retaining the right and
qualified talents are key to success
for LTP. The company’s growth

14
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is supported by a 3,300-strong
headcount – a combination of highly
skilled English-speaking mechanics,
engineers and support personnel.
It partners with Lufthansa Technical
Training Philippines, an EASA
147-approved Maintenance Training
Organization, to assure that its people
are equipped with world-class skills.
Personnel transfers within the
Lufthansa Technik network and LTP
are a regular occurrence, assuring
that the right skills are effectively
and regularly transferred to the
local workforce.
Resiliency: Key towards further
growth of the company
The declaration of a Global Pandemic
has posed threats to the Aviation
Industry. Local and international
Airlines have significantly cut
down their flights while   some have
temporarily halted
operations.
It is projected that the effects of
COVID-19 will last for at least a year.
The company has been supporting
Philippine Airlines all throughout
the quarantine period with their
repatriation and cargo flights –

The challenge that the industry is
facing does not change the vision
of the company – to be the MRO
provider of first choice in Asia as
part of the LHT production network.
To achieve this, the company has
adapted different measures to
counter the negative effects brought
by COVID-19. It has started different
financial strategies for cost reduction
and optimization. The work doesn’t
stop and the goal is to partner with
the customers to make sure that
the maintenance programs fit their
needs and cost.
In the long term, the company is
looking to finish the construction of
Hangar 1A as part of its expansion
project. The expansion is aiming to
support business growth both in
volume and in product portfolio.
The outlook is still optimistic.
The MRO business will, in the long
term, continue to realize this growth
potential, driven by a demand for
competitively-priced, reliable labor,
and the growth of air traffic in Asia.
Most definitely, Lufthansa Technik
Philippines will be at the forefront of
achieving this growth potential.
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First Aviation Academy, Inc. (FAA)

First Aviation Academy, Inc. (FAA) was incorporated in
the Philippines on December 5, 2017, with the primary
purpose to establish, administer, and operate an aviationrelated training and skills assessment center that offers
various aviation related courses to airline and non-airline
employees and individuals.
FAA is a joint venture school which is 51% owned by
MacroAsia Corporation (MAC) and 49% owned by
PTC Holdings, Inc. (PTCH).
On March 21, 2019, FAA inaugurated its operating facility
at the Subic Bay International Airport and started its
commercial operations on May 19, 2019, taking in its first
batch of cadet trainees. Initially, it conducted ab initio
pilot training, certification and career development courses

in the field of aviation. Through its intensive 12-month
training program, graduates from the academy will have
completed a Private Pilot License (PPL), Instrument
Rating (IR), Multi-Engine Rating (MER) and a Commercial
Pilot License (CPL).
Top graduates will have a chance to become a Flight
Instructor, providing a unique way to build up their flying
hours, while honing their instructor skills. Two main
features that set FAA apart from other aviation schools
in the country are its fleet of brand-new TECNAM planes
with full glass cockpit electronic instrumentation and the
Redbird MCX and TD2 G-1000 simulators. Such a training
platform will enable students to develop the skillsets
necessary to excel in the international aviation space.

Php50.4M

2020 Outlook
In 2020, FAA foresees further
growth in revenues, with a
prospective number of foreign
nationals wanting to be part of its
succeeding batches. A projected
increase of from 3 to 4 batches will
drive growth in its revenues.

2019 REVENUE
Coming from the Air Transport Pilot
Training (ATPT) Program for three (3)
batches of students, consisting of
thirty-three (33) cadet trainees

FAA takes pride in being at the
forefront of professional development
for the airline industry, propelled
by a comprehensive curriculum,
experienced
instructors
and
state-of-the-art
equipment
and
facilities to produce airline-ready
aviation professionals primed for
flight operations.
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2019 Performance
As of December 31, 2019, FAA
posted revenues of Php50.4 million.
It conducted Air Transport Pilot
Training (ATPT) Program for three
(3) batches of students, consisting
of thirty-three (33) cadet trainees.
FAA continues to provide highly
focused ab-initio pilot training for
individuals that are preparing for
careers in flying commercial planes.
This program is designed primarily
for airlines globally.

Management continues to be
aggressive in its marketing strategy
by optimizing social media platforms
to increase sales and marketing
reach to key provinces around
the country. FAA will also establish
network of foreign and local agents
that will generate 30% of the
student intake.
Barring any event that will impact
on aviation travel, FAA is optimistic
that it will substantially increase
its revenue for the year 2020
and beyond.
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Japan Airport Service Co., Ltd. (JASCO)

Japan Airport Service Co., Ltd. (also known as JASCO in
Japan Aviation Industry) was founded on March 25, 1960
as an integrated ground handling company to provide safe
flight operation, as well as value-added quality services
marked by on-time performance to 28 carriers operating
out of Narita International Airport in Japan.
In 2017, JASCO joined the KONOIKE Group; a global
enterprise listed on the First Section of the Tokyo Stock
Exchange and has since immediately become one of the
strengths of KONOIKE Group’s Airport Division.

Tokyo-based subsidiary of Konoike Transport Co. Ltd on
December 6, 2019.
JASCO currently has six major functions including Flight
Operation Management, Baggage Handling & Special
Passenger Assistance Services, Cabin Cleaning, Loading/
Unloading & Aircraft Movement, Cargo & Mail Handling
and self-support GSE Maintenance. It is still organically

As a result of the MAC and KONOIKE Group partnership
which took place on November 5, 2019, MAC purchased
30% of JASCO through NKS Holding Co. Ltd., 100%

28

increasing due to new contract
procurement from Chinese airlines.

AIRLINES CONTRACTED IN 2019
excellence with quite a few awards
from our customer carriers.

JASCO started new contracts for four
Chinese airlines, and started a flexible
contractual reform that does not count to
heavily on a single carrier with big volume
in the second half of the year.

growing its capacity and capability to
the other fields of ground handling.
To fulfill the commitment for
safe flight operation with highquality services, JASCO tailors all
procedures based on the operational
requirements of respective customer
carriers and exercises “Point-andAssured” protocol at each and every
critical point of the process to ensure
full compliance. Such exercise has
earned JASCO a fame of service
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2019 Performance
In the first half of 2019, there were
shrinkage in air cargo volume and
cancelation of regular flights operated
by contract airlines. Nevertheless,
JASCO started new contracts for four
Chinese airlines, and started a flexible
contractual reform that does not bear
too heavily on a single carrier with big
volume in the second half of the year.
The number of airlines contracted
has increased to 28 in 2019.
With respect to profitability, JASCO
aims to secure target operational
profit, which focuses on cost
management by accelerating intersectional collaboration to maximize
efficiency and productivity. On the
other hand, work volume has been

2020 Outlook
The unprecedented spread of
Coronavirus COVID-19 has created
a catastrophic impact to the
entire aviation industry; JASCO
is no exception. Along with the
postponement of 2020 Tokyo Olympic
and Paralympic, the inbound traffic
has tremendously decreased and the
future outlook is full of uncertainties.
During the term, JASCO strived to
keep close relationship with customer
carriers, while enhancing training
programs to upgrade the skills in
preparation for flight resumption,
as it continued exploring all possible
business opportunities in order to
ride through these rough waves.
Fiscal year 2020 is obviously
full of all kinds of challenges,
which surely demand for company
and stakeholders to be innovative
and
flexible,
with
a
strong
determination to fulfill our mission.
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MacroAsia Catering Services, Inc. (MACS)

MacroAsia Catering Services, Inc. (MACS) operates
an inflight catering kitchen that is located on a twohectare lot at the Ninoy Aquino International Airport
(NAIA) complex. Incorporated in November 1996, MACS
was initially a partnership between three companies:
MAC – 67%, Singapore Airport Terminal Services
(SATS) – 20% and Compass Group International – 13%.
With MAC’s acquisition of Compass Group International’s
entire share in 2006, the former had its shareholdings
increased to 80%. For the purpose of further developing
the institutional catering business with SATS, MAC sold
in 2015, 13% of its shareholdings in MACS to SATS Ltd.,
thus changing the ownership structure in MACS to 67%
MAC and 33% SATS.
MACS has the recognition of being the only in-flight
caterer in the Philippines that is ISO-certified. It also holds
Hygiene and Food Safety, HACCP and HALAL certificates.

MACS serves 63% of the foreign airlines market in NAIA.
As a preferred caterer of foreign airlines, its key
clients consist of 18 major international airline
companies which include Air Niugini (PX), All Nippon
Airways (NH), Cathay Pacific (CX), China Airways (CI),
China Southern (CZ), China Eastern (MU), Etihad
Airways (EY), EVA Air (BR), Gulf Air (GF), Japan Airlines
(JL), Korean Air (KE), Emirates (EK), Qantas Airways (QF),
Qatar Airways (QR), Royal Brunei (BI), Saudia Airlines
(SV), Singapore Airlines (SQ) and Xiamen Airlines (MF).
Aside from these airlines, there are also charter flights
and VIP flights often serviced by the company. MACS is
likewise the preferred food provider for airline lounges.

2020 Outlook

MACS will continue to grow in line
with the expansion of the tourism
sector in the country. MSFI started
its operations on March 2019 and
has started to provide hot meals
and snacks for Cebu Pacific’s PreOrdered-Meal experience (POM).
It also supplies MACS and MSIS with
processed fruit and vegetable cuts to
be used in airline requirements and
lounges. Moving forward this 2020,
MACS and its subsidiaries have
several projects, both in-flight and
institutional catering, in the pipeline
which will bring more opportunities
for us to serve quality and safe food.

MACS has ventured into food provisioning and servicing
of non-airline or institutional accounts, which include
banks, hotels and casinos, as well as toll manufacturing
for some known caterers in Metro Manila. Because of

Php1.8B

Php1.7B

6.3M

2019 REVENUE

FROM AIRLINE ACCOUNTS

MEALS PRODUCED IN 2019

9% higher than the Php 1.7 billion in the
previous year.

10% growth or Php 141.4 million compared
to last year while revenue from Institutional
Accounts is higher by Php 15.2 million versus
last year.

8% higher than the previous year.

Corporation (MSIS) on March 16,
2019 which provides the inflight
catering requirements of Philippine
Airlines.

the significant growth in this market,
MACS incorporated its 100%-owned
subsidiary, MacroAsia SATS Food
Industries Corporation (MSFI) which
started operating in March 2019.
Also, part of the Food Services
segment expansion, MACS operated
its
100%-owned
subsidiary,
MacroAsia SATS Inflight Services
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2019 Performance
MACS has reported revenues of
Php1.8 billion in 2019, 9% higher
than the Php1.7 billion in the previous
year. Net income for 2019 reached
Php154.1 million, an 11% decrease
from 2018 level. Airline accounts
reported a 10% growth or Php141.4
million compared to last year while
revenue from Institutional Accounts
is higher by Php15.2 million versus
last year.

The unprecedented turnout of events
brought about by the COVID-19
pandemic caused devastation to the
aviation industry. MACS and MSIS,
being service providers of foreign
and local airlines, are deeply affected
by this downturn. MSFI, on the
other hand is aggressively pursuing
the domestic market and will soon
venture into the e-commerce industry.
Just like how the company handled
crises in the past, MACS, together with
its subsidiaries are positive that we will
rise above these challenging times.
With the support from SATS Ltd.,
the food services arm of the MacroAsia
group is committed to turn the current
challenge we face into an opportunity
to provide food solutions to our existing
and potential clients.
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MacroAsia SATS Food Industries Corporation (MSFI)

MacroAsia SATS Food Industries Corporation (MSFI) is
a fully-owned subsidiary of MacroAsia Catering Services
(MACS), which is the first fully functional and leading inflight catering facility inside the premises of the Ninoy
Aquino International Airport (NAIA) in Manila, Philippines.
MACS was incorporated on October 18, 1996 and
started its commercial operations on August 9, 1998,
after two years of continuous planning, preparation
and construction.
MSFI, on the other hand, was conceptualized in 2014
when a significant growth in non-aviation business was
experienced by MACS. However, capacity constraints

limited MACS’ ability to pursue non-aviation or institutional
catering opportunities, specifically in the business to
business (B2B) sector of the Food Manufacturing Industry.
Studies were conducted and it was found that there exists
sound fundamentals for the growth of institutional catering
to warrant building a separate facility outside the airport
compound to cater to institutional catering services.
Its strength as a business entity is founded on the solid
partnership of two (2) highly reputable and progressive
companies: MacroAsia Corporation (Philippines), and
SATS Ltd. (Singapore), backed up by the solid experience
and expertise in the field of airline catering of MACS.
The synergies derived from the formidable partnership

261,535
PRODUCED MEALS IN 2019
In addition, MSFI also has processed 39 tons of
fruits and vegetables.

22

MacroAsia Corporation 2019 Annual Report

and support of the shareholders is
the strength behind MACS and MSFI.
Today, spanning twenty years since
the start of its commercial operations,
MACS enjoys the rare distinction of
being the only airline caterer in the
Philippines to be HACCP Certified
(Cert.
No.
CIP/3486/04/08/379
issued on August 20, 2004) in
addition to holding an ISO 9001:2015
Certificate
from
Certification
International (Cert. No. CI/1955QUKAS 063) and HALAL certificate
from the National Commission on
Muslim Filipinos (Cert. Code OMAPHCRA 001).

which consistently gives its clients
worry-free operations, and service
at world-class standards.

Truly, MACS has lived up to its
solid distinction as the most
preferred airline caterer at NAIA,

In 2019, MSFI was able to produce
261,535 meals and processed 39 tons
of fruits and vegetables.

2019 Performance
Year 2019 has been the pilot year
for MSFI. The Company was launched
in March and initially provided
semi-processed raw materials to
its Parent Company. MSFI was able
to supply meals to third-party client
which focuses on quality in catering
to various events. Although a new
entrant, MSFI left an impact on the
industry for its state-of-the-art facility
and quality processes.

2020 Outlook
MSFI shall establish itself as a
one-stop shop and food bank thru
its state-of-the-art facility having
mass-production capability for all
forms of food retail from fast food
and cafes to full-service restaurants.
Quick-service
restaurants
and
special events in Luzon Island
shall be partnering with MSFI in
the development of new products
to cater to the ever-evolving
palette of the Filipino as well as
the international community in
the Philippines.
Living up to its name, MSFI will
continue to deliver optimum service
ensuring
its
customers
value
for money, quality, reliability and
convenience. It is our way of building
the trust and confidence of our
growing patronage, regardless of any
challenges that we may have to face
through changing times.
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MacroAsia SATS Inflight Services Corporation (MSIS)

MacroAsia SATS Inflight Services Corporation (MSIS),
a fully-owned subsidiary of MacroAsia Catering Services,
Inc. (MACS), was established on March 16, 2019. MSIS is
the inflight catering service provider for international and
domestic flights of the country’s air transportation flag
carrier, Philippine Airlines (PAL). Its catering facility is located
at PAL Inflight Center, Baltao, cor. MIAA Road, Pasay City.
MSIS has almost 800 employees (organic and non-organic
combined) producing an average of 21,000 meals per day,
the biggest meal volume produced daily in the Philippines.

Along with its Parent Company, MSIS aims to be the
best catering company in the Philippines and a
renowned in-flight catering corporation globally. Professional
experience, skillful staff, quality service, culinary excellence,
dedicated attention to customer needs define MSIS’s
strengths, as it continues living up to its reputation being
an HACCP and Halal compliant and Service Excellence
Awardee. These guide us to our continued success in every
essence of our business.

97%

5.9M

Php1B

HALAL KITCHEN SERVICE
EXCELLENCE AWARD RATING

MEALS SERVED FOR PAL
PASSENGERS AND CREWS

CONTRIBUTED REVENUE

MSIS has special teams that manage
Japanese and Halal kitchen to cater to
PAL’s Japanese and Muslim passengers.

For nine and a half months of operation.

With a net income contribution amounting to
Php109.5 million to the Food Services segment
of MacroAsia Group for the year 2019.

upgrade menus within 48 hours from
notice of the requesting passenger.
MSIS is also looking to serve other
clients in the near future.

With the fast-growing air transportation
industry in the Philippines, MSIS aims
to be a vital factor in support our client,
PAL, in their quest of becoming a
5-star airline. MSIS has special teams
that manage Japanese and Halal
kitchen to cater to PAL’s Japanese and
Muslim passengers. The company’s
Halal kitchen was recently granted
a Service Excellence Award with
a 97% rating.
In addition, MSIS has the capability
of providing special meals and meal

24

MacroAsia Corporation 2019 Annual Report

The corporate culture of MSIS
inspires the creative thinking of all
our staff fueling the drive within us
and setting the stage for continuous
improvement. Our positive attitude
is the basic foundation for the
consistency and reliability of our
fast-developing company.
2019 Performance
For nine and a half months
of operation, MSIS has served
5.9 million meals to PAL passengers
and crew. The company has
contributed revenues of Php1 billion

and net income amounting to
Php109.5 million to the Food Services
segment of MacroAsia Group for the
year 2019.
2020 Outlook
With the outbreak of the pandemic,
COVID-19,
international
and
domestic flight cancellations had
greatly affected the operations
of Philippine Airlines. With great
optimism, MSIS will be able to
sustain and hurdle the challenges,
as the country transitions into the
new normal - soon.
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MacroAsia Airport Services Corporation (MASCORP)

MacroAsia Airport Services Corporation (MASCORP)
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of MacroAsia Corporation (MAC).
It started commercial operations on April 19, 1999 at the
Ninoy Aquino International Airport (NAIA). On June 15, 1999,
a joint venture agreement was signed between MAC
and Ogden Aviation Philippines B.V. (formerly Ogden
Water Systems of Muscat B.V.) holding 70% and 30%
ownership, respectively. In 2001, the 30% ownership of
Ogden Aviation Philippines B.V. was acquired by John
Menzies PLC, a subsidiary of the Menzies Group
of Edinburgh, Scotland.
On April 12, 2007, MAC purchased the 30% interest of
Menzies Aviation Group after the latter decided to divest
its investment in the Philippines as part of the strategy to
focus on major global ventures. On November 5, 2019,
Konoike Transport Co. Ltd. (Konoike), a leading service

contracting and logistics service provider in Japan
acquired 20% of the Company from the outstanding
issued shares to MAC. With this, MAC’s shareholdings in
the Company decreased to 80%.
MASCORP offers various airport and ground handling
services suited to the needs of its business partners.
Through the years, it has become a preferred and
reputable airport and ground handling service company
in the Philippines. MASCORP is the only ground handling
company present in three NAIA Terminals (I, II and III).
It has also established its presence in international
gateways in Visayas and Mindanao: Mactan Cebu
International Airport and Kalibo International Airport
(both in Visayas), and Davao International Airport and
General Santos International Airport (both in Mindanao).

95%

197,079

INCREASED REVENUES

FLIGHTS HANDLED IN 2019

MASCORP took over full ground handling and cargo operations for
Philippine Airlines and PALExpress at NAIA Terminals 2 and 3 as well
as Mactan Cebu International Airport. MASCORP has also started
its service partnership two major foreign Carriers, Qatar Airways and
United Airlines.

MASCORP increased flights handled by 63% higher than the
120,862 flights in 2018
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was put in place to address labor
cost issues as the decrease in
flights has resulted in a surplus
of manpower.

2019 Performance
In the first quarter of 2019,
MASCORP took over full ground
handling and cargo operations for
Philippine Airlines and PALExpress
at NAIA Terminals 2 and 3 as well as
Mactan Cebu International Airport.
MASCORP has also started its
service partnership two major foreign
Carriers, Qatar Airways and United
Airlines. All these additional activities
have increased the revenues by
95% from 2018. With MASCORP
dominating the local market, further
growth and expansion can only be
sustained by branching out to the
international scene. The year ended
on a high note for MAC as it finalized
its partnership with Konoike wherein
MAC acquired 30% stake in Japan
Airport Services Co. Ltd. (JASCO),
a subsidiary of Konoike, while Konoike
acquired 20% of MASCORP.

2020 Outlook
COVID-19
has
significantly
impacted the ground handling
industry. MASCORP has to adapt
to a new reality and come up with
solutions to continue to safeguard
the safety and well-being of our
employees and passengers.
For the implementation of our
Safety Programs due to COVID-19,
we have enforced controls in all
workplaces and areas of operations
aligned with government health
safety protocols. These includes
provision of the required personal
protective equipment to all our staff,
disinfection and sanitation protocols,
health
safety
briefings
and
dissemination of health safety
bulletins and memoranda.
With the reduction of flight activities
and service requirements brought
about by the COVID -19 pandemic,
MASCORP has made a conscious
effort to ensure that its costs are
managed. The recent retrenchment

As scheduled commercial flights
have greatly decreased, we have
secured a share in the repatriation
flight/chartered
flight
market
by
forging
partnerships
with
Fixed-Based
Operators.
These
non- scheduled flights have provided
a secondary source of income to
augment the revenues generated
from current client airlines. As most
of our current client airlines have
shifted their operations to more
cargo activities, we adapted to their
service requirements to ensure
that their business remains with us.
We also have been very aggressive
with our negotiations with potential
foreign airlines customers.
We are optimistic that as the situation
improves and travel restrictions
are lifted, we shall be prepared to
bounce back.
MASCORP has been closely
monitoring the pandemic since
the outbreak and the management
have been continuously adapting
and updating internal measures and
business continuity plans as the
situation evolves. While the decline in
traffic was certainly difficult. MASCORP
needs to continue to be flexible and
inventive in this challenging time and
those that may arise in the future.
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MacroAsia Properties Development Corporation (MAPDC)

MacroAsia Properties Development Corporation (MAPDC)
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of MacroAsia Corporation.
It started commercial operations as a real estate
developer in June 1996. After completion of its warehouse
condominium project in Muntinlupa in 1997, the Company
suspended its operation. Three years after, the Company
re-started its commercial operations, this time as a
developer and operator of the MacroAsia Special
Economic Zone, the only special economic zone at
Ninoy Aquino International Airport (NAIA). It houses
Lufthansa Technik Philippines, Inc. for a period of 25 years.

In 2018, 5 hectares out of the 7 hectares leased areas in
Mactan Cebu International Airport Authority was approved
and designated as a special ecozone for aviation-related
services, known as MacroAsia Cebu Special Ecozone.
The Company is also operating a waste water treatment
and a water recycling facility for non-domestic water
supply within the special economic zone in NAIA
since 2011. With experience gained from this project,
MAPDC has pursued water resources development
projects in areas outside Metro Manila – Boracay Island,
Nueva Vizcaya and Cavite.

2019 Performance
MAPDC’s total revenues decreased by
17% for the year, from Php52.3 million
to Php 43.4 million in 2019.
Also, operating costs increased as
a result of rapid expansion and the
burden of paying for the property
leases in Cebu which are not being
leased out yet to locators. Hence, the
company’s earnings remain in the
negative. The net loss of the subsidiary
however is expected to be reversed
in the near term as the subsidiaries
under MAPDC are expected to
generate profits from their respective
operations.
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2020 Outlook
MAPDC, the current holding company
of the three water operating companies
of MacroAsia Group, is working on
transferring these companies to Allied
Water Services, Inc., formerly Airport
Specialists’ Services Corporation.
This would establish MAPDC as pure
ecozone developer and operator.
MacroAsia Group is also planning
to develop MacroAsia Cebu Special
Ecozone to support the MRO and
ground handling operations in Cebu.
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Cebu Pacific Catering Services, Inc. (CPCS)

Cebu Pacific Catering Services, Inc. (CPCS), formerly MATS
Catering, is the first in-flight catering venture of MacroAsia
Corporation (MAC). It started commercial operations
in October 1996. Since then, CPCS is the only full-service
airline catering company that operates at the Mactan-Cebu
International Airport (MCIA). It is a partnership between
MAC (40%), Cathay Pacific Catering Services of Hong Kong
(40%), and MGO Pacific Resources Corporation (20%).
CPCS has a two-storey fully-equipped kitchen facility
designed to produce about 3,000 meals a day in
accordance with stringent international hygiene

standards. It occupies an area measuring 1,800 sqm.
and is situated in the Mactan Economic Zone,
Lapu-Lapu City, adjacent to MCIA in Mactan, Cebu.
The facility was designed and developed by Cathay Pacific
Catering Services of Hong Kong. Among its clients are:
Philippine Airlines (PAL), Cathay Pacific Airways Ltd., Korean
Air, Asiana Airlines, and Cebu Pacific Air.
The facility is currently pursuing an expansion program,
to meet the growing demand in Mactan, Cebu Airport,
as a new passenger terminal was opened there in the
second half of 2018.

2019 Performance
CPCS had a modest year in 2019, with
the company’s revenues going down
by 16%, from Php341.5 million in 2018
to Php285.5 million in 2019. In terms
of profit, CPCS net income declined by
16%, from Php118.9 million in 2018 to
Php99.6 million in 2019. The decline
mainly came from the decrease in the
numbers of meals due to lesser flight
movements in Cebu, particularly from
local clients like Philippine Airlines
(PAL), PALExpress and Pan Pacific.
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2020 Outlook
CPCS will continue to market itself
as the only inflight caterer in Cebu to
service new airline clients in Mactan,
Cebu. With the increasing number
of flights in and out of MCIA and
possible entry of new airlines, CPCS
foresees that earnings from foreign
airlines will grow. With the anticipated
resumption of PAL flights from Cebu
to Los Angeles and Qatar Airways
flights from Cebu to Doha, and the
commencement of Starlux Airlines
flight from Cebu to Taipei, CPCS
revenues will grow by as much as
20%. With the expansion of the airport,
CPCS is optimistic that it will benefit
from growth in passenger traffic.  
These projections though may
be impacted by the extent of the
spread of Covid-19 virus, similar to
how SARS affected the travel
industry previously.
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SNV Resources Development Corporation (SNVRDC)

SNV Resources Development Corporation (SNVRDC) is a
100% subsidiary of MacroAsia Properties Development
Corporation (MAPDC) established to operate a complete
water works system in Solano, Nueva Vizcaya.
Solano is a first class municipality in the province of
Nueva Vizcaya, Philippines and the central business
center in Nueva Vizcaya. This town, with a land area of
10,297 hectares, is politically subdivided into 22 barangays,
and has a total population of 59,517, distributed in 11,205
households (NSO, 2015).
MAPDC acquired a franchise from the LGU of Solano
in 2013 by way of entering into a Memorandum of
Agreement to design, construct, and commission and
maintain a new and complete waterworks system in the

whole town of Solano, Nueva Vizcaya. This project which
was funded by MAPDC and MacroAsia Corporation,
without any external debt incurred from banks,
was completed in 2015 assigning SNVRDC to operate
the waterworks system. In 2015, the National Water
Resources Board (NWRB) granted a Certificate of
Public Convenience (CPC) to SNVRDC, which is similar
to a franchise within the concession area.
The water source for Solano is surface water from
the Magat River. The Solano Water Treatment Plant is
capable of treating 10 million liters of water daily when
this was completed in October 2015. It features a modern
compact and modular design four-process conventional
water treatment of flocculation, clarification, filtration,
and chlorination. The potable water is piped four kilometers
into a network of pipelines in the town proper.

731,272

Php18.2M

CUBIC METERS SOLD

2019 REVENUE

20% higher than in 2018

15% increase in revenues from
Php15.8 million in 2018

The board approved water tariff
adjustment in three phases starting
November 2019 with the full impact
in July 2020. This will surely help
boost cash flows and more extension
projects to cover the outer barangays
of Solano gradually.
By end of 2019, the center of Solano
(4 kilometers away from the water
treatment plant), comprised of
8 barangays (out of 22) already has
pipes that maintain minimum water
pressure of 16PSI. Most of the
commercial establishments located
at the business center are connected
to the pipeline system which includes
Savemore, Jollibee, KFC, Mang Inasal
and McDonald’s to mention a few.
Top customers include Salubris
Medical Center, Saint Louis Beltran
School, Jollibee, Balai Gloria Hotel and
Restaurant and LGU Municipal Hall.
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2019 Performance
As the customer portfolio continues
to expand, SNVRDC sold 731,272
cubic meters in 2019 which is 20%
higher than in 2018. This resulted to
a 15% increase in revenues in 2019,
from Php15.8 million in 2018 to
Php18.2 million in 2019, and a 12%
decrease in net loss.
2020 Outlook
SNVRDC plans to achieve more
connections from zero customer
account when it started operations
in March 2016 to 4,500 by 2020

through its pipe extension projects
for its distribution pipelines, as it
has yet to service a number of areas
within the 6 center barangays where
its major pipelines are located. This
extension projects will substantially
be completed by mid of 2020, thus
increasing further SNVRDC’s footprint
for more accounts under its portfolio.
The Company aims to strengthen
its advocacy of promoting water
conservation and the importance
of clean water through its Clean
Water Awareness Campaign starting
with orientations at schools and
barangays, offering site visits at the
Water Treatment Plant and immersion
programs for students from different
schools in Solano, Nueva Vizcaya.
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Boracay Tubi System, Inc. (BTSI)

In December 2016, MacroAsia Properties Development
Corporation (MAPDC), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
MacroAsia Corporation, purchased 67% shares of stock
held by the former individual shareholders of Boracay Tubi
System, Inc. (BTSI). In September 2019, BTSI celebrated
twenty (20) years of providing affordable and reliable supply
of water to the island of Boracay. It holds three (3) water
rights and has a Certificate of Public Convenience (CPC)
from the National Water Resources Board (NWRB). BTSI is
currently serving about 40% of water demand in the island
of Boracay.
As part of the acquisition, BTSI also has 80% ownership
in Monad Water Sewerage Systems, Inc. (MONAD),
a water and waste water service provider exclusively
serving Fairways and Bluewater in Barangay Yapak, Boracay

Island, and 100% ownership in New Earth Water System,
Inc. (NEWS), a company that has secured water rights and
Certificates of Public Convenience in Visayas and Mindanao.
With the support of MacroAsia Corporation, BTSI has
undergone extensive expansion during the last three
(3) years. In 2019, the Company energized a new Water
Treatment Plant with a capacity of 10 million liters per day.
The total wastewater treatment capacity is now at
6.7 million liters per day which is spread over almost
70 different Sewage Treatment Plants (STPs) in Boracay.
The STPs are all compliant with the latest DENR 2016-08
Effluent Standards, making BTSI the first in the island and
one of the first in the whole Philippines to adopt the more
stringent standards.

Php21.2M

2.7M

2019 NET INCOME

CUBIC METERS SOLD

While revenue increased by 9%,
from Php226.1 million in 2018 to
Php246.9 million.

60% higher than 1.7 million
cubic meters sold in 2018.

Recovering from the 6-month closure
of Boracay Island in 2018, BTSI sold
2.7 million cubic meters in 2019,
60% higher than 1.7 million cubic
meters sold in 2018.

In line with the rehabilitation of Boracay
and advocating the sustainability of
the island, BTSI in cooperation with
the Lucio Tan Group of Companies,
has adopted Wetland No. 6 of
Boracay Island, its biggest and most
important wetland. Aside from cleaning
and clearing activities, the Group
planted mangroves and constructed
a 500-m boardwalk as part of its
eco-tourism initiative.
BTSI is committed to provide
affordable water and wastewater
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services nationwide using sustainable
and environmentally-sound practices
compliant to existing laws and
regulations. The Company envisions
to pioneer a zero-waste program for
water and wastewater.
2019 Performance
BTSI started to boost their income
from the construction of STPs made
in 2018. Net income of BTSI in 2019
rose to Php 21.2 million while revenue
increased by 9%, from Php226.1
million in 2018 to Php 246.9 million.

2020 Outlook
BTSI is continuously undergoing
expansion of its current facilities
for potable water and wastewater
treatment. There is also a new water
source being developed in the
mainland to enable the Company
to cater to more clients and service
the flourishing tourism industry in
the island.
In 2020, one of the key areas that BTSI
will focus on is the optimization of its
operations. The Company has also
started on development activities for
its other franchises where it will bring
its expertise in providing affordable
and reliable service to the communities
it serves.
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Naic Water Supply Corporation (NAWASCOR)

When MacroAsia Properties Development Corporation
(MAPDC) purchased 100% shares of Naic Water Supply
Corporation (NAWASCOR) on August 1, 2017, it began to
develop larger projects to improve water services being
provided to the concessionaires.
From 48,354 kilometers of pipeline and ten (10) pumping
stations, NAWASCOR now has approximately 67,711
kilometers of pipelines and fourteen (14) pumping stations
within the Municipality of Naic, Cavite. Along with this,
it is planning to build another four (4) pumping stations
in 2020. Its goal is to aid in providing quality of service
to its consumers.

Php37.5M
2019 REVENUE
Expansion projects and acquisition of new
subdivisions increased the revenue by 43%,
from Php26.1 million in 2018

1.9M
CUBIC METERS SOLD
22% higher than 1.6 million cubic
meters sold in 2018

NAWASCOR has 15,698 water
connections as of date. It is currently
serving four (4) subdivisions in
Naic and planning to serve more
subdivisions in other areas of Cavite.
With the unending support from
MacroAsia Corporation, NAWASCOR
will continue to grow and contribute to
the success of the Group.
2019 Performance
Expansion projects and acquisition
of new subdivisions increased the
revenue by 43%, from Php26.1 million
in 2018 to Php37.5 million in 2019.
Net Income in 2019 was posted
at Php3.7 million increasing by
198% compared to 2018. Persistent
development contributed to the
success of water business of
MacroAsia Corporation.
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The Company sold 1.9 million cubic
meters in 2019, 22% higher than
1.6 million cubic meters sold in 2018.
2020 Outlook
NAWASCOR keeps on growing
through construction of additional
water sources and pipelines in Naic.
By conveying great quality of services
to the concessionaires, NAWASCOR
expects a substantial increase in the
number of water connections and
consumptions in 2020. Currently,
it already procured four (4) subdivisions
in Naic and plans to serve more
subdivisions in nearby municipalities
like Tanza, Cavite.
With its development undertaking and
growing client portfolio, revenue of
NAWASCOR in 2020 is expected to
improve by 50% from 2019.
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Summa Water Resources, Inc. (SWRI)

Summa Water Resources, Inc. (SWRI) is an Original
Equipment Manufacturer (OEM) supplying a full line of
standard and fully customizable water and wastewater
treatment systems using new and emerging technologies.
On October 1, 2018, Airport Specialists’ Services
Corporation (ASSC), a wholly owned subsidiary of
MacroAsia Corporation, purchased 60% shares of stock
held by the former individual shareholders of SWRI.
ASSC was then renamed to Allied Water Services Inc.

The Maragondon Bulk Water Supply Project in Cavite,
which contracted SWRI for water treatment equipment
supply, will be operational by second quarter of 2020.

With
the
support
of
MacroAsia
Corporation,
SWRI is undertaking a massive business expansion and
is progressively building a remarkable reputation in the
water industry market. SWRI has supplied water treatment
equipment and bulk water to private and government
entities in several locations in the Philippines – Balesin,
Mactan, Iloilo, Albay, Bulacan, and Cavite to name a few.

In September 2018, SWRI and Citicore Power, Inc.
formed a joint venture company named Citicore Summa
Water Corporation (CS Water) of which the former holds
40% ownership. The joint venture was established to
develop raw water sources and supply treated bulk water
for its customers. In June 2019, CS Water signed a Joint
Venture Agreement for the financing, development,
rehabilitation, expansion, improvement, operation and
maintenance of the water supply and septage management
of Janiuay Water District in Iloilo. In the same month,
CS Water signed a Bulk Water Supply Contract with the
City of Lapu-Lapu in Cebu for a 60 MLD Desalination Plant,
the first large-scale desalination plant in the Philippines.

2.2M

50MLD

283% higher than 0.5 million cubic meters sold
in the last quarter of 2018.

From the current cumulative
capacity of 75 MLD

CUBIC METERS SOLD IN 2019

EXPANSION PLAN IN BULK
WATER SUPPLY

The Company contributed Php86.8
million revenues to the water business
of MacroAsia Group.

2019 Performance
SWRI has sold a total of 2.2 million
cubic meters in 2019 which is 283%
higher than 0.5 million cubic meters
sold in the last quarter of 2018.
Currently, SWRI is in investing phase
since it was contracted for the water
treatment equipment supply for the
water project in Maragondon, Cavite.
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2020 Outlook
Water, as a vital resource, must be
protected and preserved for future
generations. As part of SWRI’s
commitment
to
environmental
sustainability, it aims to expand its
business in wastewater treatment.
SWRI plans to achieve this through
sales and lease of affordable but
efficient
Compact
Wastewater
Treatment Systems all over the
Philippines. SWRI also targets to
substantially grow its business in
bulk water and will further improve
the operational efficiency of its

existing water treatment plants.
From the current cumulative capacity
of 75 MLD (operational and under
development), it plans to expand by
at least 50 MLD in bulk water supply.
Aside from expanding its business,
SWRI
plans
to
continue
its
commitment to helping different
communities through its CSR
initiatives, each one programmed
on the same principle that all
actions matter whether small or big.
As SWRI steps into 2020, all its actions
are guided by its core values and
principles which it believes will be
beneficial to both the Company and
the communities it helps.
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MacroAsia Air Taxi
Services, Inc. (MAATS)

MacroAsia Mining
Corporation (MMC)

MacroAsia Air Taxi Services, Inc. (MAATS) is a whollyowned subsidiary of MacroAsia Corporation (MAC).
It started commercial operations in October 1996 as
a licensed non-scheduled domestic flight operator that
caters air charter services to the diverse needs of its
various clients.

MacroAsia Corporation (MAC) traces its roots to Infanta
Mineral and Industrial Corporation (IMIC), which was
established for the purpose of engaging in geological
exploration, mine development, and mining operations.

During 2016, a tragic accident occured that saw MAATS
lose two of its crew and the helicopter during one flight
operation near General Nakar, Quezon. The chopper
was bound for General Nakar to pick up a team involved
in the concluded search, rescue and retrieval operations
for workers who got trapped in the Sumag River Tunnel
in General Nakar at the height of the river flooding on
August 13, 2016. While the risk was fully covered by
insurance, the loss of lives left an indelible mark in
the operational history of MAATS, such that to date, MAATS’
charter flight operation is still suspended.
Currently, MAATS operates mainly to support and
complement the Maintenance, Repairs, and Overhaul
(MRO) requirements of clients of Lufthansa Technik
Philippines, Inc., MAATS also offers Fixed-Based Operations
(FBO) services. FBO services deals with providing solutions
(non-maintenance and generally administrative/liaison
work), like securing all the necessary permits to allow a
smooth and trouble-free entry and exit of non-scheduled
flights to and from Manila.
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The Infanta Nickel Project is a nickel laterite mine operated
by Infanta Nickel and Industrial Corporation (IMIC) in the
late-70s, which saw three shipments of laterite ore exported
to Japan. Due to low metal prices and high smelting
costs, however, the operations were suspended in 1982.
Legal rights over the mineral property is granted by virtue
of a Mineral Production Sharing Agreement (MPSA)
with the government, covering an area of approximately
1,114 hectares in the municipality of Brooke’s Point,
Province of Palawan. The MPSA is a conversion of the
old mining leases of IMIC and thus, the Infanta Nickel
Project today is basically a re-opening of an old nickel
mine. The conversion of the mining lease agreements
to MPSA occurred in 2005, when the Department of
Environment and Natural Resources (DENR) issued the
Mineral Production Sharing Agreement (denominated as
MPSA 220-2005-IVB).
In line with the MPSA, MAC conducted a 7-phase
exploration program to re-assess the extent of mineralization
of the tenement. The results of these series of exploration
works are contained in a Report prepared and reviewed
by ‘Competent Persons’ in Geology in accordance
with the Philippine Mineral Reporting Code (PMRC)
that was approved and adopted by the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) and Philippine Stock
Exchange (PSE) for public reporting. PMRC is modeled
on the JORC Code (2004) of Australia and conforms to
global standards on reporting the results of exploration
and minerals resources and reserves.

MacroAsia
Mining
Corporation
(MMC), a subsidiary of MAC,
was activated in the second half of
2012 to serve as the corporate vehicle
for providing outsourced exploration
services to other mining companies.
Through the years, MAC mining staff
have gained expertise in exploring for
nickel prospects, and have available
equipment and drills and rigs for such
exploration activities. This experienced
manpower, including equipment,
were transferred to MMC which then
ventured into Exploration Services
contracts for third-party clients.
MMC services the client’s requirements
for all exploration stages needed for a
prospective nickel laterite property.

The first exploration service contract of
MMC is the exploration of the MPSA
area of VIL Mines, Inc., in Mt. Cadig,
spanning Quezon and Camarines
Norte provinces in 2013. Its second
project is the exploration and drilling
service with Pacific Nickel Philippines,
Inc. (PNPI) for their nickel exploration
project in Nonoc Island, Surigao City
which was signed in January 2014.
The project covers the entirety of the
4,549-hectare Nonoc Island with the
exclusion of the special economic
zone that covers in part the old nickel
processing plant complex and the
special land use zone comprising the
old housing facilities of the company in
the island. After the completion of the

project, another contract was signed
on February 2015 to cover the South
Dinagat Peninsula which is under
the jurisdiction of the Municipality of
Cagdianao, Province of Dinagat Island.
The submission of the PMRCcompliant technical reports for both
Nonoc Island Project and that of
South Dinagat Peninsula project in
March and May 2016, respectively,
marks the culmination of the contracts
under Clariden Holdings Inc. - PNPI.
To date several potential projects in
various nickel areas of several mining
companies in the Philippines are under
negotiation with MMC.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

MacroAsia Group is built on the collective dreams
and inspiration of its shareholders, officers, staff and
partners. The Group takes pride in pursuing growth as
a responsible corporate citizen, aiming for sustainable
development while caring for its employees and customers.
The Group consistently seeks to enrich the quality of life
for the communities in which it operates, while being a
good steward of available resources for the good of society
and the environment. Corporate social responsibility
is embedded in its mission and vision statements,
because MacroAsia Cares!
MacroAsia’s corporate social responsibility initiatives have
been diverse, from reforestation/tree planting, education,
bloodletting, outreach programs, as well as working closely
with government for the rehabilitation of certain areas like
Boracay Island.
MacroAsia Cares for Education
Over the years, MAC has supported and continues to
support the sponsorship of scholars. The program continues
to benefit the local government units (LGUs) and indigenous
people (IP) in the Province of Palawan. The program covers
the full tuition fee and monthly stipends of the deserving
students during the school term. MAC has also distributed
several thousand sets of school supplies to elementary
school students in different parts of the country.
In 2008, MacroAsia, through its subsidiary MacroAsia
Catering Services, Inc. (MACS) launched the Student
Tour Program. This program is in partnership with various
schools and universities, and it involves the officers and
selected employees of MACS to provide lecture sessions on
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food handling and safety standards to the student visitors,
including their teachers and other school administration
representatives. Here, the visitors can observe the actual
operations inside the facility to complete their appreciation of
the catering standards. To date, the program has benefitted
more than 30,643 students from all over the country.
The success of the Program can be seen from the advance
bookings/requests from various schools and universities.
This is also the perfect program to showcase the
world-class facilities and best practices of MACS.
Lufthansa Technik Philippines, Inc. (LTP), an affiliate
of MacroAsia, had undertaken various educationbased projects as part of its CSR initiatives including
construction
of
new
classrooms,
rehabilitation
and upgrading of school facilities and equipment.
LTP believes in the importance of ensuring that students
have the proper tools and support as they go through
their formative academic years. These projects span
across the Philippines, and are part of our commitment
to contribute to building a better educational support
for children and their mentors their teachers.
The CSR program started in 2007,
and to date, there are more than
60 beneficiaries who have already
received aid from Lufthansa Technik
Philippines. To further realize the CSR
goals of the Company, LTP hosted
a Fun Run for a Cause where more
than 700 employees participated. The
registration fees totaling more than
Php400,000 was turned over to chosen
beneficiaries such as  Upper Tambler
Elementary School in General Santos
City, Locsoon Elementary School in
Misamis Occidental, and Signal Village
National High School in Taguig City.
MacroAsia Corporation, MacroAsia
Catering Services, Inc., Asia Brewery
Corporation, Summit Drinking Water,
Lufthansa Technik Philippines, Inc.,
and Run Mania together with other
sponsors, helped make the event
a success.

MacroAsia Cares for the
Environment
The MacroAsia Group through its
subsidiaries has contributed a lot
for the care of the environment.
MacroAsia believes that Planting of
Trees is one of the most basic and
sustainable Pro-Environment acts.
It embraces the beauty of nature,
helps
clean
the
environment
and benefits future generations.
Over the years, MacroAsia Group
contributed more than 52,880
planted trees and seedlings donated.
Seedlings are distributed by donating
to planting partners comprised of
the local government units and
schools in Palawan, Nueva Vizcaya,
Boracay Island and Cavite. For the
sustainability of this tree planting
and seedlings donation program,
MacroaAsia maintains a seedling
nursery in Palawan.
Our
subsidiary
in
Solano,
Nueva Vizcaya, SNV Resources
Development Corporation (SNVRDC),
also
administers
tree-planting
activities to help protect the watershed
of the Magat River, which is the source
of drinking water for the town.
Naic Water Supply Corporation
(NAWASCOR), our water subsidiary
in Naic, Cavite also conducted a treeplanting activity at Labac River System
along with Christian Mission Service
Child Caring Institution.

Another subsidiary, Boracay Tubi
System, Inc. (BTSI) is a true advocate
for the environment, especially for the
world-class Island Paradise we call
Boracay Island wherein they organized
tree-planting activities in Wetland No.
6 and Mt. Luho.
MacroaAsia Shares
Over
the
last
6
years,
MACS has consistently supported
its partnership with the Philippine
National Red Cross (PNRC) in
its
Blood
Donation
Program.
This program helps raise awareness
and help boost blood supplies for
the PNRC. To date, the company has
contributed over 236,800cc to the
PNRC blood bank. Donating blood is
one of the self-less acts one can give
and truly saves lives, a real lifeline in an
emergency.
Likewise, other subsidiaries have
undertaken other yearly outreach
programs
in
their
respective
communities including visits to
homes for the elderly and persons
with disability, feeding programs,
gift-giving activities and community
development trainings. Our way of
celebrating life, by sharing and caring
for others. Ultimately, life is never
about how we enrich ourselves,
but how we enrich the lives of others.
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Awards

MRO

FOOD

GATEWAY

Elmar Lutter hailed as one of the
Outstanding Leaders in Asia

MacroAsia Catering Services, Inc. (MACS)

MacroAsia Airport Services Corporation
(MASCORP)

Elmar Lutter, President and CEO of Lufthansa
Technik Philippines, receives an award under
the Outstanding Leaders in Asia from the recently
concluded Asia Corporate Excellence & Sustainability
(ACES) Awards 2019 held at Bangkok, Thailand last
September 20, 2019.
Lutter has an expansive career history and a breadth
of experience covering production aircraft overhaul,
cabin electronics, and quality and safety management –
making him the right man for the job.
His mission as a leader of the company is simple
but clear-cut – that is, to propel Lufthansa Technik
Philippines to grow steadily and positively in the
coming years, to elevate its quality and safety
management to a higher international standard,
and to further solidify the company’s foothold as
the leading MRO provider not only in the Philippines,
but also in the Asia Pacific Region.   

•

•

•

•

QF – Certificate of Appreciation for Zero
Findings in the 2019 Group Assurance
Airport Operations Audit

•

QF – Certificate of Appreciation in Recognition
of its Outstanding Commitment to Safety and
Performance 2019

FY 2019 Certificate of Achievement,
31 August 2019 – Top 2, Airport Division in
the First Quarter “Daily Value Score” Survey
for International Flights from Japan Airlines.

•

JL – Certificate of Appreciation for its
Contribution to the typhoon damage at
Narita Airport in September 2019

2019 Airline Service Highest Growth Award
in Mactan Cebu International Airport,
04 November 2019 from GMCAC.

•

2019 Plaque of Appreciation, 04 November
2019, “Ceaseless Support and Numerous
Contributions to Mactan Cebu International
Airport” from GMCAC.

JL – Certificate of Commendation in Recognition
of its Outstanding Service and Dedication to the
Airline & JL passengers

MacroAsia SATS Inflight Services
Corporation (MSIS)
•

Certificate of Excellence for Halal and Hygiene
Compliance Award

•

Awarding of Halal and Hygiene Excellence
Award

Japan Airport Service Co., Ltd.
(JASCO)
•

United Airlines - United Airline Narita Airport
Branch received a Platinum Award for station
safety assessment systems around the world.
JASCO was given special recognition for
making significant contributions to this Award.

MacroAsia SATS Food Industries, Inc.
(MSFI)
•
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Best in Account Management - Pre-Ordered
Meals Category from Cebu Pacific
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Corporate Governance

The following table shows each Board Member and the
corresponding attendance related to the five (5) Board
Meetings held in 2019:
Board of Directors

Meetings Attended

Chairman
Dr. Lucio C. Tan

5/5

Directors
Carmen K. Tan

5/5

Lucio C. Tan III

1/1

Vivienne K. Tan2

3/3

Joseph T. Chua

5/5

Michael G. Tan

5/5

Eduardo Luis T. Luy3

1/1

1

Independent Directors

1

Board Structure
The Board of Directors consists of eleven (11) members.
Of the board directors, four (4) are Independent Directors,
namely, Mr. Johnip G. Cua who chairs the Audit,
Compensation and Mining Committees, Mr. Ben C. Tiu
who chairs the Risk Management Committee, Ms. Marixi R.
Prieto who chairs Corporate Governance and Related Party
Transactions Committees and Mr. Samuel C. Uy.
Dr. Lucio C. Tan is the Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer, and Mr. Joseph T. Chua is the
President and Chief Operating Officer of the Corporation.

MacroAsia

Corporation

(MAC)

is committed to serve and protect the interests
of its stockholders, management, employees,
government
regulatory
agencies
and
stakeholders as it holds the highest level of sound
corporate governance. It continues to do business
following the principles of integrity, objectivity,
accountability and transparency.

MAC ensures that the following general distinct
disclosures are integrated in its overall system of
corporate governance:
•
•
•
•
•
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Financial data and information disclosure;
Ownership structure and control rights;
Corporate responsibility and compliance;
Management and Board structure and
process; and
Auditing.

Board/Executive Remuneration
The Compensation Committee reviews and recommends
any changes to the compensation of Board of Directors or
executives of the Corporation. The recommendations of
the Committee are evaluated and approved by the Board.
The stipulations of the corporate by-laws as to compensation of
Board Members and executive positions have been followed
strictly and no deviation has ever been noted or reported to
the Compensation Committee or to the Board.
Board Attendance
Attendance in Board Meetings and Committee Meetings
are being monitored to ensure quorum, adequate, fair and
balanced representation by its members. From January 1,
2019 to December 31, 2019, the Board of Directors convened
five (5) times.

2
3

Johnip G. Cua

5/5

Ben C. Tiu

5/5

Marixi R. Prieto

5/5

Samuel C. Uy

5/5

Elected on December 12, 2019 vice Lucio K. Tan, Jr. who passed
away on November 11, 2019
Elected on July 19, 2019
Elected on December 12, 2019 vice Rex Vincent Young who was 		
elected on July 19, 2019 and resigned effective December 12, 2019

To carry out specified functions, programs or projects,
and to pursue a more focused approach to various concerns
of the Corporation, the Board created and mandated the
following Committees:
Corporate Governance Committee:
The Corporate Governance Committee is composed
of six (6) members, four independent directors,
a non-executive director and a non-voting member.
The Committee is tasked with ensuring compliance with
and proper observance of corporate governance principles
and practices. The Committee meets as necessary and is
authorized by the Board to help process nominations and
appointments of new directors.
Audit Committee:
The Audit Committee is composed of six (6) members
of the Board, four of whom are independent directors.
The Committee reviews all financial reports in compliance
with both the internal and regulatory requirements as
it performs an oversight role on financial management
functions. This Committee meets at least four times during
the year.
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Corporate Governance

Related Party Transactions Committee:
The Related Party Transactions Committee is composed
of five (5) members of the Board, four of whom are
independent directors. The Committee shall have the
overall responsibility in ensuring the transactions with
related parties are handled in a sound and prudent manner,
with integrity, and in compliance with applicable laws and
regulations to protect the interest of the Corporation’s
shareholders and stakeholders. The Committee meets
as necessary and its work is closely linked to that of the
Audit Committee.
Compensation Committee:
The Compensation Committee is comprised of five (5)
members of the Board, and a non-voting member, and is
chaired by an independent director. To maintain qualified
directors and officers to lead the Company in attaining
its goals, the Committee has established a formal and
transparent procedure to develop a sufficient executive
remuneration. The Committee meets at least once a year.
Investment Committee:
The Investment Committee is composed of six (6) members
of the Board, including one Independent Director. The
Committee meets as necessary and is tasked to assist
the Board to perform its oversight responsibility for the
investment assets of the Corporation and helps craft the
investment policies.
Risk Management Committee:
The Risk Management Committee is composed of
seven (7) members of the Board, four (4) of whom are
independent directors. The Risk Management Committee
helps the Board understand the risks that the Group is
exposed to: market, credit, liquidity, foreign exchange,
equity and structural risks, interest-rate risk, insurance,
operational, regulatory, compliance and reputation risks.
The Committee meets as necessary and its work is closely
linked to that of the Audit Committee.
Mining Committee:
The Mining Committee is a special committee, consisting
of four (4) members of the Board and chaired by an
Independent Director, that was organized by the Board to
assist Management in the pursuit of the mining projects
that require top level monitoring and guidance.
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Revised Manual on Corporate Governance
The Manual on Corporate Governance originally
issued in August 2002 was amended in December 2009,
July 2014, December 2015 and further amended March
2017 to provide for more stringent compliance standards.
This Revised Manual was disclosed to the PSE and the
SEC. The public can download a full copy of this Manual
from the corporate website (www.macroasiacorp.com).
Investor’s and/or Shareholder’s Assistance
MacroAsia Corporation (MAC) can be reached via email
(info@macroasiacorp.com) or through the “Contact Us”
tab available online at the corporate website. For further
information about MacroAsia Corporation, interested
parties may also contact:
Atty. Marivic T. Moya
12th Floor PNB Allied Bank Center
6754 Ayala Avenue, Makati City 1226, Philippines
Tel. No.: +63 2 8840-2001
Email: mtmoya@macroasiacorp.com
Gladys Lorraine P. Salamatin
12th Floor PNB Allied Bank Center
6754 Ayala Avenue, Makati City 1226, Philippines
Tel. No.: +63 2 8840-2001
Email: gpsalamatin@macroasiacorp.com

Enterprise Risk Management
To ensure a high standard of business practice for
the Corporation and its stakeholders, the Board has
established an annual risk management plan to manage
risks considering their impact, and seize opportunities that
relate to the achievement of objectives.
A Risk Management Committee has been formed and
appointed a Chief Risk Officer to assist the Board of
Directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with
regards to identifying the risks and the control processes
to manage such risks.
The President/COO, all members of executive management
team and management heads of each of the operating
subsidiaries and affiliates meet on a weekly basis to evaluate
and discuss the operational and financial performances.
Identification and evaluation of business risks and the
corresponding control processes were also discussed in
the meeting.

The MAC Group observes the following four-objective categories of the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO) ERM Framework as its standard:
•
•
•
•
•

Strategic – high-level goals, aligned with
and supporting its mission
Operations – effective and efficient use
of resources;
Reporting – reliability of operational, financial and non-financial reporting;
Compliance – adherence to applicable laws
and regulations.
In 2019, MacroAsia Corporation and Subsidiaries recognized some risk exposures that have potential impact
on the Group.
Risk Exposure

Operational and financial risks
of subsidiaries and affiliates

Global Economic Slowdown

Risk Management
yy

Group-wide monitoring process performed by executive/management
committee held on a weekly basis.

yy
yy
yy

Aggressive marketing, offering of innovative products and service;
Optimizing resources and provision of quality services;
Sustainable cost leadership efforts.

yy

Year-round preventive maintenance of helicopter unit and ground support
equipment in accordance with the manufacturer’s specifications;
Employees year-round training program in order to keep up with the latest
trends with emphasis on operational safety, reliability and customer service;
Regular audits to ensure compliance with local and international
quality standards;
Regular renewal of accreditations and certifications to ensure services are
carried out in accordance with respective countries’ aviation regulations.

yy
Industry Regulations

yy
yy

yy
Competition

yy
yy

Volatility of Foreign
Exchange Rates

Valuation of Non-Current Assets

yy
yy

yy

Maintain close relationships with airline clients, which in turn enables
reciprocal arrangements for auxiliary aviation services;
Strong backing of the Company’s venture partners
or a globally-competitive expertise and market reach;
Operational funding requirements and adequate capital
to continue and expand its existing businesses and develop or venture
into new business activities.

Engage in foreign exchange hedging transactions to minimize impact of
losses from such fluctuation;
In the case of the parent company, maintaining the currency portfolio as per
the guidance received from the Investment Committee.

Non-current assets are adjusted at fair values for impairment, recoverability
and timing of reclassification.
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CFO’s Message

clients and achieved new revenue
sources from sewerage treatment plant
(STP) operations. Water segment
billed volume of water in cubic
meters (“cu.m.”) have grown by +92%
from 4.1 million cu.m. in 2018 to
7.8 million cu.m. in 2019.

2018 to Php88.4 million in 2019,
aligned
with
the
increase
in notes payable of the Group and
the impact of adoption of IFRS
16 Leases. Other income in 2019
is higher by Php24 million than the
Php29.8 million in 2018.

Another highlight in 2019 is the
aviation training school, First Aviation
Academy, Inc. (FAA) which started its
commercial operation in May 2019,
onboarding three batches of classes
within the year.

Financial Position
As of December 31, 2019, our
consolidated total assets stood at
Php12.5 billion, posting a Php2.9
billion increase (+31%) from Php9.6
billion in 2018. Cash and cash
equivalents of Php1.2 billion increased
by Php544.4 million (+81%), which
is caused largely by the Php896.3
million dividends received from LTP
and Php886.8 million proceeds from
sale of 20% ownership of the ground
handling subsidiary.

Total
direct
costs
in
2019
amounted to Php4.8 billion, posting
an increase of Php2.2 billion
(+85%) from 2018. The increase
is
caused
by
the
volume
growth of ground-handling and
catering subsidiaries.

In 2019, MacroAsia’s financial performance reflects its remarkable accomplishments
beyond expectations, as it continues to expand and grow its business, raking in revenues
in record numbers.
The Group posted consolidated
revenues at Php6.2 billion, a jump
of 80% from Php3.5 billion last year.
Net income stood at Php1.2 billion,
an increase of 10%.
In-flight
catering
revenues
(comprising 47% of total revenues)
recorded Php2.9 billion, rising by
75% from Php1.7 billion last year.
On the other hand, ground handling
and aviation services revenues
(comprising 46% of total revenues)
nearly doubled to Php2.8 billion,
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compared to Php1.5 billion the
year before.
The significant growth in the two
segments was mainly brought about
by the take-over of the catering and
ground handling requirements of
Philippine Airlines and PALExpress
starting March 16, 2019. In the
same month, MacroAsia SATS Food
Industries (MSFI) also commenced
operations and contributed to the
volume development in institutional
catering. MACS, along with its

subsidiaries, MSFI and MSIS,
sold 12.4 million meals, 114% more
as against 5.9 million meals in 2018.
However,
MASCORP
handled
197,079 flights this year, 63% more
from 120,862 flights a year ago.
Water revenues contributed 6%
to total revenues, increasing by
Php76.6 million (+28%) to Php347.6
million from Php271 million last
year. BTSI benefited from the
re-opening of Boracay Island in
October 2018, as it gained more

Share in net income of associates
amounting to Php1.08 billion which
increased minimally by Php7.3 million
(+1%) represents MAC’s share in the
net operating result of its associated
companies (LTP, CPCS and JASCO).
Share in our MRO business is flat
compared with last year impacted
negatively by the adoption of IFRS
16 standard on Leases. For the
year ended December 31, 2019,
our MRO business registered profits of
Php2.1 billion from which we
share 49% or Php1 billion.
CPCS - our catering associate in
Cebu, reflected a 16% decrease
in its net earnings as one of its
major clients shifted its meal plan
to bought in products beginning
March 2019 MAC booked its
40% net income share in CPCS at
Php39.8 million, compared to last
year’s Php47.6 million.
The interest income of Php11.78
million pertain to income earned
from
short-term
investments,
refundable deposits and installment
receivables.
Financing
charges
increased from Php51.4 million in

Receivables and contract assets to
be collected within the following year
grew by Php1 billion (+114%) due
to growth in business volume of the
Group’s catering and ground handling
subsidiaries.
Total noncurrent assets reached
Php8.9 billion increasing by 15% from
Php7.7 billion in 2018 Investments
in associates recorded an increase
of 35% or Php801.9 million, from
Php2.3 billion in 2018 to Php3.1 billion
in 2019. The group’s property and
equipment stood at Php2.6 billion
increasing by Php495.5 million
from Php2.1 billion in 2018 due
to new acquisitions across all the
operating
business
segments.
Net investment in the lease amounting
to Php1.2 billion and right-of-use of
assets amounting to Php499.6 million
were recognized as impact of adoption
of IFRS 16 Leases.
Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities increased by Php882.7
million (+102%) as of December
31, 2019 mainly due to the volume
growth of the ground handling and
catering operations. Loans payable of

Php1.8 billion refers to the loan availed
from local banks by the operating
subsidiaries to finance their asset
acquisition as a result of the business
expansions. During the year, loans
were availed by, MSFI amounting to
Php275 million, BTSI with Php150
million, MASCORP with Php162.3
million and US$3.5 million and MAC
with Php500 million. Loan settlement
during the year amounted to
Php533.6 million. Lease liabilities of
Php1.7 billion was also recognized
arising from the adoption of IFRS 16.
The movement in the Group’s other
reserves pertain to MAC’s gain on
the sale of MASCORP’s 20% shares
to Konoike Transport Co., LTD., net of
taxes paid.
Share Buy-Back Program
On March 14, 2019, the Board of
Directors approved Php200 million
additional funding to the 2017
Php210 million Share Buyback
Program, of these we used
Php377.4 million to buy back
23,044,300 shares. As of December
31, 2019, we have 39,640,300 treasury
shares, costing on the average
Php10.77 per share.
Dividends
On March 14, 2019, our MAC
Board declared Php0.20 cash
dividends per share, amounting to
Php318.3 million that was paid last
May 10, 2019 to stockholders of record
as of April 12, 2019.
As we step back behind the numbers
and assess our future, we see that
MacroAsia’s
financial
standing
remains strong, backed by the resilient
cash-flow generating capabilities of
our key operating subsidiaries.

Amador T. Sendin
Chief Financial Officer
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Dr. Lucio C. Tan
Chairman of the Board
and CEO
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Carmen K. Tan
Director

Lucio C. Tan III
Director

Michael G. Tan
Director

Eduardo Luis T. Luy
Treasurer

Johnip G. Cua
Lead Independent Director

Vivienne K. Tan
Director

Joseph T. Chua
President and COO

Ben C. Tiu
Independent Director

Marixi R. Prieto
Independent Director

Samuel C. Uy
Independent Director
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Dr. Lucio C. Tan
Chairman of the
Board and Chief
Executive Officer
Mr. Tan, 85, Filipino, has served as
Chairman of the Board of Directors
since July 2015 and as Chief Executive
Officer since December 14, 2015.
During the span of 50 years,
Dr. Tan founded, and became
the Chairman & Chief Executive
Officer/Director of: Allied Bankers
Insurance Corporation (since 1980);
Asia Brewery, Inc. (since March 1979);
Basic Holdings Corp. (since July 1983);
Eton Properties Philippines, Inc.
(since February 2007); Foremost

Carmen K. Tan
Director

Mrs. Tan, 78, Filipino, has served as
Director of the Corporation since
July 2012. Aside from her membership
in the Board of Directors of the
Corporation, Ms. Tan currently also
serves as a Director of the following
companies; Buona Sorte Holdings,
Inc. (since 1978); Dynamic Holdings,

Lucio C. Tan III
Director

Mr. Tan, 27, Filipino, has served as
Director of the Corporation since
December 2019. Mr. Tan also serves on
the Board of Directors of the following
corporations since December 2019:
LT Group, Inc., PAL Holdings, Inc.,
Philippine Airlines, PAL Express,
Lufthansa Technik Philippines, Inc.,
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Farm Inc. (since April 1970);
Fortune Tobacco Corp. (since 1965);
Grandspan
Development
Corp.
(since July 1996); Himmel Industries,
Inc.
(since
November
1960);
Lucky Travel Corporation (since June
1983); and The Charter House Inc.
(since July 1980). Dr. Tan has also
acquired and is the Chairman and
CEO/Director of Tanduay Distillers
Inc. (since May 1988); University
of the East (since 1990); Philippine
Airlines, Inc. (since March 1, 1993);
Philippine National Bank (since
December 1999); LT Group, Inc.
(formerly Tanduay Holdings Inc.,
since July 1999); Air Philippines Inc.
(since 1999); PAL Holdings Inc. (since
October 2000), Mabuhay Miles, Inc.
(since 2016) and Mabuhay Maritime

Express Transport Inc., (since 2016).
He
founded
Allied
Banking
Corporation in April 1977 which
merged with Philippine National
Bank (“PNB”) in March 2012.
Fortune Tobacco Corporation which
he founded entered into a joint venture
with Philip Morris International (since
2010) and the company is now known
as Philip Morris Fortune Tobacco
Corporation (PMFTC) of which he
is the Chairman. Dr. Lucio Tan holds
a Doctor of Philosophy degree,
Major in Commerce from the
University of Santo Tomas and
a Bachelor of Science degree
in Chemical Engineering from
Far Eastern University.

Ltd. (since 2019); Eton City, Inc. (since
1970); Fortune Tobacco Corp. (since
1965); Himmel Industries, Inc. (since
1960); LT Group, Inc. (since 2013);
Manufacturing Services and Trade
Corp. (since 1979); Progressive Farms,
Inc. (since 2004); Philippine Airlines
Inc. (since 2013) PAL Holdings, Inc.
(since 2014); Philippine National Bank
(since 2016); PMFTC Inc. (since 2010);
Sipalay Trading Corp. (since 2005);
Saturn Holdings, Inc. (since 1979);
Tanduay Distillers, Inc. (since 2005);
Tangent Holdings, Corp. (since 2005);
The
Charter
House,
Inc.

(since
2005),
and
Trustmark
Holding,
Corp.
(since
2000).
Mrs. Carmen K. Tan is Incorporator
of the following Corporations:
Asia Brewery, Inc. (since 1979),
Dominium Realty & Construction
Corp.
(since
1978),
Foremost
Farms, Inc. (since 1970), Lucky
Travel Corp. (since 1983) and
Shareholdings, Inc. (since 1979).
She is a distinguished alumna of
the Paco Chinese School and the
University of the East, Manila.

MacroAsia Properties Development
Corporation,
MacroAsia
Airport
Services Corporation, Asia’s Emerging
Dragon Corporation and Lucky
Travel Corporation. He is currently
the President and CEO of Tanduay
Distillers Inc. Before joining the group,
he worked as Head Software Engineer
for Lyft from April 2018 to 2019,
and as Intern for Facebook, Apple and
Cisco. He joined organizations like
the Stanford Tau Beta Pi Engineering
Honors
Society
as
member,
and as Executive Board and Finance

Officer of the Stanford Asian Student
Entrepreneur Society. Lucio had his
Masters Degree in Computer Science
after graduating with the highest
award given to engineering seniors of
Stanford University USA - The Frederick
E. Terman Award in 2015 for the course
M.S. in Computer Science, likewise
he was also awarded the President’s
Award for Academic Excellence on
his Freshman Year and the Tau Beta
Pi Honors Society for his Junior and
Senior years.

Vivienne K. Tan
Director

Ms. Tan, 50, Filipino, has served as
Director of the Corporation since July
2019. She also serves as a member of
the Board of Directors of: (i) LT Group,
Inc., (ii) Eton Properties Philippines,
Inc., and (iii) PNB. She is a member of

Joseph T. Chua
President and
Chief Operating
Officer

Mr. Chua, 63, Filipino, has been a
member of the Corporation’s Board
of Directors since August 1997.
He is currently the President and
COO of MacroAsia Corporation,
a position he has held since
December 15, 2015. Prior to this,
he was the CEO of MacroAsia
Corporation from July 2003 to
December 14, 2015. He is also the
President and a member of the
Board of Directors of the following
corporations: (i) MacroAsia Catering
Services, Inc. (since July 2003),
(ii) MacroAsia Airport Services
Corp. (since 2000), (iii) MacroAsia
Properties Development Corporation
(since 2013), (iv) MacroAsia Air Taxi
Services (since 2004), (v) MacroAsia
Mining Corporation (since 2012),
(vi) MacroAsia SATS Food, Inc.
(since 2015), (vii) MacroAsia SATS

the Board of Trustees of (i) University of
the East, and (ii) University of the East
Ramon Magsaysay Memorial Medical
Center. She is an Executive Director of
Dynamic Holdings Limited. She is also
the Executive Vice President, Treasurer
and Chief Administrative Officer of
PAL. Ms. Tan is also the Founding
Chairperson of Entrepreneurs School
of Asia, and is the Founder and
President of the Thames International
Business School.

Ms. Tan has a Bachelor of Science
Double Degree in Mathematics
and Computer Science from the
University of San Francisco, USA.
She also has a Post-Graduate Diploma
in Fashion Design and Manufacturing
Management from the Fashion
Institute of Design and Merchandising
in Los Angeles.

Inflight Services Corporation (since
March 2019) and (viii) Watergy
Business Solutions Inc. (since 2014).
Mr. Chua is also the Chairman of the
Board of Directors of the following
corporations: (i) J.F. Rubber Phils.
(since 1993), (ii) MacroAsia Air Taxi
Services (2001-2003), (iii) Watergy
Business Solutions Inc. (2011-2013),
(iv) Cavite Business Resources
Inc. (since 2011), (v) MacroAsia
Properties Development Corporation
(2003-2012), (vi) MacroAsia Mining
Corporation (2004-2012), (vii) Boracay
Tubi System, Inc. (since December
2016), (viii) Naic Water Supply
Corporation (since August 2017),
(ix) First Aviation Academy, Inc.
(since December 2017), (x) Summa
Water Resources, Inc. (since October
2018) and (xi) Alliedkonsult Ecosolutions
Services
Corporation.
He also served/serves as a director of:
(i) PAL Holdings, Inc. (October
2014-January 2018 and October
2018-Present), (ii) Philippine Airlines,
Inc. (August 2003-March 2012
and October 2014-January 2018),
(iii) Air Philippines Corporation

(February
2015-January
2018),
(iv) Bulawan Mining Corporation
(since June 2009-January 2018),
(v) PNB Management & Development
Corporation (since June 2009-January
2018), (vi) ETON Properties Philippines,
Inc. (May 2013–September 2017),
(vii) Lufthansa Technik Philippines,
Inc. (since 2000) and LTG, Inc.
(June
2014-February
2018).
His other business affiliations
include: (i) Philippine National Bank,
as director (May 2014-May 2015)
and Board Advisor (May 2015February 2018), (ii) Eton City Inc.,
(May 2013-Present), (iii) Belton
Communities, Inc. (May 2013Present),
(iv)
FirstHomes
Inc.
(May 2013-Present) and (v) PNB
General Insurers Co., Inc. (August
2014-February 2018). Mr. Chua
holds a Master of International
Finance degree from the University
of Southern California, USA and a
double degree of Bachelor of Arts in
Economics and Bachelor of Science
in Business Management from
De La Salle University.
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Mr. Tan, 53, Filipino, has served
as Director since 17 July 2015. He
serves as the President and Chief
Operating Officer of LT Group, Inc.,
Asia Brewery, Inc., and Director of the
following companies: Eton Properties
Inc., Philippine National Bank, PMFTC
Inc., Tanduay Distillers, Inc., Victorias

Milling Co. and Philippine Airlines, Inc.
Mr. Michael Tan holds a Bachelor of
Science degree in Applied Science in
Civil Engineering, major in Structural
Engineering, from the University of

Mr. Luy, 26, Filipino, has served
Eduardo Luis T. Luy as Director and Treasurer of the
Corporation since December 12, 2019.
Treasurer
He worked in Reyes Tacandong
& Co. from 2015-2018. Mr. Luy holds

a Master in Business Administration
from Asian Institute of Management
and a Bachelor of Science degree
in Business Administration from
University of the Philippines.

of Xavier School Educational &
Trust Fund (1996 to Present) and
MGCC Foundation (since 2015).
Mr. Cua is an Independent Director
of the following corporations:
(i) BDO Private Bank (since 2008),
(ii) Philippine Airlines Inc. (since Oct
2014), (iii) PAL Holdings Inc. (since
Oct 2014), (iv) Century Pacific Food
Inc. (since Jan 2014), (v) LT Group Inc.
(since May 2018), (vi) Eton Properties
Inc. (since May 2014), (vii) ALI
Eaton Property Development Corp.
(since July 2018), (viii) MacroAsia
Catering Services, Inc. (since 2007),
(ix) MacroAsia Airport Services Corp.
(since 2007), (x) MacroAsia Properties
Development Inc. (since 2013),
(xi) PhilPlans First Inc. (since 2009),

and (xii) First Aviation Academy
Inc. (since 2017). Mr. Cua is also a
member of the Board of Directors
of the following corporations:
(i) Allied Botanical Corporation
(2012 to Present), (ii) Alpha Alleanza
Manufacturing Inc. (since 2008),
(iii) Bakerson Corporation (since 2002
Present), (iv) Interbake Marketing
Corporation (since 1991), (v) Lartizan
Corporation (since 2007), and
(vi) Teambake Marketing Corporation
(since 1994). Mr. Cua holds a Bachelor
of Science degree in Chemical
Engineering from the University of the
Philippines.

Michael G. Tan
Director

Johnip G. Cua
Lead
Independent
Director
Mr. Cua, 63, Filipino, has served
as Independent Director of the
Corporation since 2006. He was
formerly the President of Procter &
Gamble Philippines Inc. (1995-2006).
He currently serves as the Chairman
of the Board of the P&Gers Fund Inc.
(since 2009) and Xavier School, Inc.
(since 2012), and the Chairman &
President of Taibrews Corporation
(since 2011). Additionally, he serves
as a member of the Board of Trustees
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Ben C. Tiu
Independent
Director

British Columbia, Canada.

Marixi R. Prieto
Independent
Director

Samuel C. Uy
Independent
Director

Mr. Tiu, 67, Filipino, has served as
an Independent Director of the
Corporation since July 2013. He is the
Chairman of the Board of Directors
of the following corporations:
(i) Fidelity Securities (since 1993),
(ii) Tera Investments, Inc. (since
2001), (iii) TKC Steel Corporation
(since 2007Present), (iv) Treasure
Steelworks Corp. (since 2005), and
(v) BRJ Trading (since 1988). He also

serves as the Chairman and President
of JTKC Equities, Inc. (since 1993).
He is currently the Executive Vice
President of JTKC Leisure Group.
He also serves as Director of I‐Remit
Inc. (since 2006). Mr. Tiu holds a
Master of Business Administration
degree from the Ateneo De Manila
University and a Bachelor of Science
degree in Mechanical Engineering
from Loyola Marymount University, USA.

Ms. Prieto, 79, Filipino, has served
as an Independent Director of the
Corporation since December 2015.
She is the Chairman of the Board
of Bataan 2020 Inc. She served/
serves as a member of the Board of
Directors in the following companies:
(i)
Philippine
Daily
Inquirer,
(ii) Hinge Inquirer Publication
Inc., (iii) Inquirer Interactive Inc.,
(iv)
Inquirer
Publications
Inc.,
(v) Printown Group, (vi) Sunvar
Inc., Investment and Marketing
Association, (vii) Ionian Industrial
Property Inc., (viii) Corinthian Industrial
Property, Inc., (ix) HMR Enterprises,
Inc., (x) Lexmedia Realty, Inc.,
(xi) Var Buildings, Inc., (xii) Parkside
Realty Development Corporation,

(xiii) Golden Pizza Inc., (xiv) Golden
Donuts Inc., (xv) International Family
Foods Services, Inc., (xvi) Mix-plant
Inc., (xvii) LRP Inc., Pinnacle Printers
Corporation, (xviii) Inquirer Holdings,
Inc., (xix) Mediacom Equities, Inc.,
(xx) Matrix Resources Portfolio
Holdings, Inc., (xxi) Excel Pacific
Equities, Inc., and (xxii) Cebu Daily
News. Ms. Prieto is also the Treasurer
of the following corporations, among
others: (i) Sunvar Realty Development
Corporation, (ii) Marilex Realty
Development
Corporation,
and
(iii) Ionian Realty & Development
Corporation. Ms. Prieto holds
a Bachelor of Science degree
in Business Management from
Assumption College Inc.

Mr. Uy, 66, Filipino, has served as
Independent Director since April 30,
2018. He is the current President
and Administrator of Ricardo Limso
Medical Center (since 2004), as well
as the President and CEO of 3S Realty
Corporation (since 2007) and Toril
Sports Complex (since 2008). He is
also the Vice President of Kaunlaran
Development Corporation; Davao
Farms Incorporated (since 1986);
Dimdi Centre Inc. (since 1986);

Daland Development Corporation.
He is the Secretary of Millennium
Cars Mindanao and Treasurer for
Dimdi Builders Inc. Mr. Uy is also a
director of Honda Cars Gensan, and
an Independent Director of Philippine
Airlines, Inc. (since March 2017).
Mr. Uy holds a Bachelor of Science
degree in Agriculture from Xavier
University. He also studied Bachelor
of Science in Management at the
Ateneo de Manila University.
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Executive Management Team

Joseph T. Chua

President and
Chief Operating Officer

Mr. Chua, 63, Filipino, has been a
member of the Corporation’s Board
of Directors since August 1997. He is
currently the President and COO of
MacroAsia Corporation, a position he
has held since December 15, 2015.

Atty. Marivic T. Moya

Chief Compliance Officer
Corporate Information Officer
Senior Vice President - Human Resources,
Legal and External Relations
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Prior to this, he was the CEO of MacroAsia
Corporation from July 2003 to December
14, 2015. He is also the President and a
member of the Board of Directors of the
following corporations: (i) MacroAsia
Catering Services, Inc. (since July 2003),
(ii) MacroAsia Airport Services Corp.
(since 2000), (iii) MacroAsia Properties
Development Corporation (since 2013),
(iv) MacroAsia Air Taxi Services (since
2004), (v) MacroAsia Mining Corporation
(since 2012), (vi) MacroAsia SATS Food,
Inc. (since 2015), (vi) MacroAsia SATS
Inflight Services Corporation (since
March 2019) and (vii) Watergy Business
Solutions Inc. (since 2014). Mr. Chua
is also the Chairman of the Board of
Directors of the following corporations:
(i) J.F. Rubber Phils. (since 1993),
(ii) MacroAsia Air Taxi Services (20012003), (iii) Watergy Business Solutions
Inc. (2011-2013), (iv) Cavite Business
Resources Inc. (since 2011), (v) MacroAsia
Properties Development Corporation
(2003-2012), (vi) MacroAsia Mining
Corporation (2004-2012), (vii) Boracay
Tubi System, Inc. (since December 2016),
(viii) Naic Water Supply Corporation (since
August 2017), (ix) First Aviation Academy,
Inc. (since December 2017), (x) Summa
Water Resources, Inc. (since October

2018) and (xi) Alliedkonsult Eco-solutions
Services Corporation. He also served/
serves as a director of: (i) PAL Holdings, Inc.
(October 2014-January 2018 and October
2018-Present), (ii) Philippine Airlines, Inc.
(August 2003-March 2012 and October
2014-January 2018), (iii) Air Philippines
Corporation
(February
2015-January
2018), (iv) Bulawan Mining Corporation
(since June 2009-January 2018), (v) PNB
Management & Development Corporation
(since June 2009-January 2018), (vi)
ETON Properties Philippines, Inc. (May
2013–September 2017), (vii) Lufthansa
Technik Philippines, Inc. (since 2000)
and LTG, Inc. (June 2014-February 2018).
His other business affiliations include:
(i) Philippine National Bank, as director
(May 2014-May 2015) and Board Advisor
(May 2015-February 2018), (ii) Eton
City In., (May 2013-Present), (iii) Belton
Communities, Inc. (May 2013-Present), (iv)
FirstHomes Inc. (May 2013-Present) and
(v) PNB General Insurers Co., Inc. (August
2014-February 2018). Mr. Chua holds a
Master of International Finance degree
from the University of Southern California,
USA and a double degree of Bachelor
of Arts in Economics and Bachelor of
Science in Business Management from
De La Salle University.

Ms. Moya, 59, Filipino, has served as an
Executive Officer since May 1999. She
is the current Senior Vice President for
Human Resources, Legal and External
Relations, Chief Compliance Officer
and the Chief Information Officer of
MacroAsia Corporation. Prior to this,
Atty. Moya was the Vice President for
Human Resources, Legal and External
Relations of MacroAsia Corporation
and Compliance Officer (1999-2019).
She is also the Corporate Secretary
of MacroAsia Catering Services Inc.
(since 2004) and Director (since 2019),
MacroAsia Airport Services Corp.
(since 2004), MacroAsia Properties
Development Corp. (since 2004) and
Director (since 2019), Asia’s Emerging
Dragons Corp., and a Director and
Corporate Secretary in MacroAsia Air
Taxi Services, Inc. (since 2004), and
MacroAsia Mining Corp. (since 2000),
SNV Resources Development Corp.,
Boracay Tubi System, Inc., First Aviation
Academy, Inc. (since 2017) and Summa
Water Resources, Inc. (since October
2018). She is also a Director in Naic
Water Supply Corporation, Watergy
Business Solutions Inc., and Cavite
Business Resources Inc., Alliedkonsult

Eco-solutions Corporation and Cavite
Alliedkonsult
Services
Corporation
(since 2019). She is currently the
Assistant Corporate Secretary of LT
Group and PAL Holdings, Inc. She served
as the Corporate Secretary of MacroAsia
Corporation from 2004 to 2014. She is
also the Corporate Secretary of Philippine
Airlines, Inc. (since 2014). She worked
with various Government Institutions
from 1987 to 1999, holding key positions
such as Legal Officer of the National
Bureau of Investigation (NBI) from 19871989, Arbitration Specialist of Philippine
Overseas Employment Administration
(POEA) from 1989 to 1990, Director II
(Chief, Legal Service) of Philippine Health
Insurance Corporation from 1990 to
1996 and Graft Investigation Officer II at
the Office of the Ombudsman from 1997
to 1999. She also held the position of
Human Resources Manager of Grand Air
from 1996 to 1997. She was a member
of the Board of Trustees of the University
of Santo Tomas Law Alumni Association
(2010-2013). Atty. Moya holds a Bachelor
of Laws degree from the University of
Santo Tomas and a Bachelor of Arts
degree, Major in Child Study from the
Maryknoll College.

Amador T. Sendin

Chief Financial Officer
Chief Risk Officer
Senior Vice President - Administration
Mr. Sendin, 57, Filipino, a Certified
Public Accountant (CPA), has served
as an Executive Officer since October
2003. He is the Chief Financial Officer
(since 2012), Chief Risk Officer and

Belgium S. Tandoc

Data Protection Officer
Vice President – Business Development

Senior Vice President for Administration
of MacroAsia Corporation. He is also
the Treasurer of MacroAsia Properties
Development Corporation ( since 2013),
Summa Water Resources, Inc. (since
2018), and the Treasurer and Director of
MacroAsia Airport Services Corporation
(since 2011), MacroAsia Air Taxi Services
Inc. (since 2011), MacroAsia Mining
Corporation (since 2004), Watergy
Business Solutions Inc. (since 2010),
Boracay Tubi System, Inc. (since 2016),
Bulawan Mining Corporation (since
2018), First Aviation Academy, Inc. (since
July 2019), MacroAsia Catering Services
,Inc., MacroAsia SATS Food Industries
Corporation, MacroAsia SATS Inflight
Services Corporation (since June 2019),
AlliedKonsult Eco-Solutions Corporation,
and Cavite AlliedKonsult Services
Corporation (since Dec 2019). He is
currently the President of SNV Resources
Development Corp. (since 2013), Cavite
Business Resources Inc. (since 2016),
Naic Water Supply Corporation (since
2017), and a Director of Cebu Pacific
Catering Services, Inc. (since 2004) Prior
to this, Mr. Sendin was the Vice President

for Business Development of MacroAsia
Corporation (2003-2019), Treasurer and
Director of Cavite Business Resources
Inc. (2013-2016),
Finance Manager
of MacroAsia Catering Services, Inc.
(2000-2003), and Finance Controller
of MIASCOR Catering (1998-2000).
He was the Operations Head of Amikris
Enterprises (1993-1998) and a Resource
Person of the Central Bank Institute
(Bangko Sentral Ng Pilipinas Institute)
(1992-1997). He was the Projects
Supervisor for SAS Service Partners/
Saudia Catering in KSA (1992-1993).
Mr. Sendin started his career with the
Central Bank of the Philippines (Bangko
Sentral Ng Pilipinas) from 1983-1992,
rising from a staff position until he
became Division Chief/Staff Officer
A. Mr. Sendin is a holder of Masters in
Accountancy from Polytechnic University
of the Philippines, Bachelor of Science
in Psychology from St. Louis University,
and a Certificate in Organizational
Development in 2000. He has also
completed a Management Development
Program in Switzerland.

Mr. Tandoc, 49, Filipino, is a Certified
Financial Consultant and Certified Data
Protection Officer, has served as Data
Protection Officer and Vice President for
Business Development since July 2019.
He joined the Business Development
group of MacroAsia Corporation in
March 2017. He is currently a Director of
Naic Water Supply Corporation. Prior to
joining the company, Mr. Tandoc served
as the Vice President – Finance and
Business Development for SCCI Advisors
and SCCI Management and Insurance
Agency, Inc. from 2004 to 2016 where he
led and implemented various private and
government projects including packaging
LGU Bond flotations. Mr. Tandoc started
his career as a Business Analyst at Credit
Information Bureau, Inc. in 1991 and left
as a Group Head in 1994. From there he
moved up to various positions in several

investment houses and management
& financial advisory companies where
he worked in various fields including
investment banking, corporate finance,
credit, treasury and project development.
He holds a Bachelor of Science in
Business Administration – Management
and Bachelor of Science in Social
Work degrees from the Pamantasan ng
Lungsod ng Maynila. He is a member
of the Financial Executives of the
Philippines.

Atty. Florentino Herrera III

law practice as counsel for various
companies. Among others, he serves as
Senior Adviser of CVC Asia Pacific Limited;
he is a director of Philippine Airlines, Inc.
(PAL), Lufthansa Technik Philippines
(LTP), and Alphaland Corporation. He is
the Corporate Secretary of Allianz PNB
Life Insurance, Inc. Atty. Herrera holds
a Bachelor of Arts in Political Science
degree and a Bachelor of Laws degree
(Cum Laude, Salutatorian) both from the
University of the Philippines.

Corporate Secrectary

Mr. Herrera, 68, Filipino, has served as
Corporate Secretary since December
2014. He is the Founding Partner of
Herrera Teehankee & Cabrera Law
Offices. He was a Partner of one of the
largest law offices in the Philippines.
He has been engaged in the general
practice of law for the past forty two
(42) years specializing in corporate
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Key audit
Auditmatters
Matters
are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
Key
audit
matters that,financial
in our professional
of forming
most significance
in our
context
of matters
our auditareofthose
the consolidated
statements judgment,
as a whole,were
and in
our opinion
audit
of the
financial
statements
of theoncurrent
period. These
matters
were
addressed
thereon,
andconsolidated
we do not provide
a separate
opinion
these matters.
For each
matter
below,
our in the
context
of our
auditour
of the
consolidated
financial
whole,
and in forming our opinion
description
of how
audit
addressed the
matterstatements
is providedasina that
context.
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our
We have fulfilled
described
in is
theprovided
Auditor’s
description
of howthe
ourresponsibilities
audit addressed
the matter
in Responsibilities
that context. for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
We
have fulfilled
the responsibilities
described inoftheprocedures
Auditor’s designed
Responsibilities
for the
Audit
of the of
Accordingly,
our audit
included the performance
to respond
to our
assessment
Consolidated
Financial
Statementsofsection
of our report,
including
in relation
to results
these matters.
the risks of material
misstatement
the consolidated
financial
statements.
The
of our audit
Accordingly,
our auditthe
included
the performance
procedures
designed
to respond
to the
ourbasis
assessment
procedures, including
procedures
performed toofaddress
the matters
below,
provide
for ourof
the
risks
of material
the consolidated
financial
statements. The results of our audit
audit
opinion
on the misstatement
accompanyingofconsolidated
financial
statements.
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit
opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
Revenue
Recognition

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
MacroAsia Corporation
The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
MacroAsia Corporation
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of MacroAsia Corporation (the Company) and its
Opinion
subsidiaries (collectively as the Group), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at
We
have audited
theand
consolidated
statements
of MacroAsia
Corporation
(the Company)
December
31, 2019
2018, andfinancial
the consolidated
statements
of income,
consolidated
statementsand
of its
subsidiaries
(collectively
as the Group),
which comprise
the in
consolidated
sheetsstatements
as at
comprehensive
income, consolidated
statements
of changes
equity and balance
consolidated
of cash
December
31, 2019
2018,
and
consolidated
statements
of
flows for each
of theand
three
years
in the
the consolidated
period endedstatements
December of
31,income,
2019, and
notes to the
consolidated
comprehensive
income,
consolidated
statements
of changes
in equitypolicies.
and consolidated statements of cash
financial statements,
including
a summary
of significant
accounting
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, and notes to the consolidated
In our opinion,
the accompanying
consolidated
financial accounting
statements present
financial
statements,
including a summary
of significant
policies.fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and its consolidated
In
our opinion,
the accompanying
consolidated
fairly,ininthe
allperiod
material
respects,
financial
performance
and its consolidated
cash financial
flows forstatements
each of thepresent
three years
ended
the
consolidated
financial
position with
of thePhilippine
Group as Financial
at December
31, 2019
and 2018,
and its consolidated
December
31, 2019
in accordance
Reporting
Standards
(PFRSs).
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
Basis for Opinion
December
31, 2019 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs).
We conducted
our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs). Our
Basis
for Opinion
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
We
conducted
our audits
in accordance
with
Philippine
onare
Auditing
(PSAs).
OurGroup in
of the
Consolidated
Financial
Statements
section
of our Standards
report. We
independent
of the
responsibilities
thoseofstandards
further described
in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities
the Audit
accordance withunder
the Code
Ethics forare
Professional
Accountants
in the Philippines
(Code offor
Ethics)
of
the Consolidated
Financial
Statements
of ourtoreport.
Weofare
of financial
the Group in
together
with the ethical
requirements
thatsection
are relevant
our audit
theindependent
consolidated
accordance
with
Code of Ethics
Professional
Accountants
in the
Philippines (Code
of Ethics)
statements in
the the
Philippines,
and wefor
have
fulfilled our
other ethical
responsibilities
in accordance
with
together
with the ethical
requirements
that are
ourthe
audit
of evidence
the consolidated
these requirements
and the
Code of Ethics.
Werelevant
believetothat
audit
we havefinancial
obtained is
statements
in the
Philippines,
and we ahave
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
sufficient and
appropriate
to provide
basisfulfilled
for our our
opinion.
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
Emphasisand
of Matter
sufficient
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
We draw attention
to Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements which indicates that subsequent to
Emphasis
of Matter
December 31, 2019, the Philippine Government implemented travel ban to/from high-risk countries
We
drawaffected
attentionbytoCoronavirus
Note 35 to the
consolidated
financial statements
which indicates
that subsequent
severely
Disease
2019 (“COVID-19”)
which affected
the Group’s
catering andto
December
31, 2019,
the Philippine
implemented
travel ban As
to/from
high-risk
countries
groundhandling
services
to airlines Government
with flights to/from
these countries.
disclosed
in Note
35 to the
severely
affected
by Coronavirus
2019 (“COVID-19”)
which
affected
the Group’s
catering
and
consolidated
financial
statements,Disease
no adjustments
have been made
to the
consolidated
financial
statements
groundhandling
to airlines
with31,
flights
these countries.
As disclosed
in Noteis 35
as of and for the services
year ended
December
2019to/from
for the impacts
of COVID-19.
Our opinion
notto the
consolidated
financial
modified in respect
of statements,
this matter. no adjustments have been made to the consolidated financial statements
as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019 for the impacts of COVID-19. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.
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The Group’s
revenue from inflight and other catering services, ground handling and aviation, water, and
Revenue
Recognition
other services amounted to =
P2,905.5 million, P
=2,869.6 million, =
P347.6 million and =
P45.2 million,
The
Group’s
revenue
from
inflight
and other catering
services, total
ground
handling and
aviation,
and
comprise
47%,
47%, 5%
and
1%, respectively,
of the Group’s
consolidated
revenues
for water,
the year
other
amounted
to =
P
2,905.5
million,
=2,869.6
P
million,as
=
P347.6
and =
Pbecause
45.2 million,
endedservices
December
31, 2019.
We
considered
revenue
recognition
a key million
audit matter
of the
comprise
47%,
5%
and 1%,
of theprocessed,
Group’s total
consolidated
for the year
significant47%,
amount
and
volume
of respectively,
transactions being
transactions
withrevenues
service agreements
ended
31, 2019.and
Werisk
considered
revenuerevenue
recognition
a key audit
matter
because
the has
havingDecember
multiple elements,
of recognizing
in theasimproper
period.
Further,
theofGroup
significant
and
volumewhich
of transactions
processed,
transactions
with service agreements
a number ofamount
revenue
streams,
required abeing
Group-wide
assessment
of contracts.
having multiple elements, and risk of recognizing revenue in the improper period. Further, the Group has
to Notes
2 and streams,
3 to the consolidated
financial
statements
for the relevant
discussion of accounting
aRefer
number
of revenue
which required
a Group-wide
assessment
of contracts.
policy and a discussion of significant judgments and accounting estimates, and Note 19 to the
Refer
to Notes
2 and 3statements
to the consolidated
financial statements
for the relevant discussion of accounting
consolidated
financial
for the discussions
on revenue.
policy and a discussion of significant judgments and accounting estimates, and Note 19 to the
Audit Response
consolidated
financial statements for the discussions on revenue.
Audit
Response
We obtained
and updated our understanding of the Group’s revenue recognition process, the relevant
controls, and the related information system, including the determination of revenue adjustments. On a
We
obtained
andwe
updated
our the
understanding
of the Group’s
revenue
process,contracts
the relevant
sampling
basis,
compared
recorded revenue
during the
year torecognition
new and existing
and
controls,
the related
information
including
the determination
revenue
adjustments.
On a
reviewed and
whether
it is recognized
andsystem,
measured
in accordance
with PFRSof15,
Revenue
from Contracts
sampling
basis, we
recordedofrevenue
duringincluding
the year to
and existing
contracts andwhen
with Customers.
Wecompared
tested thethe
operation
key controls,
thenew
precision
set by management
reviewed
whether
it is
recognized
measured
in accordance
with
PFRS
15, Revenue
Contracts
performing
controls
involving
the and
review
of reports
and data. We
also
reviewed
sample from
manual
journal
with
Customers.
testedand
theinspected
operationthe
of underlying
key controls,
including the precision
set by basis,
management
entries
related to We
revenue
documentation.
On a sampling
we alsowhen
performing
involving
the review
of reports
and data. We
reviewedrecorded
sample manual
journal
obtained andcontrols
compared
the details
of discounts
and allowances
to also
the amounts
in the Group’s
entries
to revenue
andand
inspected
the underlying
documentation.
On a sampling
basis, weofalso
revenuerelated
information
system
to documents
such as contracts
with customers,
reconciliation
billings
obtained
and compared
the details
discounts
and allowances
to the amounts recorded in the Group’s
and collections
with customers,
andofother
memorandum
adjustments.
revenue information system and to documents such as contracts with customers, reconciliation of billings
and
collections of
with
customers,
and other
adjustments.
Recoverability
Trade
Receivables
frommemorandum
Related Parties
As
of Decemberof31,
2019,
the Group’s
trade
receivables
from related parties amounting to
Recoverability
Trade
Receivables
from
Related
Parties
=1,175.0 million, net of allowance for estimated credit losses of =
P
P4.4 million, account for 61% of the total
As
of December
31, 2019,
the Group’s
trade receivables
parties amounting
to
receivables
and contract
assets
of the Group.
The related from
party related
which comprises
the significant
portion of
=
P
1,175.0
million,
net of allowance
forincurring
estimatedlosses
creditresulting
losses ofto=
P4.4
million,
for working
61% of the
total
the
Group’s
total receivable
has been
a deficit
andaccount
a negative
capital.
receivables
and contract
assetsapproach
of the Group.
The related
party which
The Group applies
simplified
in calculating
expected
credit comprises
loss (ECL).the significant portion of
the Group’s total receivable has been incurring losses resulting to a deficit and a negative working capital.
The Group applies simplified approach in calculating expected credit loss (ECL).
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-3- 3 -matrix that is based on historical credit loss
Under this approach, the Group establishes a provision
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to debtors and the economic environment.
Under
this approach,
the Group establishes
a provisionfrom
matrix
that parties
is basedason
historical
credit loss
We
considered
the recoverability
of trade receivables
related
a key
audit matter
because
experience,
for forward-looking
factorsofspecific
to debtors
and thejudgment.
economicKey
environment.
the
use of theadjusted
ECL model
involves the exercise
significant
management
areas of
judgment include: segmenting the Group’s credit risk exposures; defining default; and incorporating
We considered the
recoverability
of trade receivables
from related parties as a key audit matter because
forward-looking
information
in calculating
ECL.
the use of the ECL model involves the exercise of significant management judgment. Key areas of
judgment
include:
segmenting
the Group’sfinancial
credit risk
exposures;
default;
and incorporating
Refer
to Notes
2 and
3 to the consolidated
statements
fordefining
the relevant
discussion
of accounting
forward-looking
information
in calculating
ECL.
policies
and significant
accounting
judgments,
and Notes 6 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements for the details of trade receivables from related parties and allowance for credit losses on trade
Refer to Notes
and 3 toparties.
the consolidated financial statements for the relevant discussion of accounting
receivables
from2 related
policies and significant accounting judgments, and Notes 6 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements
for the details of trade receivables from related parties and allowance for credit losses on trade
Audit
Response
receivables from related parties.
We obtained and updated our understanding of the methodologies and models used for the Group’s
Audit Response
different
credit exposures and assessed whether these considered the requirements of PFRS 9, Financial
Instruments, to reflect an unbiased and probability-weighted outcome and the best available forwardWe obtained
and updated
ourassessed
understanding
of thesegmentation
methodologies
models
for the based
Group’s
looking
information.
We (a)
the Group’s
of and
its credit
riskused
exposures
on
different credit
assessed whether
thesethe
considered
PFRS 9, analysis
Financialof
homogeneity
ofexposures
credit riskand
characteristics;
(b) tested
definitionthe
of requirements
default againstofhistorical
Instruments,
to reflect
unbiased
and
probability-weighted
outcome
and and
the best
available
forwardtrade
receivables
from an
related
parties
and
credit risk management
policies
practices
in place;
looking
Werates
(a) assessed
the Group’sfrom
segmentation
of its by
credit
risk exposures
based
on
(c)
testedinformation.
historical loss
of trade receivables
related parties
inspecting
historical
recoveries
homogeneity
credit
risk characteristics;
(b)oftested
the definition
of default
historicalaging
analysis of
and
write-offs;of(d)
checked
the classification
outstanding
exposures
to theiragainst
corresponding
trade receivables
from related
parties and credit
risk management
practices
in place;
buckets;
and (e) checked
the forward-looking
information
used forpolicies
overlayand
through
statistical
test and
(c) tested historical
ratesavailable
of trade receivables
related
parties by inspecting
historical
recoveries
corroboration
using loss
publicly
informationfrom
and our
understanding
of the Group’s
receivable
and write-offs;
(d) checked
the classification of outstanding exposures to their corresponding aging
portfolios
and industry
practices.
buckets; and (e) checked the forward-looking information used for overlay through statistical test and
Further,
on a sampling
basis, available
we checked
the data used
ECL models,ofsuch
the historical
aging
corroboration
using publicly
information
and in
ourthe
understanding
the as
Group’s
receivable
analysis
and
default
andpractices.
recovery data by reconciling the billings and invoices to the loss allowance
portfolios
and
industry
analysis/models and financial reporting systems. To the extent that the loss allowance analysis is based on
Further,
on a sampling
basis,
wedisaggregated
checked the data
in the
ECL
models,
such as the historical
aging
credit
exposures
that have
been
into used
subsets
with
similar
risk characteristics,
we traced
or
analysis and default
and recoveryfrom
datasource
by reconciling
thethe
billings
and invoices
to the loss
allowance
re-performed
the disaggregation
systems to
loss allowance
analysis.
We also
assessed
analysis/models
and financial
reporting
systems.
To the extent
that the loss allowance analysis is based on
the
assumptions used
where there
are missing
or insufficient
data.
credit exposures that have been disaggregated into subsets with similar risk characteristics, we traced or
We
also recalculated
impairment from
provisions
a sample
basis.
re-performed
the disaggregation
sourceon
systems
to the
loss allowance analysis. We also assessed
the assumptions used where there are missing or insufficient data.
Accounting for the Investment in Lufthansa Technik Philippines, Inc. (LTP)
We also recalculated impairment provisions on a sample basis.
The Company has a 49% investment in LTP, an associate, with a carrying value of P
=2,151.3 million as of
December
31,for
2019.
The investment
is accounted
for using
the equity
method.
Accounting
the Investment
in Lufthansa
Technik
Philippines,
Inc.
(LTP) We consider the
accounting for this investment as a key audit matter because of the significance of the Group’s share in
Thenet
Company
a 49%
investment
LTP, an
associate,
a carrying
valuenet
of income.
=2,151.3The
P
million
as of
the
income has
of LTP
amounting
to =
Pin1,010.6
million
in thewith
2019
consolidated
Group’s
December
The
is accounted
for using
theamount
equity of
method.
We consider
theand losses
share
in the31,
net2019.
income
of investment
LTP is significantly
affected
by the
provisions
for claims
accounting by
forLTP.
this investment
as a course
key audit
matter because
the significance
the Group’s
in
recognized
In the normal
of business,
LTP isofinvolved
in certainofclaims
by thirdshare
parties.
the net
income of LTP
amounting
to =
P1,010.6
in the 2019
The
The
determination
of whether
provision
shouldmillion
be recognized
and consolidated
the estimationnet
ofincome.
provision
forGroup’s
the
share inand
thelosses
net income
LTP is significantly
affected
by the amount of provisions for claims and losses
claims
requireofsignificant
management
judgment.
recognized by LTP. In the normal course of business, LTP is involved in certain claims by third parties.
The determination of whether provision should be recognized and the estimation of provision for the
claims and losses require significant management judgment.
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4Refer to Notes 2 and 3 to the consolidated financial-statements
for the relevant discussion of accounting
policy and a discussion of significant judgments, and Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements for
the discussions on the investment in LTP.
Refer to Notes 2 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements for the relevant discussion of accounting
Audit
policyResponse
and a discussion of significant judgments, and Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements for
We
inquired of LTP’s
the discussions
on the management
investment intheir
LTP.policies and procedures in assessing contingencies and in
determining the amounts to be recognized as provisions. We further inquired of LTP’s management about
Audit
Response
the
status
and potential exposures of significant claims and losses, progress of the claims and their
We inquiredofofthe
LTP’s
their
policiesthe
andminutes
procedures
in assessing
contingencies
and in and
assessment
likelymanagement
outcome. We
reviewed
of meeting
of LTP’s
Board of Directors
determining
the amounts
to be
recognized
as provisions.
Weof
further
inquired and
of LTP’s
management
other
documents
supporting
LTP
management’s
assessment
contingencies
the estimation
of about
the status and
potentialfor
exposures
of significant
and the
losses,
progress
of themanagement
claims and their
recognized
provisions
claims and
losses. Weclaims
evaluated
position
of LTP’s
on each of
assessment
of the
likely
Wethereviewed
minutes of
of LTP’s
of Directors
and
the
significant
claims
by outcome.
considering
relevantthe
documents
andmeeting
information.
We Board
reviewed
the
other documents
supporting
LTP management’s
assessment
contingencies
and16,
theLeases
estimation
of
application
by LTP
of the accounting
policy in relation
to theofadoption
of PFRS
and the
recognizedwith
provisions
for claims
and losses. We evaluated the position of LTP’s management on each of
alignment
the Group’s
policy.
the significant claims by considering the relevant documents and information. We reviewed the
application
by LTPthe
ofcalculation
the accounting
policy
intake
relation
the adoption
of PFRS
16,asLeases
and the
We
also reviewed
of the
equity
up intoearnings
of LTP,
as well
the related
note
alignment with
the Group’s
disclosures
on investment
inpolicy.
associate.
We also reviewed
calculationofofInvestment
the equity in
take
in earnings of LTP, as well as the related note
Accounting
for thethe
Acquisition
anup
Associate
disclosures on investment in associate.
In 2019, the Company acquired 30% ownership in Japan Airport Services Co. Ltd. (JASCO), from
Accounting
for theGroup
Acquisition
of Investment
in an
Associateto =
Konoike
Transport
for a cash
consideration
amounting
P853.8 million. This resulted to
recognition of investment in associate which includes provisional goodwill amounting to =
P799.1 million.
In 2019, the Company acquired 30% ownership in Japan Airport Services Co. Ltd. (JASCO), from
Konoike
Transport
Group for a as
cash
consideration
to =
P
853.8 million.
This
resultedto
tothe
We
considered
the transactions
a key
audit matteramounting
because the
amounts
involved
is material
recognition offinancial
investment
in associate
which
includes provisional
goodwill
to =
P799.1
million.
consolidated
statements
and the
identification
of the acquired
assetsamounting
and liabilities
and the
determination of their fair values involved the use of judgment and estimates.
We considered the transactions as a key audit matter because the amounts involved is material to the
consolidated
statements and
the identification
and liabilities
and the
Refer
to Notefinancial
2 to the consolidated
financial
statements of
forthe
theacquired
relevant assets
discussion
of accounting
policy
determination
of10
their
fairconsolidated
values involved
the use
of judgment
anddiscussion
estimates. related to the investment in
and
Notes 9 and
to the
financial
statements
for the
JASCO.
Refer to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements for the relevant discussion of accounting policy
and Notes
9 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements for the discussion related to the investment in
Audit
Response
JASCO.
We read the key agreements related to the transactions, that is, the share purchase agreements and
Audit Response
shareholders
agreements. We evaluated the Group’s accounting treatment of the transactions.
We obtained
read the key
agreements related
the transactions,
that
is, the share
and
We
an understanding
of thetoGroup’s
provisional
purchase
price purchase
allocationagreements
process which
shareholders
agreements. ofWe
theofGroup’s
accounting
treatment
of thereviewed
transactions.
includes
the identification
theevaluated
fair values
the net assets
acquired.
We have
the
measurement of the fair value of the net assets made by the Group. We also evaluated the presentation
We the
obtained
an understanding
of the in
Group’s
provisionalfinancial
purchasestatements.
price allocation process which
and
disclosure
of the transactions
the consolidated
includes the identification of the fair values of the net assets acquired. We have reviewed the
measurementTesting
of the fair
value of the
net assetsAssets
madewith
by the
Group. We
alsoLife
evaluated
the presentation
Impairment
of Goodwill,
Intangible
Indefinite
Useful
and Service
Concession
and the disclosure of the transactions in the consolidated financial statements.
Right
Impairment
Testing
of Goodwill,
Intangible
Assets
with Indefinite
Useful
Life and
Service
Concession
As
at December
31, 2019,
the Group’s
goodwill
attributable
to the cash
generating
units
(CGUs)
that are
Right to benefit from the business combination, the intangible assets with indefinite useful life (right
expected
to use assets) and the service concession right of SNV Resources Development Corporation (SNVRDC)
As at December
31, million.
2019, theUnder
Group’s
goodwill
attributable
to thetocash
generating
units (CGUs)
that are
amounted
to =
P726.7
PFRSs,
the Group
is required
annually
test goodwill
and intangible
expected to benefit from the business combination, the intangible assets with indefinite useful life (right
to use assets) and the service concession right of SNV Resources Development Corporation (SNVRDC)
amounted to =
P726.7 million. Under PFRSs, the Group is required to annually test goodwill and intangible
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assets with indefinite useful life. Further, PFRSs require
- 5 - that the Group should assess at the end of each
reporting period whether there is an indication that an asset is impaired. If such indication exists, the
Group should estimate the recoverable amount of the asset.
assets with indefinite useful life. Further, PFRSs require that the Group should assess at the end of each
We considered
impairment
testing
of goodwill,
intangible
assets withIfindefinite
useful exists,
life andthe
service
reporting
periodthe
whether
there is
an indication
that an
asset is impaired.
such indication
concession
right
as a key
matter because
amounts
Group
should
estimate
theaudit
recoverable
amountthe
of the
asset. involved are material to the consolidated
financial statements and the management’s impairment assessment process requires significant judgment
and considered
is based on the
assumptions,
the forecasted
volume
of annual
water consumption,
tariffservice
rate
We
impairmentspecifically
testing of goodwill,
intangible
assets
with indefinite
useful life and
and discountright
rate.as a key audit matter because the amounts involved are material to the consolidated
concession
financial statements and the management’s impairment assessment process requires significant judgment
Refer
Notes
and 3 to the consolidated
financial
statements
relevant
policy
andrate
a
and is to
based
on2assumptions,
specifically the
forecasted
volumefor
of the
annual
wateraccounting
consumption,
tariff
discussion
of rate.
significant judgments, and Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements for the detailed
and
discount
disclosure on goodwill, intangible assets with indefinite useful life and service concession right.
Refer to Notes 2 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements for the relevant accounting policy and a
Audit Response
discussion
of significant judgments, and Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements for the detailed
disclosure on goodwill, intangible assets with indefinite useful life and service concession right.
We obtained an understanding of the Group’s impairment process and related controls. We involved our
internal
specialist in evaluating the methodologies and the assumptions used. These assumptions include
Audit Response
volume of water consumption, tariff rate and discount rates used. We compared the key assumptions used
suchobtained
as forecasted
volume of water
against the
historical
We inquired
fromour
We
an understanding
of theconsumption
Group’s impairment
process
and information.
related controls.
We involved
management
and operations
personnel
about the plans
the forecast
revenue.
internal
specialist
in evaluating
the methodologies
and to
thesupport
assumptions
used. These
assumptions include
volume of water consumption, tariff rate and discount rates used. We compared the key assumptions used
We tested
the parameters
in theconsumption
determination
of thethe
discount
rates
against market
data. Wefrom
also
such
as forecasted
volumeused
of water
against
historical
information.
We inquired
reviewed the and
Group’s
disclosures
aboutabout
thosethe
assumptions
to which
outcome
of the impairment test is
management
operations
personnel
plans to support
thethe
forecast
revenue.
most sensitive; specifically those that have the most significant effect on the determination of the
recoverable
amount
of goodwill,
assets and
service
concession
right. market data. We also
We tested the
parameters
used in intangible
the determination
of the
discount
rates against
reviewed the Group’s disclosures about those assumptions to which the outcome of the impairment test is
Adoption
of PFRS
16, Leases
most
sensitive;
specifically
those that have the most significant effect on the determination of the
recoverable amount of goodwill, intangible assets and service concession right.
Effective January 1, 2019, the Group adopted PFRS 16, under the full retrospective approach which
resulted inofsignificant
Adoption
PFRS 16,changes
Leases in the Group’s accounting policy for leases.
We considered
the1,Group’s
adoption
PFRS PFRS
16 as a16,
key
auditthe
matter
because the recorded
Effective
January
2019, the
Group of
adopted
under
full retrospective
approachamounts
which are
material
to significant
the consolidated
financial
statements
and the adoption
resulted in
changes
in the Group’s
accounting
policy forinvolves
leases. application of significant
judgment and estimation in determining the lease term, including evaluating whether the Group is
reasonably
certain
exercise
optionsof
toPFRS
extend16orasterminate
the matter
lease orbecause
to purchase
the underlying
We
considered
the to
Group’s
adoption
a key audit
the recorded
amountsasset,
are
and
in determining
the incremental
borrowing
rate.
resulted to
the restatement
of of
thesignificant
material
to the consolidated
financial
statements
andThis
the adoption
involves
application
Decemberand
31, estimation
2018 and January
1, 2018 balances
recognize
right-of-use
assets
amounting
to is
judgment
in determining
the lease to
term,
including
evaluating
whether
the Group
=534.0 million
P
andto=
P507.2
million,
nettoinvestment
in the lease
=1,169.1the
P
million
and asset,
reasonably
certain
exercise
options
extend or terminate
theamounting
lease or totopurchase
underlying
=1,167.2
P
million, lease
liability amounting
to =
P
1,743.5
and
=
P1,700.0
million,
and
in determining
the incremental
borrowing
rate.
Thismillion
resulted
to the
restatement
of and
the the decrease in
the beginning
P2018
257.8balances
million to
and
=
P261.0 million,
respectively.
December
31, retained
2018 andearnings
Januaryby
1, =
recognize
right-of-use
assets amounting to
=534.0 million and =
P
P507.2 million, net investment in the lease amounting to P
=1,169.1 million and
Refer
to Notes
2 and
3 to
the consolidated
statements
adoptionmillion,
of PFRS
16the
applied
by the
=
P
1,167.2
million,
lease
liability
amountingfinancial
to =
P1,743.5
millionfor
andthe=
P1,700.0
and
decrease
in
Group,
the relevant
accounting
policy
and million
a discussion
significant
and Note 28 for the
the
beginning
retained
earnings by
=
P257.8
and =
Pof
261.0
million,judgments,
respectively.
detailed disclosures of the lease arrangements.
Refer to Notes 2 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements for the adoption of PFRS 16 applied by the
Group, the relevant accounting policy and a discussion of significant judgments, and Note 28 for the
detailed disclosures of the lease arrangements.
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We obtained an understanding of the Group’s process in implementing the new standard on leases,
including
the determination of the population of the lease contracts covered by PFRS 16, the application
Audit
Response
of the short-term and low value assets exemption, the selection of the transition approach and any election
of
expedients.
test basis,
we inspected
lease agreements
(i.e., lease
Weavailable
obtainedpractical
an understanding
of On
the aGroup’s
process
in implementing
the new standard
onagreements
leases,
existing prior
to the adoptionofofthe
PFRS
16 and of
new
identified
their contractual
terms
including
the determination
population
thelease
leaseagreements),
contracts covered
by PFRS
16, the application
andthe
conditions,
theseassets
contractual
terms the
andselection
conditions
lease calculation
by
of
short-termand
andtraced
low value
exemption,
of to
thethe
transition
approach prepared
and any election
management,
which covers
the calculation
of financial
impact of
PFRS
16, including
the transition
of
available practical
expedients.
On a test basis,
we inspected
lease
agreements
(i.e., lease
agreements
adjustments.
selected
lease
renewal
termination
option,
we contractual
reviewed the
existing
prior For
to the
adoption
of contracts
PFRS 16 with
and new
leaseand/or
agreements),
identified
their
terms
management’s
of whether
it is reasonably
that to
thethe
Group
exerciseprepared
the option
and conditions,assessment
and traced these
contractual
terms andcertain
conditions
leasewill
calculation
byto
renew or not exercise
the option
to terminate.
We tested
the parameters
used
in the determination
management,
which covers
the calculation
of financial
impact
of PFRS 16,
including
the transitionof the
incremental borrowing
ratelease
by reference
market
data.and/or
We test
computedoption,
the lease
prepared
adjustments.
For selected
contractstowith
renewal
termination
wecalculation
reviewed the
by
managementassessment
on a sample
including
the transition
adjustments.
management’s
ofbasis,
whether
it is reasonably
certain
that the Group will exercise the option to
renew or not exercise the option to terminate. We tested the parameters used in the determination of the
We reviewedborrowing
the disclosures
to leases,
including
adjustments,
on the prepared
incremental
rate byrelated
reference
to market
data. the
Wetransition
test computed
the leasebased
calculation
requirements
of PFRS
16 andbasis,
PAS including
8, Accounting
Policies, adjustments.
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.
by
management
on a sample
the transition
Other
Information
We
reviewed
the disclosures related to leases, including the transition adjustments, based on the
requirements of PFRS 16 and PAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Philippine
Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC) Form 17-A for the year ended December 31, 2019,
Other Information
SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement) and Annual Report for the year ended
December 31,is2019,
which are
be made available
to us
after the date
of this the
auditor’s
report.
Management
responsible
for expected
the other to
information.
The other
information
comprises
Philippine
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Form 17-A for the year ended December 31, 2019,
Our opinion
on the
consolidated
financialStatement)
statements and
doesAnnual
not cover
the other
SEC
Form 20-IS
(Definitive
Information
Report
for theinformation
year endedand we do not
and
will not31,
express
form
assurance
conclusion
thereon.to us after the date of this auditor’s report.
December
2019, any
which
areofexpected
to be
made available
In
audits of the
consolidated
financial
statements,
responsibility
to read
thenot
Ourconnection
opinion onwith
the our
consolidated
financial
statements
does not
cover theour
other
informationisand
we do
otherwill
information
identified
above
when it becomes
available
and
not express
any form
of assurance
conclusion
thereon.and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained
in thewith
audits,
otherwise
to be materially
misstated. our responsibility is to read the
In connection
ouror
audits
of theappears
consolidated
financial statements,
other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other
Responsibilities
of Management
andwith
Those
withfinancial
Governance
for the
information is materially
inconsistent
the Charged
consolidated
statements
or Consolidated
our knowledge
FinancialinStatements
obtained
the audits, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
Management
is responsible
for theand
preparation
and fair presentation
of the consolidated
financial
Responsibilities
of Management
Those Charged
with Governance
for the Consolidated
statementsStatements
in accordance with PFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is
Financial
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement,iswhether
due to
or error. and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
Management
responsible
forfraud
the preparation
statements in accordance with PFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is
In
preparing
the consolidated
financial
statements, management
is responsible
assessing
the Group’s
necessary
to enable
the preparation
of consolidated
financial statements
that arefor
free
from material
ability to continue
as a due
going
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
misstatement,
whether
to concern,
fraud or error.
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to
cease
operations,
or has no realistic
alternative
but to
do so.
In
preparing
the consolidated
financial
statements,
management
is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
Those
charged
governance
responsible
for management
overseeing the
Group’s
financial
reporting
process.
using the
goingwith
concern
basis of are
accounting
unless
either
intends
to liquidate
the Group
or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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-7-7Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
Auditor’s
Responsibilities
the Audit ofwhether
the Consolidated
Statements
whole are free
from materialfor
misstatement,
due to fraudFinancial
or error, and
to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
Our
obtain reasonable
assurance
about
whether
the consolidated
financial
auditobjectives
conductedare
in to
accordance
with PSAs
will always
detect
a material
misstatement
when statements
it exists. as a
whole
are
free
from
material
misstatement,
whether
due
to
fraud
or
error,
and
to
issue
an
auditor’s
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the report
that
includes
ourcould
opinion.
Reasonable
assurance
is a high level
of assurance,
but isofnot
a guarantee
aggregate,
they
reasonably
be expected
to influence
the economic
decisions
users
taken on that
the an
audit
conducted
in
accordance
with
PSAs
will
always
detect
a
material
misstatement
when
it
exists.
basis of these consolidated financial statements.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate,
they
could
reasonably be
expected
to influence
the economicjudgment
decisionsand
of maintain
users taken on the
As part of an
audit
in accordance
with
PSAs, we
exercise professional
basis
of
these
consolidated
financial
statements.
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
As
of anand
audit
in accordance
PSAs,misstatement
we exercise professional
judgment
and maintain
· part
Identify
assess
the risks ofwith
material
of the consolidated
financial
statements,
professional
skepticism
throughout
the
audit.
We
also:
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
·

·
·
·
··
·

·
·
·

obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
Identify
and assess
the risks
of material
misstatement
of theisconsolidated
financial
statements,
not detecting
a material
misstatement
resulting
from fraud
higher than for
one resulting
from error,
whether
due
to
fraud
or
error,
design
and
perform
audit
procedures
responsive
to
those
risks,
and of
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override
obtain
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
internalaudit
control.
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraudanmay
involve collusion,
forgery,
intentional
or theprocedures
override of
Obtain
understanding
of internal
control
relevant omissions,
to the auditmisrepresentations,
in order to design audit
internal
control.
that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that
are appropriate
in the circumstances,
butpolicies
not forused
the purpose
expressing anofopinion
on the
Evaluate
the appropriateness
of accounting
and the of
reasonableness
accounting
effectiveness
of
the
Group’s
internal
control.
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Evaluate
of accounting
policiesuse
used
reasonableness
Concludethe
on appropriateness
the appropriateness
of management’s
ofand
the the
going
concern basisofofaccounting
accounting and,
estimates
andaudit
related
disclosures
madewhether
by management.
based on the
evidence
obtained,
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
Conclude
on that
the appropriateness
of management’s
userequired
of the going
concern
basisinofour
accounting
we conclude
a material uncertainty
exists, we are
to draw
attention
auditor’s and,
based
the related
audit evidence
obtained,
a material
uncertainty
exists
related
to events orare
report on
to the
disclosures
in the whether
consolidated
financial
statements
or, if
such disclosures
conditions
may cast
doubtconclusions
on the Group’s
ability
continue
as a going
concern.
If
inadequate,that
to modify
oursignificant
opinion. Our
are based
ontothe
audit evidence
obtained
up to
we
conclude
that
a
material
uncertainty
exists,
we
are
required
to
draw
attention
in
our
auditor’s
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
report
to theasrelated
disclosures
to continue
a going
concern. in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date oftheour
auditor’s
report. However,
eventsof
orthe
conditions
may cause
the statements,
Group to cease
Evaluate
overall
presentation,
structurefuture
and content
consolidated
financial
to
continuethe
asdisclosures,
a going concern.
including
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

- 8a- statement that we have complied with relevant
We also provide those charged with governance with
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
We
also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
safeguards.
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters
may reasonably
be thought
to bear
on our
independence,
applicable,
relatedthat
From thethat
matters
communicated
with those
charged
with
governance,and
we where
determine
those matters
safeguards.
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and

are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
From
the matters
communicated
with those
with
we determine
those matters we
that
regulation
precludes
public disclosure
aboutcharged
the matter
orgovernance,
when, in extremely
rare circumstances,
were
of most
in thenot
audit
of the consolidated
statements
the current
period and
determine
thatsignificance
a matter should
be communicated
in ourfinancial
report because
the of
adverse
consequences
of
are
therefore
thereasonably
key audit matters.
We to
describe
these
our auditor’s
unless
law or
doing
so would
be expected
outweigh
thematters
public in
interest
benefitsreport
of such
communication.
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine
that a matter
be resulting
communicated
in our report auditor’s
because the
adverse
consequences
of
The engagement
partnershould
on thenot
audit
in the independent
report
is Josephine
H. Estomo.
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
The
engagement
on the
SYCIP
GORRESpartner
VELAYO
& audit
CO. resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Josephine H. Estomo.
SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.
Josephine H. Estomo
Partner
CPA Certificate No. 46349
Josephine
H. Estomo
SEC Accreditation
No. 0078-AR-5 (Group A),
Partner
June 11, 2019, valid until June 10, 2022
CPA
Certificate No.
46349
Tax Identification
No.
102-086-208
SEC
Accreditation
No.
0078-AR-5
(Group A),
BIR AccredizNtation No.
08-001998-18-2018,
June
11,
2019,
valid
until
June
10,
2022 25, 2021
February 26, 2018, valid until February
Tax
102-086-208
PTRIdentification
No. 8125236,No.
January
7, 2020, Makati City
BIR AccredizNtation No. 08-001998-18-2018,
February
March
6, 202026, 2018, valid until February 25, 2021
PTR No. 8125236, January 7, 2020, Makati City
March 6, 2020

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including
the disclosures,
andaudit
whether
the consolidated
financial
statements
represent
underlying
Obtain sufficient
appropriate
evidence
regarding the
financial
information
of the the
entities
or
transactions
and
events
in
a
manner
that
achieves
fair
presentation.
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

·We are
Obtain
sufficientforappropriate
audit
evidence regarding
the financial
of the entities
responsible
the direction,
supervision
and performance
of theinformation
audit. We remain
solely or
business
activities
within
the
Group
to
express
an
opinion
on
the
consolidated
financial
statements.
responsible for our audit opinion.
We
responsiblewith
for those
the direction,
and performance
of the other
audit. matters,
We remain
solely scope
We are
communicate
charged supervision
with governance
regarding, among
the planned
responsible
forthe
ouraudit
auditand
opinion.
and timing of
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.
A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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MACROASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
MACROASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31
2019
December
31

Inventories
7)
Noncurrent(Note
Assets
Input
taxes and
other current
assets
Investments
in associates
(Note
9) (Note 8)
Total Current
Assets
Property,
plant and
equipment (Note 12)
Net investment in lease (Note 28)
Noncurrent Assets
Right-of-use assets (Note 28)
Investments in associates (Note 9)
Investment property (Note 13)
Property, plant and equipment (Note 12)
Service concession right (Note 14)
Net investment in lease (Note 28)
Intangible assets and goodwill (Notes 10 and 14)
Right-of-use assets (Note 28)
Input taxes - net (Note 8)
Investment property (Note 13)
Deferred income tax assets - net (Notes 10 and 25)
Service concession right (Note 14)
Other noncurrent assets (Notes 15, 18, 21 and 28)
Intangible assets and goodwill (Notes 10 and 14)
Total
Noncurrent
Assets
Input taxes
- net (Note
8)

December 31
31
December
December 31
2018
(As restated,
Notes
2 and10)
December
31

January 1
2018
(As restated,
Note 2)
January
1

105,978,871
348,491,609
3,087,533,060
3,599,852,677
2,561,076,769
1,171,844,192
499,566,989
3,087,533,060
143,852,303
2,561,076,769
424,608,123
1,171,844,192
302,112,383
499,566,989
262,173,286
143,852,303
51,897,998
424,608,123
383,451,244
302,112,383
8,888,116,347
262,173,286

2018
2018
(As restated,
(As restated,
Notes 2 and10)
Note 2)
=675,196,833
P
=913,191,924
P
900,423,623
697,822,309
88,774,310
79,120,917
188,870,957
136,891,276
=675,196,833
P
=913,191,924
P
1,853,265,723
900,423,623 1,827,026,426
697,822,309
88,774,310
79,120,917
188,870,957 1,825,414,378
136,891,276
2,285,668,180
1,853,265,723 1,145,108,621
1,827,026,426
2,065,540,597
1,169,089,704 1,167,217,957
533,951,574
507,187,809
2,285,668,180 1,825,414,378
143,852,303
143,852,303
2,065,540,597 1,145,108,621
429,702,669
402,916,926
1,169,089,704 1,167,217,957
273,394,445
239,500,593
533,951,574
507,187,809
236,403,791
138,621,708
143,852,303
143,852,303
25,331,291
22,653,073
429,702,669
402,916,926
546,492,575
410,023,630
273,394,445
239,500,593
7,709,427,129
236,403,791 6,002,496,998
138,621,708

48,029,160
2,767,054,864
5,650,125,870

44,795,967
2,610,039,440
3,964,305,980

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 5, 18, 22 and 23)
ASSETS and contract assets (Notes 6, 15, 18 and 23)
Receivables
Inventories (Note 7)
Current Assets
Input taxes and other current assets (Note 8)
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 5, 18, 22 and 23)
Total
Current
Receivables
andAssets
contract assets (Notes 6, 15, 18 and 23)

-- 22 --

2019
P1,219,639,428
=
1,925,742,769
105,978,871
348,491,609
=1,219,639,428
P
3,599,852,677
1,925,742,769

2019
2019
Equity attributable
attributable to
to equity
equity holders
holders of
of the
the Company
Company
Equity
Capital stock
stock -- =
P11 par
par value
value (Note
(Note 27)
27)
Capital
P=
Additional paid-in
paid-in capital
capital
Additional
Other reserves
reserves (Note
(Note 27)
27)
Other
Other components
components of
of equity
equity (Notes
(Notes 9,
9, 15
15 and
and 21)
21)
Other
Retained earnings
earnings (Note
(Note 27)
27)
Retained
Treasury shares
shares (Note
(Note 27)
27)
Treasury
Non-controlling interests
interests (Note
(Note 11)
11)
Non-controlling
Total Equity
Equity
Total
TOTAL LIABILITIES
LIABILITIES AND
AND EQUITY
EQUITY
TOTAL

=1,618,146,293
1,618,146,293
PP
=
281,437,118
281,437,118
1,030,075,272
1,030,075,272
(159,952,483)
(159,952,483)
4,081,275,526
4,081,275,526
(426,826,835)
(426,826,835)
6,424,154,891
6,424,154,891
413,688,263
413,688,263
6,837,843,154
6,837,843,154

December 31
31
December
2018
2018
(As restated,
restated,
(As
Note 2)
2)
Note

January 11
January
2018
2018
(As restated,
restated,
(As
Note 22 ))
Note

=1,618,146,293
1,618,146,293
PP
=
281,437,118
281,437,118
143,299,677
143,299,677
98,146,690
98,146,690
3,270,479,831
3,270,479,831
(176,215,402)
(176,215,402)
5,235,294,207
5,235,294,207
363,092,665
363,092,665
5,598,386,872
5,598,386,872

=1,250,000,000
1,250,000,000
PP
=
281,437,118
281,437,118
143,299,677
143,299,677
(98,821,397)
(98,821,397)
2,587,383,549
2,587,383,549
(113,676,300)
(113,676,300)
4,049,622,647
4,049,622,647
319,338,507
319,338,507
4,368,961,154
4,368,961,154

=12,487,969,024
12,487,969,024 P
=9,562,692,852
9,562,692,852 P
=7,829,523,424
7,829,523,424
PP
=
=P
=P

See accompanying
accompanying Notes
Notes to
to Consolidated
Consolidated Financial
Financial Statements.
Statements.
See

Deferred
income tax assets - net (Notes 10 and 25)
51,897,998 =
25,331,291 P
22,653,073
TOTAL ASSETS
=12,487,969,024
P
P9,562,692,852
=7,829,523,424
Other noncurrent assets (Notes 15, 18, 21 and 28)
383,451,244
546,492,575
410,023,630
Total Noncurrent Assets
8,888,116,347 7,709,427,129 6,002,496,998
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
TOTAL ASSETS
=12,487,969,024 P
P
=9,562,692,852 =
P7,829,523,424
Current Liabilities
Notes payable (Notes 16, 18, 22 and 23)
P
=575,000,000
=348,450,000
P
P207,700,866
=
LIABILITIES
AND
Accounts
payable
andEQUITY
accrued liabilities
(Notes 17, 18, 23 and 28)
1,750,913,920
868,237,174
643,391,773
Current Liabilities
Income tax payable
14,004,966
16,855,640
8,172,218
Notes payable (Notes 16, 18, 22 and 23)
P
=575,000,000
=348,450,000
P
=207,700,866
P
Dividends payable (Note 27)
35,928,020
21,234,024
180,660,640
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Current portion of long - term debts (Notes 16, 18, 22, and 23)
482,536,067
77,009,744
434,634,202
(Notes 17, 18, 23 and 28)
1,750,913,920
868,237,174
643,391,773
Current portion of lease liabilities (Note 28)
24,688,033
22,479,958
21,355,961
Income tax payable
14,004,966
16,855,640
8,172,218
Total
Current
Liabilities
2,883,071,006
1,354,266,540
1,495,915,660
Dividends payable (Note 27)
35,928,020
21,234,024
180,660,640
Current portion
of long - term debts (Notes 16, 18, 22, and 23)
482,536,067
77,009,744
434,634,202
Noncurrent
Liabilities
Current
portion
lease
(Note (Notes
28)
24,688,033
22,479,958
21,355,961
Long-term
debtsof- net
ofliabilities
current portion
16, 18,
Total22Current
2,883,071,006
and 23) Liabilities
784,399,498 1,354,266,540
676,516,177 1,495,915,660
77,975,743
Lease liabilities - net of current portion (Note 28)
1,698,736,101 1,721,063,375 1,678,653,506
Noncurrent Liabilities
Accrued retirement and other employee benefits payable
Long-term debts - net of current portion (Notes 16, 18,
(Note 21)
93,089,694
29,053,471
28,974,452
22 and 23)
784,399,498
676,516,177
77,975,743
Deferred income tax liabilities - net (Notes 10, 15 and 25)
142,800,411
138,610,450
125,193,265
Lease liabilities - net of current portion (Note 28)
1,698,736,101 1,721,063,375 1,678,653,506
Other noncurrent liabilities (Note 18)
48,029,160
44,795,967
53,849,644
Accrued retirement and other employee benefits payable
Total(Note
Noncurrent
Liabilities
2,767,054,864
2,610,039,440
1,964,646,610
21)
93,089,694
29,053,471
28,974,452
Total
Liabilities
5,650,125,870
Deferred
income tax liabilities - net (Notes 10, 15 and 25)
142,800,411 3,964,305,980
138,610,450 3,460,562,270
125,193,265
Other noncurrent liabilities (Note 18)
(Forward)
Total Noncurrent Liabilities
Total Liabilities

53,849,644
1,964,646,610
3,460,562,270

(Forward)
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MACROASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
MACROASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

2019
REVENUE (Note 19)
In-flight and other catering (Note 18)
Ground handling and aviation (Note 18)
Water
REVENUE (Note 19)
Administrative
(Note
18) (Note 18)
In-flight and other
catering
Exploratory
drilling
(Note(Note
28) 18)
Ground handling
andfees
aviation

Water
DIRECT
COSTS
(Notes
Administrative
(Note
18) 19 and 28)
In-flight
anddrilling
other catering
Exploratory
fees (Note 28)
Ground handling and aviation
Water
related
expenses
(Note
10) 28)
DIRECT
COSTS
(Notes
19 and
Administrative
In-flight and other catering
Exploratory
drilling
Ground handling
andexpense
aviation
Water related expenses (Note 10)
GROSS
PROFIT
Administrative
SHARE
IN drilling
NET EARNINGS
Exploratory
expense OF ASSOCIATES (Note 9)
OPERATING
EXPENSES (Note 20)
GROSS PROFIT
SHARE IN NET EARNINGS OF ASSOCIATES (Note 9)
OTHER
INCOME
(CHARGES)
OPERATING
EXPENSES
(Note (Note
20) 22)
Interest income (Notes 5, 15, 18, and 28)
Financing charges (Notes 16, 18 and 28)
Foreign
gain
- net (Note 22)
OTHERexchange
INCOME
(CHARGES)
(Note 22)
Other
Interestincome
income- net
(Notes 5, 15, 18, and 28)

Financing charges (Notes 16, 18 and 28)
INCOME
BEFORE
Foreign exchange
gainINCOME
- net (NoteTAX
22)
Other
income -FOR
net INCOME TAX (Note 25)
PROVISION
Current
INCOME
Deferred BEFORE INCOME TAX

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 25)
NET
INCOME
Current
Deferred
Net income attributable to:
holders of the Company
NETEquity
INCOME
Non-controlling interests (Note 11)
Net income attributable to:
Basic/Diluted
Earnings
Share* (Note 26)
Equity holders
of thePer
Company
Non-controlling interests (Note 11)
*After retroactive effect of 30% stock dividends in 2018.

Basic/Diluted Earnings Per Share* (Note 26)
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

P
=2,905,490,152
2019
2,869,563,325
347,597,854
29,742,058
P
=2,905,490,152
15,437,718
2,869,563,325
6,167,831,107
347,597,854
29,742,058
2,077,705,460
15,437,718
2,424,663,739
6,167,831,107
245,470,437
43,681,283
2,077,705,460
24,338,456
2,424,663,739
4,815,859,375
245,470,437
1,351,971,732
43,681,283
1,077,260,403
24,338,456
2,429,232,135
4,815,859,375
1,038,520,689
1,351,971,732
1,077,260,403
1,390,711,446
2,429,232,135
1,038,520,689
11,775,315
1,390,711,446
(88,377,257)
17,452,614
53,805,137
11,775,315
(5,344,191)
(88,377,257)
1,385,367,255
17,452,614
53,805,137
(5,344,191)
193,978,703
1,385,367,255
(2,637,521)
191,341,182
P
=1,194,026,073
193,978,703
(2,637,521)
191,341,182
P
=1,129,066,014
1,194,026,073
64,960,059
P
=1,194,026,073
P
=0.71
P
=1,129,066,014
64,960,059
P
=1,194,026,073
P
=0.71

Years Ended December 31
2017
2018
(As restated,
(As restated,
NotesEnded
2 and 10)
Years
December 31 Note 2)

2018
(As restated,
P1,663,770,983
=
Notes 2 and 10)
1,463,947,551
271,043,164
27,857,712
=1,663,770,983
P
−
1,463,947,551
3,426,619,410
271,043,164
27,857,712
1,102,589,553
−
1,175,549,990
3,426,619,410
246,621,272
60,958,179
1,102,589,553
13,666,586
1,175,549,990
2,599,385,580
246,621,272
827,233,830
60,958,179
1,070,014,588
13,666,586
1,897,248,418
2,599,385,580
710,712,348
827,233,830
1,070,014,588
1,186,536,070
1,897,248,418
710,712,348
11,076,601
1,186,536,070
(51,353,800)
27,414,886
29,766,123
11,076,601
16,903,810
(51,353,800)
1,203,439,880
27,414,886
29,766,123
16,903,810
122,041,967
1,203,439,880
(4,702,321)
117,339,646
=1,086,100,234
P
122,041,967
(4,702,321)
117,339,646
=1,051,242,575
P
1,086,100,234
34,857,659
=1,086,100,234
P
=0.66
P
=1,051,242,575
P
34,857,659
=1,086,100,234
P
=0.66
P

2017
(As restated,
P1,541,000,353
=
Note 2)
1,031,617,643
142,646,814
28,265,705
=1,541,000,353
P
27,259,722
1,031,617,643
2,770,790,237
142,646,814
28,265,705
1,006,099,235
27,259,722
807,477,254
2,770,790,237
124,415,505
19,484,610
1,006,099,235
27,433,991
807,477,254
1,984,910,595
124,415,505
785,879,642
19,484,610
978,508,908
27,433,991
1,764,388,550
1,984,910,595
601,428,734
785,879,642
978,508,908
1,162,959,816
1,764,388,550
601,428,734
8,482,346
1,162,959,816
(33,153,279)
3,879,132
40,408,759
8,482,346
19,616,958
(33,153,279)
1,182,576,774
3,879,132
40,408,759
19,616,958
118,556,863
1,182,576,774
(2,133,831)
116,423,032
=1,066,153,742
P
118,556,863
(2,133,831)
116,423,032
=1,022,721,639
P
1,066,153,742
43,432,103
=1,066,153,742
P
=0.64
P
=1,022,721,639
P
43,432,103
=1,066,153,742
P
=0.64
P

MACROASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
MACROASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

NET INCOME

Years Ended December 31
2018
2017
(As restated,
(As restated,
Years Ended
2019
Notes 2December
and 10) 31
Note 2)
2018
2017
(As restated, P
(As restated,
=1,194,026,073 P
P
=1,086,100,234
=1,066,153,742
2019 Notes 2 and 10)
Note 2)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) - Net
NET INCOME
P1,194,026,073 P
=1,086,100,234
Other
comprehensive income (loss) to be reclassified to profit =
or loss in subsequent periods:
Changes
in fair value of debtINCOME
securities (LOSS) - Net
OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE
held at FVTOCI
(Note
15) to be reclassified to profit
−
(2,092,938)
Other comprehensive
income
(loss)
Cumulative
unrealizedperiods:
loss on fair value changes on debt
or loss in subsequent
securities
profit
or loss (Note 15)
−
6,846,940
Changes
in fairrecycled
value oftodebt
securities
Changes
value (Note
of AFS
investments (Note 15)
−
−
held in
at fair
FVTOCI
15)
(2,092,938)
Net foreign currency
translation
adjustments
(Noteon9)debt
(100,669,833)
106,010,813
Cumulative
unrealized
loss on fair
value changes
Other comprehensive
incometo(loss)
to be(Note
reclassified
to
securities recycled
profitnot
or loss
15)
−
6,846,940
profit
or loss
in value
subsequent
periods:
Changes
in fair
of AFS
investments (Note 15)
−
−
Changes
in fair
value translation
of equity investments
Net foreign
currency
adjustments (Note 9)
(100,669,833)
106,010,813
held at FVTOCI
(Note
15) not to be reclassified to
9,350,000
17,000,000
Other comprehensive
income
(loss)
Remeasurement
gains (losses)
on defined benefit plans,
profit or loss in subsequent
periods:
net ofintax
21) investments
(58,117,549)
9,012,108
Changes
faireffect
value(Note
of equity
Shareheld
in remeasurement
gains
at FVTOCI (Note
15)(losses) on defined
9,350,000
17,000,000
benefit plansgains
of associates
(Note
9) benefit plans,
(112,207,996)
60,508,402
Remeasurement
(losses) on
defined
net of tax effect (Note 21)
(58,117,549)
9,012,108
(261,645,378)
197,285,325
Share in remeasurement gains (losses) on defined
plans of associates
(Note 9)
60,508,402
TOTAL benefit
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
=(112,207,996)
P
932,380,695 =
P1,283,385,559
(261,645,378)
197,285,325
Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to:
TOTAL
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
=258,099,173)
P
932,380,695 P
=1,283,385,559
Equity
holders of the Company
(P
=
=196,968,087
P
Non-controlling interests (Note 11)
(3,546,205)
317,238
Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to:
(P
=261,645,378) P
=197,285,325
Equity holders of the Company
(P
=258,099,173) P
=196,968,087
11)
(3,546,205)
317,238
TotalNon-controlling
comprehensiveinterests
income(Note
attributable
to:
(P
=
=197,285,325
P
Equity holders of the Company
=261,645,378)
P
870,966,841 P
=1,248,210,662
Non-controlling interests (Note 11)
61,413,854
35,174,897
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
=932,380,695 P
P
=1,283,385,559
Equity holders of the Company
=870,966,841 P
P
=1,248,210,662
Non-controlling
interests
(Note
11)
61,413,854
35,174,897
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
=932,380,695 P
P
=1,283,385,559

=1,066,153,742
P
−
−
2,311,498
−
(621,060)
−
2,311,498
(621,060)
−
2,703,451
−
(40,265,714)
2,703,451
(35,871,825)
(40,265,714)
=1,030,281,917
P
(35,871,825)
=1,030,281,917
P
(P
=36,539,304)
667,479
(P
=35,871,825)
(P
=36,539,304)
667,479
=986,182,335
35,871,825)
=(P
P
44,099,582
=1,030,281,917
P
=986,182,335
P
44,099,582
=1,030,281,917
P

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

*After retroactive effect of 30% stock dividends in 2018.

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31, 2019

BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31, 2018, AS RESTATED
Net income
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Declaration of cash dividends at P
=0.20 per share
Dividends to non-controlling interest
Acquisition of treasury shares
Disposal of 20% ownership in a subsidiary
Sale of investment in subsidiaries to non-controlling
interest
Investment of non-controlling interest in a newly
incorporated subsidiary

BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31, 2018
AS PREVIOUSLY REPORTED
Effect of adoption of PFRS 16 (Note 2)
Effect of finalization of purchase price of SWRI

(Forward)

BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31, 2018,
AS RESTATED

–

–

= 281,437,118
P

–

–

= 1,618,146,293
P

281,437,118
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

= 281,437,118
P
–
–

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

= 281,437,118
P

281,437,118
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

= 281,437,118
P
–

= 281,437,118
P

281,437,118
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

= 281,437,118
P
–

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

1,618,146,293
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

= 1,618,146,293
P
–
–

Capital Stock
(Note 27)

= 1,618,146,293
P

1,250,000,000
–
–
–
–
–
–
368,146,293
–
–
–

= 1,250,000,000
P
–

BALANCES AT JANUARY 1, 2018, AS RESTATED
Net income, as previously reported
Effect of adoption of PFRS 16
Effect of finalization of purchase price of SWRI
Net income, as restated
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income, as restated
Declaration of 30% stock dividends
Dividends to non-controlling interest
Acquisition of treasury shares
Non-controlling interest arising on a business combination (Note 10)

= 1,250,000,000
P

BALANCES AT JANUARY 1, 2018
AS PREVIOUSLY REPORTED
Effect of adoption of PFRS 16 (Note 2)

1,250,000,000
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

BALANCES AT JANUARY 1, 2017,
AS RESTATED
Net income, as previously reported
Effect of adopton of PFRS 16
Net income, as restated
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income, as restated
Effect of adoption of PFRS 9
Cash dividends at P
=0.140 per share
Dividends to non-controlling interest
Acquisition of treasury shares
BALANCES AT JANUARY 1, 2018, AS RESTATED

= 1,250,000,000
P
–

BALANCES AT JANUARY 1, 2017,
AS PREVIOUSLY REPORTED
Effect of adoption of PFRS 16 (Note 2)

Capital Stock
(Note 27)

=–
P

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

P–
=
–

=–
P

12,054,499
–
–
–
2,311,498
2,311,498
(14,365,997)
–
–
–

= 12,054,499
P
–

= 53,347,767
P

(52,663,046)
–
–
–
–
106,010,813
106,010,813
–
–
–
–

(P
= 52,663,046)
–

(P
= 52,663,046)

(52,041,986)
–
–
–
(621,060)
(621,060)
–
–
–
–

(P
= 52,041,986)
–

-2-

= 35,719,999
P

13,965,997
–
–
–
–
21,754,002
21,754,002
–
–
–
–

= 13,965,997
P
–

= 13,965,997
P

–
–
–
–
–
–
13,965,997
–
–
–

P–
=
–

= 39,662,986
P

30,968,116
–
–
–
–
8,694,870
8,694,870
–
–
–
–

= 30,968,116
P
–

= 30,968,116
P

28,932,144
–
–
–
2,035,972
2,035,972
–
–
–
–

= 28,932,144
P
–

(P
= 30,584,062)

(91,092,464)
–
–
–
–
60,508,402
60,508,402
–
–
–
–

(P
= 91,092,464)
–

(P
= 91,092,464)

(50,826,750)
–
–
–
(40,265,714)
(40,265,714)
–
–
–
–

(P
= 50,826,750)
–

= 1,030,075,272
P

–

–

143,299,677
–
–
–
–
–
–
886,775,595

= 143,299,677
P
–
–

=–
P

–

–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

P–
=
–
–

= 45,069,999
P

–

–

35,719,999
–
9,350,000
9,350,000
–
–
–
–

= 35,719,999
P
–
–

(P
= 47,322,066)

–

–

53,347,767
–
(100,669,833)
(100,669,833)
–
–
–
–

= 53,347,767
P
–
–

(P
= 14,908,356)

–

–

39,662,986
–
(54,571,342)
(54,571,342)
–
–
–
–

= 39,662,986
P
–
–

(P
= 142,792,060)

–

–

(30,584,062)
–
(112,207,998)
(112,207,998)
–
–
–
–

(P
= 30,584,062)
–
–

Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company
Other Components of Equity
Reserve for Fair Share in Foreign
Share in
Value
Currency
Remeasurements
Changes of
Translation Remeasurements
on Defined
Financial
Adjustments of
Benefit Plan
on Defined
AFS Investments
an Associate
of Associates
Benefit Plans
Reserve Assets Investments
Other Reserves
(Note 27)
(Note 15)
(Note 15)
(Note 9)
(Note 21)
(Note 9)

= 143,299,677
P

143,299,677
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

= 143,299,677
P
–

= 143,299,677
P

143,299,677
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

= 143,299,677
P
–

Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company
Other Components of Equity
Share in
Reserve for Fair Share in Foreign
Remeasurements
Currency
Value
on Defined
Translation Remeasurements
Changes of
Benefit Plan
on Defined
Adjustments of
Financial
AFS Investments
of Associates
Benefit Plans
an Associate
Reserve Assets Investments
Other Reserves
(Note 9)
(Note 21)
(Note 9)
(Note 15)
(Note 15)
(Note 27)

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019, 2018 AND 2017

MACROASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(P
= 159,952,483)

–

–

98,146,690
–
(258,099,173)
(258,099,173)
–
–
–
–

= 98,146,690
P
–
–

Subtotal

= 98,146,690
P

(98,821,397)
–
–
–
–
196,968,087
196,968,087
–
–
–
–

(P
= 98,821,397)
–

(P
= 98,821,397)

(P
=61,882,093)
–
–
–
(36,539,304)
(36,539,304)
(400,000)
–
–
–

(P
= 61,882,093)
–

Subtotal

=
P4,081,275,527

–

–

3,270,479,831
1,129,066,015
–
1,129,066,015
(318,270,319)
–
–
–

= 3,528,487,195
P
(257,839,962)
(167,402)

Retained
Earnings
(Note 27)

= 3,270,479,831
P

2,587,383,549
1,048,217,013
3,192,964
(167,402)
1,051,242,575
–
1,051,242,575
(368,146,293)
–
–
–

= 2,848,416,475
P
(261,032,926)

= 2,587,383,549
P

1,736,063,521
1,019,242,053
3,479,586
1,022,721,639
–
1,022,721,639
400,000
(171,801,611)
–
–

= 2,000,576,033
P
(264,512,512)

Retained
Earnings
(Note 27)

(P
= 426,826,835)

–

–

(176,215,402)
–
–
–
–
–
(250,611,433)
–

(P
= 176,215,402)
–
–

Treasury
Shares
(Note 27)

(P
= 176,215,402)

(113,676,300)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(62,539,102)
–

(P
= 113,676,300)
–

(P
= 113,676,300)

–
–
–
–
–
(64,257,640)

(49,418,660)
–
–

(P
= 49,418,660)
–

Treasury
Shares
(Note 27)

= 363,092,665
P

319,338,507
35,366,795
(397,535)
(111,601)
34,857,659
317,238
35,174,897
–
(24,750,000)
–
33,329,261

= 319,626,172
P
(287,665)

= 319,338,507
P

298,338,925
43,781,301
(349,198)
43,432,103
667,479
44,099,582
–
–
(23,100,000)
–

= 298,277,392
P
61,533

Non-controlling
Interests
(Note 11)

Total

= 5,598,386,872
P

4,368,961,154
1,083,583,808
2,795,429
(279,003)
1,086,100,234
197,285,325
1,283,385,559
–
(24,750,000)
(62,539,102)
33,329,261

= 4,630,281,745
P
(261,320,591)

= 4,368,961,154
P

3,597,838,488
1,063,023,354
3,130,388
1,066,153,742
(35,871,825)
1,030,281,917
–
(171,801,611)
(23,100,000)
(64,257,640)

= 3,862,289,467
P
(264,450,979)

= 413,688,263
P

3,062,650

12,519,094

363,092,665
64,960,059
(3,546,205)
61,413,854
–
(26,400,000)
–
–

= 350,343,327
P
(685,200)
13,434,538

Non-controlling
Interests
(Note 11)

Total

= 6,837,843,154
P

3,062,650

12,519,095

5,598,386,872
1,194,026,073
(261,645,378)
932,380,695
(318,270,319)
(26,400,000)
(250,611,433)
886,775,595

= 5,843,644,898
P
(258,525,162)
13,267,136

*SGVFS033488*

= 6,424,154,891
P

–

–

5,235,294,207
1,129,066,014
(258,099,173)
870,966,841
(318,270,319)
–
(250,611,433)
886,775,595

= 5,493,301,571
P
(257,839,962)
(167,402)

Subtotal

*SGVFS033488*

= 5,235,294,207
P

4,049,622,647
1,048,217,013
3,192,964
(167,402)
1,051,242,575
196,968,087
1,248,210,662
–
–
(62,539,102)
–

= 4,310,655,573
P
(261,032,926)

= 4,049,622,647
P

3,299,499,563
1,019,242,053
3,479,586
1,022,721,639
(36,539,304)
986,182,335
–
(171,801,611)
–
(64,257,640)

= 3,564,012,075
P
(264,512,512)

Subtotal

MACROASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

-2-

MACROASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income before income tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
amortization
(Notes 12,
14, 15 and 28)
CASH
FLOWSand
FROM
OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Share before
in earnings
of associates
(Note 9)
Income
income
tax
Financing charges
(Notes 16, 18 and 22)
Adjustments
for:
Interest
income
5, 15, 18,
22 and
Depreciation
and(Notes
amortization
(Notes
12,28)
14, 15 and 28)
Unrealized
foreignofexchange
- net
Share in earnings
associatesgain
(Note
9)
Gain
on sale
of disposal
property
Financing
charges
(Notesof16,
18 andand
22)equipment
(Note
12) (Notes 5, 15, 18, 22 and 28)
Interest
income
Loss
on saleforeign
of investment
in gain
debt -securities
Unrealized
exchange
net
Gain (Note
on sale15)
of disposal of property and equipment
Retirement
benefits costs (Note 21)
(Note 12)
Provision
forof
(reversal
of) other
long-term
benefits
Loss on sale
investment
in debt
securities
(Note 21)
15)
Operating
income
before
working
capital changes
Retirement
benefits
costs
(Note 21)
Decrease
(increase)
in: of) other long-term benefits
Provision
for (reversal
Receivables
and contract assets
(Note 21)
Inventories
Operating
income before working capital changes
Input taxes
and other
Decrease
(increase)
in: current assets
Service
concession
right assets
Receivables
and contract
Increase
in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Inventories
Cash
generated
from
operations
Input
taxes and
other
current assets
Interest
received
Service
concession right
Financing
paid
Increase incharges
accounts
payable and accrued liabilities
Contributions
the retirement
Cash generatedtofrom
operationsfund (Note 21)
Other
Interestemployee
received benefits paid
Income
taxes
paid,paid
including creditable withholding
Financing
charges
taxes and taxtocredit
certificates
Contributions
the retirement
fund (Note 21)
Net
cash
flows from
(usedpaid
in) operating activities
Other
employee
benefits
Income taxes paid, including creditable withholding
taxes and tax credit certificates
(Forward)
Net cash flows from (used in) operating activities

Years Ended December 31
2018
(As restated,
2017
YearsNotes
Ended
31
2, December
10 (As restated,
2019
and
28) Notes 2 and 28)
2018
(As restated,
2017
Notes 2, 10 (As restated,
P
=1,385,367,255
=1,203,439,880
=Notes
1,182,576,774
2019 P
and 28) P
2 and 28)
268,894,865
212,137,508
183,552,507
(978,508,908)
P
=(1,077,260,403)
1,385,367,255 P
=(1,070,014,588)
1,203,439,880 P
=1,182,576,774
88,377,257
51,353,800
33,153,279
(11,775,315)
(11,076,601)
(8,482,346)
268,894,865
212,137,508
183,552,507
(2,531,368) (1,070,014,588)
(5,346,891) (978,508,908)
(2,518,753)
(1,077,260,403)
88,377,257
51,353,800
33,153,279
–
(406,314)
–
(11,775,315)
(11,076,601)
(8,482,346)
(2,531,368)
(5,346,891)
(2,518,753)
–
6,846,940
–
40,670,855
25,936,047
22,356,179
–
(406,314)
–
16,778,280
–
708,521,426
40,670,855

(223,702)
6,846,940
412,646,079
25,936,047

2,055,814
–
434,184,546
22,356,179

(1,025,319,146)
16,778,280
(17,204,561)
708,521,426
(159,620,652)
(14,921,378)
(1,025,319,146)
706,308,267
(17,204,561)
197,763,956
(159,620,652)
10,361,668
(14,921,378)
(86,440,557)
706,308,267
(29,893,088)
197,763,956
–
10,361,668
(86,440,557)
(196,829,377)
(29,893,088)
(105,037,398)
–

(276,330,415)
(223,702)
(5,010,794)
412,646,079
(30,515,456)
(24,406,608)
(276,330,415)
225,710,089
(5,010,794)
302,092,895
(30,515,456)
9,806,748
(24,406,608)
(43,228,631)
225,710,089
(28,887,875)
302,092,895
(1,562,742)
9,806,748
(43,228,631)
(135,514,330)
(28,887,875)
102,706,065
(1,562,742)

(16,780,605)
2,055,814
(8,034,749)
434,184,546
(154,604,330)
(4,300,110)
(16,780,605)
168,742,576
(8,034,749)
419,207,328
(154,604,330)
7,232,735
(4,300,110)
(32,315,780)
168,742,576
(22,146,194)
419,207,328
(2,167,802)
7,232,735
(32,315,780)
(132,151,799)
(22,146,194)
237,658,488
(2,167,802)

(196,829,377)
(105,037,398)

(135,514,330)
102,706,065

(132,151,799)
237,658,488

(Forward)

Years Ended December 31
2018
2017
(As restated, (As restated,
2019
Note 10)
Note 10)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions of:
Property and equipment (Note 12)
Right to use of water permits (Note 14)
Investments - net of cash acquired (Notes 9 and 10)
Proceeds from sale of investment in stocks (Note 10)
Returns from (payments for) refundable deposits
and other noncurrent assets (Note 15)
Acquisition of software (Note 15)
Payments of advances to contractors (Note 15)
Payments for project advances (Note 15)
Proceeds from disposal of:
AFS debt securities (Note 15)
Property and equipment (Note 12)
Dividends received (Note 9)
Net cash from (used in) investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Availments of:
Notes payable (Note 16)
Long-term debts (Note 16)
Payments of:
Notes payable (Note 16)
Long-term debts (Note 16)
Lease liabilities (Notes 28 and 34)
Acquisition of treasury shares (Note 27)
Dividends paid (Note 27)
Net cash flows from financing activities
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(P
=514,462,303) (P
=1,014,879,287) (P
=374,257,508)
(32,108,342)
–
–
(853,370,000)
(51,997,029) (119,555,035)
886,775,595
–
–
131,136,565
–
–
–

(8,880,085)
(5,278,225)
(205,430,736)
(328,067)

–
–
916,316,715
534,288,230

63,153,060
–
406,339
–
799,282,000 389,109,650
(423,952,030) (202,834,256)

625,000,000
648,575,000
(398,450,000)
(135,165,356)
(51,068,773)
(250,444,773)
(317,601,323)
120,844,775
(5,653,012)

403,865,000
250,000,000

5,350,895
(5,904,823)
(97,322,333)
(255,102)

72,550,000
532,113,742

(262,700,886) (15,261,205)
(38,067,035) (53,694,362)
(24,101,553) (17,807,548)
(62,539,102) (64,257,640)
(184,176,616) (132,221,557)
82,279,808 321,421,430
971,066

(2,744,787)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

544,442,595

(237,995,091)

353,500,875

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING
OF YEAR

675,196,833

913,191,924

559,691,049

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR (Note 5)

P
=1,219,639,428

=675,196,833 P
P
=913,191,924

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MACROASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MACROASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Summary of Significant Accounting and Financial Reporting Policies

1. Corporate Information and Business Operations
Corporate Information
1. Corporate
Information and Business Operations
MacroAsia Corporation (the Company or MAC), a publicly-listed corporation, was incorporated in the
Corporate Information
Philippines
on February 16, 1970 under the name Infanta Mineral & Industrial Corporation to engage
in
the business
of geological
exploration
and development.
Oncorporation,
January 26,was
1994,
its Articles
of
MacroAsia
Corporation
(the Company
or MAC),
a publicly-listed
incorporated
in the
Incorporation
amended
change
itsthe
primary
from exploration
and Corporation
developmenttotoengage
that of
Philippines onwas
February
16, to
1970
under
namepurpose
Infanta Mineral
& Industrial
in the business
of geological
exploration
and and
development.
On January
26,to1994,
its Articles
of
engaging
in the business
of a holding
company,
changed its corporate
name
Cobertson
Holdings
Incorporation On
wasNovember
amended to6,change
its primary
purpose
fromofexploration
and was
development
to that of
Corporation.
1995, the
Company’s
Articles
Incorporation
again amended
to
change
name
its present
name.
On August
7, 2018, name
the Company’s
Articles
of
engagingitsincorporate
the business
of ato
holding
company,
and changed
its corporate
to Cobertson
Holdings
Incorporation
wasNovember
further amended
extensionArticles
of the of
Company’s
corporate
life amended
for another
Corporation. On
6, 1995, for
the the
Company’s
Incorporation
was again
to
change
corporate
name
to its present
name.
On August
7, 2018,
theCorporation
Company’sCode
Articles
of
50 years,itsfrom
and after
February
15, 2020.
However,
under the
Revised
of the
Philippines,
haveamended
perpetualfor
corporate
life. Its of
registered
office address
is at 12th
Floor,
PNB
IncorporationMAC
was shall
further
the extension
the Company’s
corporate
life for
another
Allied
Bank
Center,
6754 February
Ayala Avenue,
Makati
City. under the Revised Corporation Code of the
50 years,
from
and after
15, 2020.
However,
Philippines, MAC shall have perpetual corporate life. Its registered office address is at 12th Floor, PNB
Business
Operations
Allied Bank
Center, 6754 Ayala Avenue, Makati City.
The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the Group) are
described
in Note 4. The Company, through its subsidiaries and associates (see Note 9), is primarily
Business Operations
The principal
activities of thebusinesses
Company and
its Ninoy
subsidiaries
(collectively
referred
to as
the Group)
are
engaged
in aviation-support
at the
Aquino
International
Airport
(NAIA),
Manila
described in
Note 4.
The Company,
through
its subsidiaries
and
associates
(see International
Note 9), is primarily
Domestic
Airport
(MDA),
Mactan-Cebu
International
Airport
(MCIA),
Kalibo
Airport
(KIA),
International Airport
and atthetheGeneral
Areas. It provides
engagedDavao
in aviation-support
businesses
Ninoy Aviation
Aquino International
Airport in-flight
(NAIA), catering
Manila
services,
services for passenger
andAirport
cargo aircraft,
helicopter
charterAirport
flight
Domestic ground
Airport handling
(MDA), Mactan-Cebu
International
(MCIA), and
Kalibo
International
(KIA), Davao
Airporttheand
General zone
Aviation
It provides in-flight catering
services.
It alsoInternational
operates/develops
solethe
economic
withinAreas.
the NAIA.
services, ground handling services for passenger and cargo aircraft, and helicopter charter flight
Through
and its subsidiaries,
Company
alsozone
provides
requirements of some passenger
services. MACS
It also operates/develops
thethesole
economic
withinfood
the NAIA.
terminal lounges in NAIA. MACS and its subsidiaries have also ventured into the provision of the food
Throughrequirements
MACS and itsofsubsidiaries,
Company also
provides
of someMacroAsia
passenger
service
non-airline the
institutional
clients
outsidefood
therequirements
airport. Through
Properties
Development
the have
Company
started into
pursuing
projectsofrelated
to
terminal lounges
in NAIA.Corporation
MACS and (MAPDC),
its subsidiaries
also ventured
the provision
the food
reclaimed
water supply,
water supply
using surface
sources,
and waterThrough
distribution
in areas
service requirements
ofbulk
non-airline
institutional
clientswater
outside
the airport.
MacroAsia
Properties
Development
(MAPDC),
Company
started
pursuing
related of
to
outside
of Metro
Manila. Corporation
Further, considering
the the
expertise
of staff
gained
throughprojects
the exploration
the
Company’s
Infanta bulk
Nickel
Project
in using
Palawan,
thewater
Company
hasand
rendered
nickel exploration
reclaimed
water supply,
water
supply
surface
sources,
water distribution
in areas
services
forMetro
other Manila.
mining companies,
through MacroAsia
Mining
Corporation
(MMC),
outside of
Further, considering
the expertise
of staff
gained through
thea wholly-owned
exploration of
the Company’s Infanta Nickel Project in Palawan, the Company has rendered nickel exploration
subsidiary.
services for other mining companies, through MacroAsia Mining Corporation (MMC), a wholly-owned
Through
Lufthansa Technik Philippines, Inc. (LTP), an associate, which has a maintenance, repairs and
subsidiary.
overhaul facility in the Philippines, the Company provides globally competitive heavy maintenance
and
engineering
services
forPhilippines,
specific models
of Airbus
and Boeing
aircraft
airline clients
all over
Through
Lufthansa
Technik
Inc. (LTP),
an associate,
which
has afor
maintenance,
repairs
and
overhaul
the
world.facility in the Philippines, the Company provides globally competitive heavy maintenance
and engineering services for specific models of Airbus and Boeing aircraft for airline clients all over
On
the February
world. 5, 2020, the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) approved the change
of Airport Specialists’ Services Corporation (ASSC) registered name to Allied Water Services, Inc.
On February
2020, the
Philippine
Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) approved the change
(AWSI)
also 5,
pursuing
subsequent
water-related
projects.
of Airport Specialists’ Services Corporation (ASSC) registered name to Allied Water Services, Inc.
The
consolidated
financial
statements
of the Group
as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 and for each of
(AWSI)
also pursuing
subsequent
water-related
projects.
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019 were authorized for issuance by the Board of
Directors
(BOD) on
Marchstatements
6, 2020. of the Group as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 and for each of
The consolidated
financial
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019 were authorized for issuance by the Board of
Directors (BOD) on March 6, 2020.
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Basis of Preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost basis, except for
equity investments held at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) and Available
for sale (AFS) investments which are carried at fair value. The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Philippine peso (Peso), which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.
Amounts are rounded to the nearest Peso except when otherwise indicated.
Statement of Compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial
Reporting Standards (PFRSs).
Changes in Accounting Policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except that the
Group has adopted the following new accounting pronouncements starting January 1, 2019:
·

PFRS 16, Leases, supersedes PAS 17, Leases, Philippine Interpretation International Financial
Reporting Interpretation Committee (IFRIC) 4, Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease, Philippine Interpretation Standards Interpretation Committee (SIC)-15, Operating LeasesIncentives, and Philippine Interpretation SIC-27, Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognize most leases
on the balance sheet. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees – leases of ’lowvalue’ assets (e.g., personal computers) and short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12
months or less). At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognize a liability to make
lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying
asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). Lessees will be required to separately
recognize the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-ofuse asset.
Lessees will be also required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events
(e.g., a change in the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate used to determine those payments). The lessee will generally recognize the amount of
the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
Lessor accounting under PFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from accounting under PAS 17.
Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in PAS 17 and
distinguish between two types of leases: operating and finance leases. Therefore, PFRS 16 did not
have an impact for leases where the Group is the lessor.
PFRS 16 also requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under PAS 17.
Early application is permitted, but not before an entity applies PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts
with Customers. A lessee can choose to apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a
modified retrospective approach. The standard’s transition provisions permit certain reliefs.
The Group adopted PFRS 16 using the full retrospective approach with the commencement dates
of the lease as the initial application date. Under this method, the standard is applied retrospectively
with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognized at the date of initial
application.
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The effect of adopting PFRS 16 on the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

There is no material impact on other comprehensive income or the basic and diluted earnings per
share.

Impact on the consolidated balance sheets:

Increase (decrease) in:
Assets
Investments in associates
Other current assets
Net investment in the lease
Right-of-use assets
Accrued rental receivables
Deferred income tax assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Current portion of lease liabilities
Lease liabilities - net of current portion
Deferred tax liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Total liabilities
Equity
Retained earnings
Non-controlling interests
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

December 31
2019

December 31
2018

(P
=212,364,497)
(7,148,155)
1,171,844,192
499,566,989
(92,868,553)
9,856,004
1,368,885,980

(P
=228,987,328)
(7,170,955)
1,169,089,704
533,951,574
(92,868,553)
6,403,883
1,380,418,325

(P
=239,767,983)
(7,338,629)
1,167,217,957
507,187,809
(100,493,669)
3,219,871
1,330,025,356

24,688,033
1,698,736,101
528,926
(104,579,963)
1,619,373,097

22,479,958
1,721,063,375
233,781
(104,833,627)
1,638,943,487

21,355,961
1,678,653,506
14,887
(108,678,407)
1,591,345,947

(248,990,517)
(1,496,600)
(250,487,117)
=1,368,885,980
P

(257,839,962)
(685,200)
(258,525,162)
=1,380,418,325
P

(261,032,926)
(287,665)
(261,320,591)
=1,330,025,356
P

The Group has lease contracts for various items of property and equipment and investment
property. Before the adoption of PFRS 16, the Group classified each of its leases (as lessee) at the
inception date as either a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease was classified as a finance
lease if it transferred substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased
asset to the Group; otherwise it was classified as an operating lease. Finance leases were capitalized
at the commencement of the lease at the inception date fair value of the leased property or, if lower,
at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments were apportioned between
interest (recognized as finance charges) and reduction of the finance lease liability. In an operating
lease, the leased property was not capitalized and the lease payments were recognized as rent
expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Any prepaid rent and accrued
rent were recognized under “Input taxes and other current assets”, and “Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities”, respectively.

January 1,
2018

The Group elected to use the following transition practical expedient:
• allowing the standard to be applied only to contracts that were previously identified as leases
applying PAS 17 and IFRIC 4, Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease at the
date of initial application;
• recognition exemptions for lease contracts that, at the commencement date, have a lease term of
12 months or less and do not contain a purchase option (‘short-term leases’);and lease contracts
for which the underlying asset is of low value (‘low-value assets’).
Leases previously classified as finance leases
The Group did not change the initial carrying amounts of recognized assets and liabilities at the
date of initial application for leases previously classified as finance leases (i.e., the right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities equal the lease assets and liabilities recognized under PAS 17). The
requirements of PFRS 16 were applied to these leases on commencement date.

Impact on the consolidated statements of income:
2019

Increase (decrease) in:
Rental revenue
Direct costs
Gross profit
Share in net earnings of associates
Operating expenses
Financing charges
Provision for income tax
Net income

(P
=173,982,045)
172,615,120
(1,366,925)
(16,622,831)
(14,046,964)
27,425,044
(3,426,369)
=8,038,045
P

Net income attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests

=8,849,445
P
(811,400)

Years Ended
2018
(P
=173,982,045)
173,467,669
(514,376)
(10,780,656)
(13,230,200)
24,902,553
(3,172,750)
=2,795,429
P
=3,192,964
P
(397,535)

2017
(P
=168,137,800)
168,077,317
(60,483)
(10,565,393)
(13,083,471)
23,765,390
(3,186,431)
=3,130,388
P
=3,479,586
P
(349,198)

·

Impact on the consolidated statements of cash flows [increase (decrease)]:

Payments of lease liabilities
Interest paid
Net cash flows from operating activities
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities
Net cash flows from financing activities

2019
P78,493,817
=
(27,425,044)
51,068,773
(51,068,773)
(51,068,773)

Years Ended
2018
=49,004,106
P
(24,902,553)
24,101,553

2017
P41,572,938
=
(23,765,390)
17,807,548

(24,101,553)
(24,101,553)

(17,807,548)
(17,807,548)
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Leases previously accounted for as operating leases
The Group recognized right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for those leases previously classified
as operating leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The right-of-use
assets for most leases were recognized based on the carrying amount as if the standard had always
been applied. In some leases, the right-of-use assets were recognized based on the amount equal to
the lease liabilities, adjusted for any related prepaid and accrued lease payments previously
recognized at the commencement date of the lease. Lease liabilities were recognized based on the
present value of the lease payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at the
commencement date of the lease.
Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
The interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of PAS 12, Income Taxes and does not apply to taxes or
levies outside the scope of PAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest
and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments.
The interpretation specifically addresses the following:
•

•

Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately
The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation
authorities
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How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax
credits and tax rates
How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances

An entity must determine whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together
with one or more other uncertain tax treatments. The approach that better predicts the resolution of
the uncertainty should be followed.

financial statements but will apply to any future plan amendments, curtailments, or settlements of
the Group.
·

The amendments clarify that an entity applies PFRS 9 to long-term interests in an associate or joint
venture to which the equity method is not applied but that, in substance, form part of the net
investment in the associate or joint venture (long-term interests). This clarification is relevant
because it implies that the expected credit loss model in PFRS 9 applies to such long-term interests.

Upon adoption of the Interpretation, the Group considered whether it has any uncertain tax
positions, particularly those relating to transfer pricing of intercompany transactions. The Group
determined, based on its tax compliance, that it is probable that its tax treatments (including those
for the subsidiaries) will be accepted by the taxation authority. The interpretation did not have any
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
·

The amendments also clarified that, in applying PFRS 9, an entity does not take account of any
losses of the associate or joint venture, or any impairment losses on the net investment, recognized
as adjustments to the net investment in the associate or joint venture that arise from applying
PAS 28.

Amendments to PFRS 9, Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
Under PFRS 9, a debt instrument can be measured at amortized cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, provided that the contractual cash flows are ‘solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding’ (the SPPI criterion) and the instrument is held
within the appropriate business model for that classification. The amendments to PFRS 9 clarify
that a financial asset passes the SPPI criterion regardless of the event or circumstance that causes
the early termination of the contract and irrespective of which party pays or receives reasonable
compensation for the early termination of the contract.

Amendments to PAS 28, Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures

The amendments should be applied retrospectively and are effective from January 1, 2019, with
early application permitted. Since the Group does not have such long-term interests in its associate
and joint venture, the amendments will not have an impact on its consolidated financial statements.
·

Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle
•

The amendments clarify that, when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint
operation, it applies the requirements for a business combination achieved in stages, including
remeasuring previously held interests in the assets and liabilities of the joint operation at fair
value. In doing so, the acquirer remeasures its entire previously held interest in the joint
operation.

These amendments had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
·

Amendments to PAS 19, Employee Benefits, Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement
The amendments to PAS 19 address the accounting when a plan amendment, curtailment or
settlement occurs during a reporting period. The amendments specify that when a plan amendment,
curtailment or settlement occurs during the annual reporting period, an entity is required to:
•

•

An entity applies those amendments to business combinations for which the acquisition date is
on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after
January 1, 2019 and to transactions in which it obtains joint control on or after the beginning
of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with early application
permitted. These amendments are currently not applicable to the Group but may apply to future
transactions.

Determine net interest for the remainder of the period after the plan amendment, curtailment
or settlement using: the net defined benefit liability (asset) reflecting the benefits offered under
the plan and the plan assets after that event; and the discount rate used to remeasure that net
defined benefit liability (asset).

The amendments apply to plan amendments, curtailments, or settlements occurring on or after the
beginning of the first annual reporting period that begins on or after January 1, 2019, with early
application permitted. These amendments currently have no impact on the Group’s consolidated
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A party that participates in, but does not have joint control of, a joint operation might obtain
joint control of the joint operation in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a
business as defined in PFRS 3. The amendments clarify that the previously held interests in
that joint operation are not remeasured.

Determine current service cost for the remainder of the period after the plan amendment,
curtailment or settlement, using the actuarial assumptions used to remeasure the net defined
benefit liability (asset) reflecting the benefits offered under the plan and the plan assets after
that event

The amendments also clarify that an entity first determines any past service cost, or a gain or loss
on settlement, without considering the effect of the asset ceiling. This amount is recognized in
profit or loss. An entity then determines the effect of the asset ceiling after the plan amendment,
curtailment or settlement. Any change in that effect, excluding amounts included in the net interest,
is recognized in other comprehensive income.

MacroAsia Corporation 2019 Annual Report

Amendments to PFRS 3, Business Combinations, and PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements,
Previously Held Interest in a Joint Operation

•

Amendments to PAS 12, Income Tax Consequences of Payments on Financial Instruments
Classified as Equity
The amendments clarify that the income tax consequences of dividends are linked more directly
to past transactions or events that generated distributable profits than to distributions to owners.
Therefore, an entity recognizes the income tax consequences of dividends in profit or loss,
other comprehensive income or equity according to where the entity originally recognized
those past transactions or events.
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An entity applies those amendments for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2019, with early application is permitted. These amendments are currently not
relevant to the Group because current dividends declared by the Group do not give rise to tax
obligations under the current tax laws but will apply to future dividend declarations.
•

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2021
·

PFRS 17 is a comprehensive new accounting standard for insurance contracts covering recognition
and measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once effective, PFRS 17 will replace PFRS 4,
Insurance Contracts. This new standard on insurance contracts applies to all types of insurance
contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance and re-insurance), regardless of the type of entities
that issue them, as well as to certain guarantees and financial instruments with discretionary
participation features. A few scope exceptions will apply.

Amendments to PAS 23, Borrowing Costs, Borrowing Costs Eligible for Capitalization
The amendments clarify that an entity treats as part of general borrowings any borrowing
originally made to develop a qualifying asset when substantially all of the activities necessary
to prepare that asset for its intended use or sale are complete.
An entity applies those amendments to borrowing costs incurred on or after the beginning of
the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies those amendments. An entity
applies those amendments for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019,
with early application permitted.

The overall objective of PFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for insurance contracts that is
more useful and consistent for insurers. In contrast to the requirements in PFRS 4, which are largely
based on grandfathering previous local accounting policies, PFRS 17 provides a comprehensive
model for insurance contracts, covering all relevant accounting aspects. The core of PFRS 17 is the
general model, supplemented by:

These amendments have no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements since the
Group’s current practice is in line with these amendments.
Standards Issued But Not Yet Adopted
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2020. The Group has not applied the following new or amended standards in
preparing these consolidated financial statements. Unless otherwise stated, none of these are expected
to have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
The Group will adopt the following new or revised standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations on the respective effective dates, as applicable:
Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2020
·

Amendments to PFRS 3, Definition of a Business
The amendments to PFRS 3 clarify the minimum requirements to be a business, remove the
assessment of a market participant’s ability to replace missing elements, and narrow the definition
of outputs. The amendments also add guidance to assess whether an acquired process is substantive
and add illustrative examples. An optional fair value concentration test is introduced which permits
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business.
An entity applies those amendments prospectively for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2020, with earlier application permitted.

·

Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, and PAS 8, Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, Definition of Material
The amendments refine the definition of material in PAS 1 and align the definitions used across
PFRSs and other pronouncements. They are intended to improve the understanding of the existing
requirements rather than to significantly impact an entity’s materiality judgements.
An entity applies those amendments prospectively for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2020, with earlier application permitted.
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PFRS 17, Insurance Contracts

•
•

A specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features (the variable fee approach)
A simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly for short-duration contracts

PFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021, with comparative
figures required. Early application is permitted.
Deferred effectivity
·

Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
The amendments address the conflict between PFRS 10 and PAS 28 in dealing with the loss of
control of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The amendments
clarify that a full gain or loss is recognized when a transfer to an associate or joint venture involves
a business as defined in PFRS 3, Business Combinations. Any gain or loss resulting from the sale
or contribution of assets that does not constitute a business, however, is recognized only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or joint venture.
On January 13, 2016, the Financial Reporting Standards Council deferred the original effective
date of January 1, 2016 of the said amendments until the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB) completes its broader review of the research project on equity accounting that may result
in the simplification of accounting for such transactions and of other aspects of accounting for
associates and joint ventures.

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
are summarized below.
Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group, its direct
subsidiaries, the subsidiaries of MACS, MAPDC, Boracay Tubi Systems Inc. (BTSI) and the subsidiary
of MMC, Watergy Business Solutions, Inc. (WBSI) and Airport Specialists’ Services Corporation
(ASSC), which were all incorporated in the Philippines and are registered with the Philippine SEC as
of December 31 of each year.
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Entity
MacroAsia Airport
Services
Corporation
(MASCORP)
MacroAsia Catering
Services Corporation
(MACS)
MacroAsia SATS
Industries (MSFI)(8)

Nature of business
Groundhandling
aviation
services
In-flight and other
catering
services
Food Meal production
and food
processing
Meal production and
food processing

MacroAsia SATS
Inflight Services
Corporation
(MSISC)(8)
MacroAsia Air Taxi
Helicopter chartering
Services, Inc. (MAATS)
services
MacroAsia Properties
Economic Zone
Development
(Ecozone)
Corporation (MAPDC)
developer/operator
and water supply
Water treatment and
SNV Resources
distribution
Development
Corporation
(SNVRDC)
Boracay Tubi System, Water treatment and
Inc. (BTSI)(3)
distribution, and
construction of
sewage treatment
plant
MONAD Water and
Water sewerage
Sewerage Systems,
treatment
Inc. (MONAD)(3)
Water projects
New Earth Water
System, Inc.
(3)
(NEWS)
Water distribution
Naic Water Supply
Corporation
(4)
(NAWASCOR)
Water projects
Mabini Pangasinan
Resources
Development
Corporation
(MPRDC)(2)
Panay Water Business Water projects
Resources, Inc.
(PWBRI)(2)
Water projects
Watergy Business
Solutions, Inc.
(WBSI)
Water projects
Cavite Business
Resources
Inc. (CBRI)
Aviation school
First Aviation
Academy, Inc.(5)
Airport Specialists’
Manpower services
Services Corporation
(ASSC)(1)
Water treatment
AlliedKonsult Eco
Solutions
(2)
Corporation
Cavite AllliedKonsult Water treatment
Services
Corporation(2)

- 10 -

Percentage of Ownership by MAC
2019
2018
Direct
Indirect
Direct
(9)
–
100
80

67
–

Indirect
–

–

67

–

67

–

67

Percentage of Direct
Ownership by
MACS/ MAPDC/
WBSI/BTSI/
MMC/ASSC
2019
–

2018
–

–

–

Entity
Summa Water
Resources Inc.
(SWRI)(6)
MacroAsia Mining
Corporation (MMC)

100

100

Bulawan Mining
Corporation (2),(7)
(1)
(2)
(3)

–
100

67
–

–
100

67
–

100
–

100
–

100

–

100

–

–

–

(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)

–

100

–

100

100

100

–

67

–

67

67

67

–

53.6

–

53.6

80

80

–

67

–

67

100

100

100

–

100

100

100

–

100

–

100

100

100

–

90

–

90

90

90

–

51

–

51

51

51

–

51

–

51

51

51

–

51

51

51

51

–

–

100

–

–
100

–

–

51

–

–

51

–

–

51

–

–

51

–

Mine exploration,
development and
operation
Mine operation,
development and
utilization

100
–

–
100

Indirect
60

100

–

–

100

2019
60

2018
60

–

–

100

100

Resumes operation as holding company of newly acquired water companies
No commercial operations as of December 31, 2019
Ownership interest effective December 2, 2016
Ownership interest effective August 1, 2017
Incorporated on December 5, 2017 and started commercial operations on May 19, 2019
Ownership interest effective October 1, 2018
Ownership interest effective November 15, 2018
Started commercial operations on March 16, 2019
Change in ownership interest starting December 5, 2019 (see Note 11)

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee.
Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:
·

–

Nature of business
Water treatment and
equipment lease

Percentage of Ownership by MAC
2019
2018
Direct
Indirect
Direct
–
60
–

Percentage of Direct
Ownership by
MACS/ MAPDC/
WBSI/BTSI/
MMC/ASSC

·
·

power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee);
exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:
·
·
·

the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins
when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until
the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions
and other events in similar circumstances. Adjustments, where necessary, are made to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company.

(Forward)
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Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated but are considered as an impairment indicator of
the assets transferred.
Non-controlling Interests
Non-controlling interest represents the portion of the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries not held by
the Group. Non-controlling interest is presented separately in the consolidated statement of income,
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and within the equity section of the consolidated
balance sheet, separate from the Company’s equity. Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group and to the noncontrolling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction. Any excess or deficit of consideration paid over the carrying amount of the noncontrolling interests is recognized in equity of the Company in transactions where the non-controlling
interests are acquired or sold without loss of control. This is recognized in the Company’s “other
reserves”. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it: (a) derecognizes the assets (including
goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary; (b) derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interests; (c) derecognizes the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; (d) recognizes the
fair value of the consideration received; (e) recognizes the fair value of any investment retained;
(f) recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; (g) reclassifies the parent’s share of components
previously recognized in OCI to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
The Group should re-attribute a proportion of the goodwill between the controlling and
non-controlling interests when their relative ownership interests change. The proportion of goodwill
that is attributable to the non-controlling interests is not necessarily equal to their ownership percentage.
Business Combination and Goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. As of the acquisition date, the
acquirer shall recognize, separately from goodwill, the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities
assumed and any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. The excess of consideration of an acquisition over the fair
values of acquired identifiable assets and liabilities is recognized as goodwill. For each business
combination, the acquirer has the option to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred.
When a business is acquired, the financial assets and financial liabilities assumed are assessed for
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in
which the combination occurs, the Group as an acquirer shall report in its consolidated financial
statements provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete.
During the measurement period, the Group as an acquirer shall retrospectively adjust the provisional
amounts recognized at the acquisition date to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and, if known, would have affected the
measurement of the amounts recognized as of that date. During the measurement period, the Group as
an acquirer shall also recognize additional assets or liabilities if new information is obtained about facts
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and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and, if known, would have resulted in the
recognition of those assets and liabilities as of that date. The measurement period ends as soon as the
Group as an acquirer receives the information it was seeking about facts and circumstances that existed
as of the acquisition date or learns that more information is not obtainable. However, the measurement
period shall not exceed one year from the acquisition date.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at the acquisition date
through profit or loss. Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized
at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration
which is deemed to be an asset or liability will be recognized in accordance with PFRS 9, either in
profit or loss or as a charge to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified
as equity, it shall not be remeasured until it is finally settled within equity. Goodwill is initially
measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount
recognized for non-controlling interest over the fair values of net identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired, the difference is recognized in profit or loss.
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (CGU) that are expected to benefit from
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those
units.
Where goodwill forms part of a CGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this
circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of
the CGU retained.
Common control business combinations
Where there are business combinations involving entities that are ultimately controlled by the same
ultimate parent (i.e., controlling shareholders) before and after the business combination and that the
control is not transitory (“business combinations under common control”), the Group accounts for such
business combinations in accordance with the guidance provided by the Philippine Interpretations
Committee Q&A No. 2011-02, PFRS 3.2 Common Control Business Combinations. The purchase
method of accounting is used, if the transaction was deemed to have substance from the perspective of
the reporting entity. In determining whether the business combination has substance, factors such as
the underlying purpose of the business combination and the involvement of parties other than the
combining entities such as the non-controlling interest, shall be considered. In cases where the
transaction has no commercial substance, the business combination is accounted for using the pooling
of interest method.
In applying the pooling of interest method, the Group follows the Philippine Interpretations Committee
Q&A No. 2012-01, PFRS 3.2 - Application of the Pooling of Interest Method for Business
Combinations of Entities under Common Control in Consolidated Financial Statements, which
provides the following guidance:
·

the assets and liabilities of the combining entities are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements at their carrying amounts. No adjustments are made to reflect fair values, or recognize
any new assets or liabilities, at the date of the combination. The only adjustments that are made
are those adjustments to harmonize accounting policies;
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no new goodwill is recognized as a result of the combination. The only goodwill that is recognized
is any existing goodwill relating to either of the combining entities. Any difference between the
consideration paid or transferred and the equity acquired is reflected within equity as other equity
reserve, i.e., either contribution or distribution of equity;
the consolidated statement of income reflects the results of the combining entities for the full year,
irrespective of when the combination took place; and
as a policy, comparatives are presented as if the entities had always been combined.

Investments in Associates
Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but not control over
those policies. The considerations made in determining significant influence are similar to those
necessary to determine control over subsidiaries.
The Group’s investments in its associates are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity
method, the investment in associates is initially recognized at cost. The carrying amount of the
investment is adjusted to recognize changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate since the
acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment
and is neither amortized nor individually tested for impairment.
The profit or loss reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associates. Any change
in other comprehensive income of the investee is presented as part of the Group’s other comprehensive
income. In addition, when there has been a change recognized directly in the equity of the associates,
the Group recognizes its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity. Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the
associates are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associates.
The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of associates is shown in the profit or loss outside
operating profit and represents profit or loss after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries
of the associates.
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize an
impairment loss on its investment in its associates. At each reporting date, the Group determines
whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associates is impaired. If there is such
evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable
amount of the associates and its carrying value, and then recognizes the loss in the profit or loss.
Upon loss of significant influence over the associates, the Group measures and recognizes any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associates upon loss of
significant influence and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognized in profit or loss.
The financial statements of the associates are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group.
When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.
Investments in associates pertain to the Company’s investments in shares of stock of LTP, 49%-owned,
Cebu Pacific Catering Services, Inc. (CPCS), 40%-owned, MacroAsia WLL, 35%-owned, Citicore
Summa Water Corporation (CSWC), 24%-owned through SWRI. In 2019, investments in associates
include investment in shares of stock of Japan Airport Services Co., Ltd., (JASCO), 30%-owned (see
Note 9).
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Functional Currency-denominated Transactions and Translations
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and the items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Transactions in foreign
currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency rate at the date of the transaction.
Outstanding monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rate of exchange at end of reporting period. All differences are taken to profit or
loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the transactions. Non-monetary items measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined.
Various factors are considered in determining the functional currency of each entity within the Group,
including prices of goods and services, competition, cost and expenses, and other factors including the
currency in which financing deals are primarily undertaken. Additional factors are considered in
determining the functional currency of a foreign operation, including whether its activities are carried
as an extension of the Group rather than being carried out with significant autonomy.
The financial position and results of operations of an associate in United States (US) Dollar ($) and
Japanese Yen (JPY) functional currency is translated into the Group’s presentation currency using the
following procedures:
a. Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the balance
sheet date.
b. Income and expenses for each statement of income and items recognized in other comprehensive
income (except for the cumulative translation adjustments) are translated using the monthly average
rate.
c. Equity items other than those resulting from income and expense and other comprehensive income
are translated at historical rates of exchange.
d. All resulting exchange differences are recognized as part of other comprehensive income (loss) and
as a separate component of equity presented as “Other components of equity” under “Share in
foreign currency translation adjustments of an associate”.
Fair Value Measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:
·
·

in the principal market for the asset or liability, or
in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest. A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s
ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient
data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.
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All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or FVTOCI, it needs to
give rise to cash flows that are SPPI on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred
to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable
Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

·
·
·

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
The Group’s Finance Committee determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value
measurement. At each reporting date, the Group analyzes the movements in the values of assets and
liabilities which are required to be re-measured or re-assessed as per the Group’s accounting policies.
For this analysis, the Group verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the
information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant documents.
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on
the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value
hierarchy as explained above.
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Group’s equity investments held at FVTOCI are carried at fair
value and with fair value measurements at each reporting period (see Note 15). Also, fair values of
financial instruments measured at amortized cost are disclosed in Note 32. The Group also discloses
the fair value of its investment property with unrecognized fair value measurements (see Notes 13 and
32).

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognized on the trade date, i.e.,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:
· Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)
· Financial assets at FVTOCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)
· Financial assets designated at FVTOCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon
derecognition (equity instruments)
· Financial assets at FVTPL
As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Group’s financial assets consist of financial assets at amortized
cost and financial assets at FVTOCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon
derecognition.
Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)
This category is most relevant to the Group. The Group measures financial assets at amortized cost if
both of the following conditions are met:
·
·

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Accounting policies starting January 1, 2018
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, and subsequently measured at amortized cost,
FVTOCI, and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of
trade receivables that do not contain significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient, the Group measures a financial asset at fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at FVTPL, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at transaction
price determined under PFRS 15.

The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and
The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are closely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognized, modified or impaired.
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Group’s financial assets at amortized cost includes cash and
cash equivalents, receivables, net investment in lease, refundable deposits and restricted cash
investments included under “Other noncurrent assets”.
Financial assets designated at FVTOCI (debt instruments)
The Group measures debt instruments at FVTOCI if both of the following conditions are met:
·
·

The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling.
The contractual terms of the terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

For debt instruments at FVTOCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses
or reversals are recognized in profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial assets
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measured at amortized cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognized in OCI. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognized in OCI is recycled to profit or loss.
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Group does not have debt instruments designated at FVTOCI.
Financial assets designated at FVTOCI (equity instruments)
Upon initial recognition, the Company can elect to classify irrevocably its equity instruments as equity
instruments designated at FVTOCI when they meet the definition of equity under
PAS 32, Financial Instruments, Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is
determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.
Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognized
as other income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, except when the Group
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such
gains are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments designated at FVTOCI are not subject to impairment
assessment.
The Company elected to classify irrevocably its quoted and unquoted equity instruments under this
category.
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Group’s equity instruments at FVTOCI include golf club shares
and equity shares.
Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held
at FVTPL. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).
For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to debtors
and the economic environment.
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Accounting Policies Prior to January 1, 2018
Date of recognition
The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the consolidated balance sheet when it
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognized on the settlement date.
Initial recognition and classification of financial instruments
Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value. The initial measurement of financial
instruments, except for those designated at FVTPL, includes transaction costs.
On initial recognition, the Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial
assets at FVTPL, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity (HTM) investments, and AFS financial assets.
The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments are acquired and whether they are
quoted in an active market. Financial liabilities, on the other hand, are classified into the following
categories: financial liabilities at FVTPL and other financial liabilities, as appropriate. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets and financial liabilities at initial recognition and,
where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every reporting date.
Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangement. Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to a financial instrument or a
component that is a financial liability are reported as expense or income. Distributions to holders of
financial instruments classified as equity are charged directly to equity net of any related income tax
benefits.
As at January 1, 2018, the Group’s financial assets pertain to loans and receivables and AFS financial
assets, while financial liabilities pertain to other financial liabilities.
Subsequent measurement
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables are subsequently carried either at cost or
amortized cost in the consolidated balance sheet. Amortization is determined using the effective interest
method. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are
derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process.
As at January 1, 2018, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents, receivables and restricted cash investment
included under “Other noncurrent assets” are classified as loans and receivables.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal
or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual cash
flows in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the customer or group of customers is
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments,
the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable
data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in
arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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Loans and receivables
The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried
at amortized cost has been incurred, the amount of loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset shall be reduced
through the use of an allowance account. The amount of loss is recognized in profit or loss.
If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, the asset is included in the group of financial assets with similar credit
risk and characteristics and that group of financial assets is collectively assessed for impairment. Assets
that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be
recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment. If, in a subsequent period, the
amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed.
Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss, to the extent that the
carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date.
Accounting Policies Applicable to Both Periods
Other financial liabilities
This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held for trading or not designated as FVTPL
upon the inception of the liability. These include liabilities arising from operating and financing
activities.
Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of any transaction cost incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortized cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption value is recognized in profit or loss over the period of the borrowing using the
effective interest method. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of reporting
period.
Accounts payable and accrued expenses are recognized in the period in which the related money, goods
or services are received or when a legally enforceable claim against the Group is established. These
are measured at amortized cost, normally equal to the nominal amount.
Other financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and are subsequently carried at amortized
cost, taking into account the impact of applying the effective interest method of amortization
(or accretion) for any related premium or discount and any directly attributable transaction costs.

·

the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to
pay them in full without material delay to third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or
the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
asset is recognized to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.
Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or
has expired.
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability,
and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in profit or loss.
“Day 1” Difference
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other observable
current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables
include only data from observable market, the Group recognizes the difference between the transaction
price and fair value (a “Day 1” difference) in profit or loss unless it qualifies for recognition as some
other type of asset. In cases where use is made of data which is not observable, the difference between
the transaction price and model value is only recognized in profit or loss when the inputs become
observable or when the instrument is derecognized. For each transaction, the Group determines the
appropriate method of recognizing the “Day 1” difference amount.
Offsetting of Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated
balance sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset (i.e., rights that are not dependent
on the occurrence of a future event) the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The Group assesses that it has a
currently enforceable right of offset if the right is not contingent on a future event, and is legally
enforceable in the normal course of business, event of default and insolvency or bankruptcy of the
Group and all of the counterparties.
Current versus Non-Current Classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet based on current/non-current
classification.

The Group’s accounts payable and accrued expenses (except for statutory payables), lease liabilities,
notes payable and long- term debt, and dividends payable are classified as other financial liabilities.

An asset is current when it is:

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of an entity of similar financial
assets) is derecognized when:

·
·
·
·

·

the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired;

MacroAsia Corporation 2019 Annual Report

Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle
Held primarily for the purpose of trading
Expected to be realized within 12 months after the reporting period, or
Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at
least 12 months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.
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A liability is current when it is:
·
·
·
·

Expected to be settled in normal operating cycle
Held primarily for the purpose of trading
Due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period, or
There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the reporting period.

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash consists of cash on hand and in banks. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less
from dates of acquisition and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
Cash and cash equivalents which are restricted in use are not presented as part of cash, but presented
separately as part of “Other current assets” or “Other noncurrent assets” depending on the maturity.
Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). Cost, which includes
purchase price and costs incurred in bringing the product to its present location and condition, is
determined on the basis of the moving average method.
NRV of food and beverage is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale. In the case of materials
and supplies, NRV is the recoverable value of the inventories when disposed of at their current
condition.
Other Current Assets
Other current assets include excess creditable withholding taxes and prepayments. Creditable
withholding taxes are deducted from income tax due on the same year the revenue was recognized,
with excess recognized as current asset. Prepayments are expenses paid in advance and recorded as
asset before they are utilized. They are apportioned over the period covered by the payment and
charged to the appropriate accounts in profit or loss when incurred. Prepayments that are expected to
be realized for no more than 12 months after the reporting period are classified as current assets,
otherwise, these are classified as other noncurrent assets.
Value-Added Tax (VAT) and Tax Credit Certificates (TCCs)
Revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognized net of the amount of VAT, if applicable. When
VAT from sales of goods and/or services (output VAT) exceeds VAT passed on from purchases of
goods or services (input VAT), the excess is recognized as payable in the consolidated balance sheet.
When VAT passed on from purchase of goods or services (input VAT) exceeds VAT from sales of
goods and/or services (output VAT), the excess is recognized as an asset in the consolidated balance
sheet to the extent of the recoverable amount. Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of
VAT included. For sale or purchase of services, related VAT is deferred until the related receivable or
payable from the transaction has been collected or paid.
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The Group maintains an allowance for any possible disallowance of conversion of input VAT to TCC.
A review of input VAT is made on a continuing basis to determine the adequacy of allowance for
probable losses at each reporting date.
The net amount of VAT payable to taxation authority is included in “Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities” in the consolidated balance sheet.
TCCs pertain to amount of tax credit for which the Group is allowed or entitled to in accordance with
applicable laws and can be used to settle the Group’s obligations due to the national government.
Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment, except land, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
amortization and any impairment in value. Land is stated at cost less impairment in value, if any.
The initial cost of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price, including import duties,
taxes, borrowing costs and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use. Expenditures incurred after the property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance and overhaul costs, are normally charged to
profit or loss in the period when the costs are incurred. In situations where it can be clearly
demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected
to be obtained from the use of an item of property and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard
of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as an additional cost of property, plant and equipment.
Construction in progress, which is included in property, plant and equipment, is carried at cost. This
includes cost of construction, equipment and other direct costs. Construction in progress is not
depreciated until such time as the relevant assets are completed and become available for use.
Each part of an item of property and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost
of the item is depreciated separately.
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:
Building
Kitchen and other operations equipment
Transportation equipment
Aviation equipment
Plant and technical equipment
Water pumps and machineries
Water pipelines
Drilling equipment
Office furniture, fixtures and equipment

No. of years
5 to 25
3 to 10
5
2 to 10
10 to 20
10 to 20
10
5
3 to 7

Building and leasehold and land improvements are amortized over the respective lease term or the lives
of the assets (which range from 2 to 25 years), whichever is shorter.

Input VAT from acquisition of capital goods amounting to P
=1,000,000 and above of any given calendar
month is deferred and amortized over 60 months or the useful life of the capital goods, whichever is
shorter. The unamortized portion is included under “Input VAT - net” in the consolidated balance sheet.

Depreciation and amortization of an item of property, plant and equipment begins when the asset
becomes available for use, i.e., when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. Depreciation and amortization ceases at the date
that the item is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for
sale) in accordance with PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations or
the date the asset is derecognized, whichever is earlier.
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The useful lives and depreciation and amortization methods are reviewed periodically to ensure that
the residual values, periods and methods of depreciation and amortization are consistent with the
expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property, plant and equipment.

Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognized as expense in the period on which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

When property, plant and equipment are sold or retired, their cost, related accumulated depreciation
and amortization and any accumulated impairment in value are removed from the accounts. Any gain
or loss resulting from their disposal is included in profit or loss.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest
and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed
lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment are retained in the accounts until these are no longer
in use.
Leases
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
a consideration.
Net investment in the lease
The Group recognizes assets held under a finance lease as net investment in the lease. The net
investment in the lease is the gross investment discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. The
gross investment in the lease is the aggregate of the minimum lease payments receivable by the Group,
and any guaranteed and unguaranteed residual value. Initial direct costs are in the measurement of the
net investment in the least at inception. The lease payments received from the lessee are treated as
repayments of principal and finance income.
Right-of-use assets
The Group recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received and
estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying asset,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories. Unless the
Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the
recognized right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term as presented below:
Land
Office space

In Years
5 to 50
5 to 35

Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in section impairment
of non-financial assets.
Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the
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Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery,
equipment, office space and staff house (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the leases of lowvalue assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered of low value. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized as expense on a straightline basis over the lease term.
Group as lessor
Leases where the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the
assets are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating operating leases
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same
basis as the rental income. Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.
Leases where the Group retains legal title to assets but passes substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee in return for a stream of rentals are classified as finance leases. The Group
recognizes assets held under a finance lease as an amount equal to the net investment in the lease as
“Finance lease receivables.” The net investment in the lease is the gross investment discounted at the
interest rate implicit in the lease. The gross investment in the lease is the aggregate of the minimum
lease payments receivable by the Group, and any guaranteed and unguaranteed residual value. Initial
direct costs are in the measurement of the net investment in the least at inception. The lease payments
received from the lessee are treated as repayments of principal and finance income.
Investment Property
Investment property, which pertains to a parcel of land held for appreciation in value and land and
building held for rentals, are measured at cost less any impairment in value.
Investment property is derecognized when it has either been disposed of or when the investment
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future benefit is expected from its disposal. Any
gains or losses resulting from the derecognition of an investment property is recognized in the profit or
loss in the year of derecognition. Transfers are made to investment property when, and only when,
there is a change in use, evidenced by cessation of owner-occupation, commencement of an operating
lease to another party or completion of construction or development. Transfers are made from
investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by commencement of
owner-occupation or commencement of development with a view to sale.
Service Concession Arrangements
The Group accounts for its service concession arrangements in accordance with Philippine
Interpretation IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements, under the intangible asset model as it
receives the right (license) to charge users of public service (see Note 14).
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Revenue and cost recognition. The Group recognizes and measures revenue and cost in accordance
with PFRS 15, for the services it performs. When the Group provides construction or upgrade services,
the consideration received or receivable by the Group is recognized at its fair value. The revenue and
cost from these services are recognized based on the percentage of completion measured principally on
the basis of estimated completion of a physical proportion of the contract works, and by reference to
the actual costs incurred to date over the estimated total cost of the project. The construction revenue
and construction cost are reported as part of “Other income -net” in the consolidated statement of
income.

mine and mining properties and classified as part of property and equipment. A valuation allowance is
provided for estimated unrecoverable deferred mine exploration costs based on the technical
assessment by the Group of the future prospects of each mining property. Full provision is made for
the impairment unless it is probable that such costs are expected to be recouped through successful
exploration and development of the area of interest, or alternatively, by its sale. If the project does not
prove to be viable or when the project is abandoned, the deferred mine exploration costs associated
with the project and the related impairment provisions are written off. Exploration areas are considered
permanently abandoned if the related permits of the exploration have expired and/or there are no
definite plans for further exploration and/or development.

Contract assets ongoing construction. During the construction phase of the arrangements, the Group’s
contract assets (representing its accumulating right to be paid for rehabilitation works) are presented as
part of “Service concession assets” (SCA) for intangible asset model.

Mining expenses, which are not related to establishing the technical feasibility and commercial viability
of mineral resource extractions, are expensed outright.

Service concession right. The service concession right is recognized initially at the fair value of
construction works incurred, which include professional and consultancy fees, structural costs, etc. The
Group applies PAS 38, Intangible Assets, on measuring the intangible assets. Following initial
recognition, the service concession right is carried at cost less accumulated amortization and any
impairment losses. Amortization period is based on the concession period.
The service concession right will be derecognized upon turnover to the grantor. There will be no gain
or loss upon derecognition as the service concession right, which is expected to be fully amortized by
then, will be handed over to the grantor with no or minimal consideration.
Intangible Assets
The Group recognizes an intangible asset acquired in a business combination if it is identifiable and
distinguishable from goodwill. The Group considers an intangible asset as identifiable if:
· it is separable, i.e., there is evidence of exchange transactions for the asset or an asset of a similar
type, even if those transactions are infrequent and regardless of whether the Group is involved in
those transactions; or
· it arises from contractual or other legal rights, regardless of whether those rights are transferable or
separable from the entity or from other rights and obligations (“contractual-legal” criterion).
The Group’s intangible assets recognized from business combination pertain to customer relationship,
customer contracts and right to use asset (i.e., extraction and distribution of water in certain provinces
in the Philippines). The estimated useful life of the intangible assets follows:
Customer relationships
Customer contracts

No. of years
22
18

The right to use of water permits is assessed to have an indefinite useful life.
Deferred Mine Exploration Costs
Expenditures for mine exploration works on mining properties (i.e., acquisition of rights to explore,
topographical, geological, geochemical and geophysical studies, exploratory drilling, trenching,
sampling, and activities in relation to evaluating the technical feasibility and commercial viability of
extracting the mineral resource) are deferred as incurred, carried at cost less any impairment in value
and presented as “Deferred mine exploration costs” in the consolidated balance sheet. When, as a result
of the exploration work, recoverable reserves are determined to be present in quantities that can be
commercially produced, exploration expenditures and subsequent development costs are capitalized as
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Deferred Project Costs
Deferred project costs pertain to expenditures related to ongoing water projects where technical
feasibility has been completed and the Group has the intention and ability (e.g., technical and financial)
to complete the relevant activities to have grants from government authorities either to provide bulk or
retail water services. Once grants from government authorities are awarded, the Group assesses
whether these assets shall be accounted for under Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 12 or property and
equipment. Deferred project costs are not amortized until these are transferred as property and
equipment or either financial or intangible asset under IFRIC 12.
Nonrefundable Security Deposits
Nonrefundable security deposits are included as part of “Other noncurrent assets” which represent the
difference between the face amount and the present value of refundable rental deposits made and are
being amortized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Amortization of nonrefundable security
deposits is included under “Financing charges” account in profit or loss. Accretion of the refundable
rental deposits using the effective interest method is included under “Interest income” account in profit
or loss.
Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
Nonfinancial assets other than goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite life
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that investments in associates,
property and equipment, right-of-use asset, investment property, deferred project costs, service
concession right and intangible assets with finite life may be impaired. If any such indication exists,
or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s
recoverable amount. The Group also assesses its deferred mine exploration costs for impairment when
facts and circumstances suggest that its carrying amount may exceed its recoverable amount. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value-in-use. The
recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down
to its recoverable amount. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pretax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses of continuing operations are
recognized in profit or loss in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.
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An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists,
the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed and
recognized in profit or loss only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. If that is the case, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, had no
impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. After such a reversal, the depreciation
charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual
value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite life
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite life are reviewed for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit (or group of
cash generating units) to which the goodwill relates or the intangible assets with indefinite life. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated or the
intangible assets with indefinite life is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized
immediately in profit or loss. Impairment losses relating to goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite
life cannot be reversed for subsequent increases in its recoverable amount in future periods. The Group
performs its annual impairment test at each end of the reporting date.
Revenue - Effective prior to January 1, 2018
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits associated to the
transactions will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at
the fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts and sales taxes or duties. The Group
assesses its revenue arrangements against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as principal
or agent. The Group has concluded that it is acting as a principal in all its major revenue arrangements.
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized:
In-flight and other catering
Catering revenue is recognized upon delivery of goods to and acceptance by airline clients and other
customers.
Rendering of services
Revenue from ground handling, aviation and administrative services, charter flights, water service and
exploratory drilling services is recognized when the related services are rendered.
Rental income
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The cumulative excess of
rental income on a straight-line basis over the related rent collections is presented as “Accrued rental
receivable” in the consolidated balance sheet.
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Construction revenue
See accounting policy under “Service Concession Right”.
Revenue from Contracts with Customers - Effective starting January 1, 2018
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when control of the goods or services are
transferred to the customer at amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods and services. The Group has generally concluded that it is principal
in its revenue arrangements because it typically controls the goods and services before transferring
them to the customer.
Sale of goods (beverage and dry store)
Sale of beverage and dry store is recognized at point in time upon delivery of goods to and acceptance
by airline clients and other customers.
Rendering of services
Revenue from inflight and other catering, ground handling, aviation and administrative services, charter
flights, water service (including provision of potable water and treatment of sewage water) and
exploratory drilling services is recognized over time when the related services are rendered.
The Group, through BTSI, also provides operation and maintenance of sewerage treatment plant
(“STP”) that is either performed separately or together with the construction of STP. The operation and
maintenance of STP can be obtained from other providers and do not significantly customize or modify
the construction of STP. Contracts for construction and operation and maintenance of STP comprise
two separate and distinct performance obligations because each are capable of being distinct and
separately identifiable.
In determining the transaction price for the construction and operation and maintenance of sewerage
treatment plant, the Group allocates the transaction price based on relative stand-alone selling prices of
the performance obligations. Further, the Group considers the effects of variable consideration and the
existence of significant financing component.
Revenue from construction of STP is recognized over time as the construction of STP creates an asset
that the customer controls as the STP is constructed. Revenue from operation and maintenance of STP
is recognized over time as the customers simultaneously receive and consume the benefits provided by
the Group.
Variable consideration
If the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the Group estimates the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at the contract inception and is not constrained as it is not highly
probable that a significant revenue recognized will occur as the uncertainty on the variable
consideration will be resolved within a short time frame.

Interest income
Interest income is recognized as the interest accrues using, where applicable, the effective interest
method, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life
of the financial assets to the net carrying amount of the financial assets.

Significant financing component
Generally, the Group receives the consideration within the normal credit terms from its customers.
Using the practical expedient in PFRS 15, the Group does not adjust the promised amount of
consideration for the effects of a significant financing component if it expects, at contract inception,
that the period between the transfer of promised good or service to the customer will be one year or
less.
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The Group receives the consideration for BTSI’s construction of STP over three to four years. The
transaction price for such contracts is discounted using the rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between BTSI and its customers at contract inception to take into consideration
the significant financing component.
Interest income
Interest income is recognized as the interest accrues using, where applicable, the effective interest
method, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life
of the financial assets to the net carrying amount of the financial assets.
Dividend income
Dividend income is recognized when the Group’s right as a shareholder to receive the payment is
established.
Other income
Other income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established.
Contract Balances
Contract assets
A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods and services transferred to the
customer. If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer
pays consideration before payment is due, a contract asset is recognized for the earned consideration
that is conditional.
Trade receivables
A receivable represents the Group’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional. Refer to
accounting policies of financial assets in section Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities – initial
recognition and subsequent measurement.
Contract liabilities
A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays
consideration before the Group transfers goods and services to the customer, a contract liability is
recognized when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities
are recognized as revenue when the Group performs under the contract.
Direct Costs, Selling Expenses and General and Administrative Expenses
Direct costs, which include expenses incurred by the Group for the generation of revenue from
rendering of in-flight and other catering services, rental and administrative services, ground handling
and aviation services, water treatment and distribution, exploratory services and charter flights are
expensed as incurred.
Selling expenses, which include costs of advertising and promotion, and general and administrative
expenses, which include the cost of administering the business, are not directly associated with the
generation of revenue and are generally expensed as incurred.
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Employee Benefits
Retirement benefits costs
Retirement benefits costs are actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method. This
method considers each period of service as giving rise to an additional unit of benefit entitlement and
measures each separately to build up the final obligation. Retirement benefit costs comprise the
following:
· Service cost
· Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset; and
· Remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset.
Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on non-routine
settlements are recognized as expense in the profit or loss. Past service costs are recognized when plan
amendment or curtailment occurs. These amounts are calculated periodically by independent qualified
actuaries.
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net defined
benefit liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by applying the
discount rate based on government bonds to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Net interest on the
net defined benefit liability or asset is recognized as expense or income in profit or loss.
Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets (excluding amounts
included in net interest on the net defined liability) and any change in the effect of the asset ceiling
(excluding net interest on defined benefit liability) are recognized immediately in other comprehensive
income in the period in which they arise. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods.
Plan assets are assets that are held by a long-term employee benefit fund. Plan assets are not available
to the creditors of the Group, nor can they be paid directly to the Group. Fair value of plan assets is
based on market price information. When no market price is available, the fair value of plan assets is
estimated by discounting expected future cash flows using a discount rate that reflects both the risk
associated with the plan assets and the maturity or expected disposal date of those assets (or, if they
have no maturity, the expected period until the settlement of the related obligations).
The Group’s right to be reimbursed of some or all of the expenditure required to settle a defined benefit
obligation is recognized as a separate asset at fair value when and only when reimbursement is virtually
certain.
The amount recognized as accrued retirement benefits payable or plan asset is the aggregate of the
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period reduced by the fair
value of plan assets, if any, adjusted for any effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset
ceiling. The asset ceiling is the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds
from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Other Comprehensive Income
Other comprehensive income comprises items of income and expense (including items previously
presented under the consolidated statement of changes in equity) that are not recognized in the profit
or loss for the year in accordance with PFRSs. Other comprehensive income of the Group includes
share in foreign currency translation adjustments on investment in associates, unrealized changes in
fair value of financial assets held at FVTOCI, remeasurements in the Group’s defined benefit plans and
the Group’s share in associates’ remeasurements on defined benefit plans.

Employee leave entitlement
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized as a liability when they are accrued to the
employees. The undiscounted liability for leave expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after
the end of the annual reporting period is recognized for services rendered by employees up to the end
of the reporting period. For leave credits expected to be settled at the date of retirement or
recognition, the liability is presented at its present value using assumptions consistent with those used
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to discount retirement benefits. The expense recognized in profit or loss comprise the service cost, net
interest of the liability and remeasurements.
Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits include items such as salaries and wages, social security contributions
and nonmonetary benefits, if expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the reporting date in
which the employees rendered the related services. Short-term employee benefits are recognized as
expense as incurred. When an employee has rendered service to the Group during the reporting period,
the Group recognizes the undiscounted amount of short-term employee benefits expected to be paid in
exchange for that service as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any amount already paid.

Deferred income tax liabilities are not provided on nontaxable temporary differences associated with
investments in domestic subsidiaries, associates and interest in joint ventures. With respect to
investments in other subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax
liabilities are recognized except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Termination benefit
Termination benefits are employee benefits provided in exchange for the termination of an employee’s
employment as a result of either an entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before
the normal retirement date or an employee’s decision to accept an offer of benefits in exchange for the
termination of employment.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profits will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred income tax assets are
reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient future taxable profits will allow the deferred income tax assets to be recovered.

A liability and expense for a termination benefit is recognized at the earlier of when the entity can no
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the entity recognizes related restructuring costs.
Initial recognition and subsequent changes to termination benefits are measured in accordance with the
nature of the employee benefit, as either post-employment benefits, short-term employee benefits, or
other long-term employee benefits.

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds. Borrowing costs are capitalized if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, production or
construction of a qualifying asset. A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial
period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale. Capitalization of borrowing costs
commences when the activities to prepare the asset are in progress and expenditures and borrowing
costs are being incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalized until the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use. Borrowing costs not qualified for capitalization are expensed as incurred.
Income Taxes
Current income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current
income tax for the current and prior period, shall, to the extent unpaid, be recognized as a liability and
is presented as “Income tax payable” in the consolidated balance sheet. If the amount already paid,
including the cumulative creditable withholding taxes, in respect of the current and prior period exceeds
the amount due for those periods, the excess shall be recognized as an asset under “Other current assets”
in the consolidated balance sheet.
Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are provided, using the balance sheet liaility method, on all
temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred income
tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward benefits of excess
minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular corporate income tax (RCIT) and unused net
operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that sufficient future taxable profits
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will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carryforward benefits of
excess MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized. Deferred income tax however, is not recognized
when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit.
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Deferred income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and those
directly in comprehensive income are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. Deferred income tax items are recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right
exists to set off the deferred income tax assets against the deferred income tax liabilities and the deferred
income taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. If the effect
of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future
cash flows at a pretax rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and where
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provisions
due to the passage of time is recognized as an interest expense. The information usually required by
PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, is not disclosed as it may prejudice
the Group’s negotiation with the third party.
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements. These are disclosed
unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. A contingent
asset is not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of
economic benefits is probable.
Capital Stock and Additional Paid-in Capital
Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued and outstanding.
When the shares are sold at a premium, the difference between the proceeds and the par value is credited
to the “Additional paid-in capital” account. When shares are issued for a consideration other than cash,
the proceeds are measured by the fair value of the consideration received. In case the shares are issued
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to extinguish or settle the liability of the Company, the shares shall be measured either at the fair value
of the shares issued or fair value of the liability settled, whichever is more reliably determinable.
Retained Earnings
Retained earnings consist of appropriated and unappropriated balances. Appropriated retained earnings
are restricted for specific purposes and/or are not available for dividend declaration. Unappropriated
retained earnings are not restricted and include the cumulative balance of net income or loss, any
dividend distributions, prior period adjustments and effects of any change in accounting policy.
Dividend distributions
Cash dividends on common shares are recognized as liability and deducted from retained earnings upon
declaration by the BOD.
Stock dividends on common shares are measured based on the total par value of declared stock
dividend. Stock dividends are deducted from retained earnings when the BOD’s declaration is ratified
by the stockholders of the Parent Company. Unissued stock dividends are recorded as stock dividends
distributable and credited to capital stock upon issuance.
Dividends for the year that are declared after the end of the reporting period but before the approval for
issuance of parent company financial statements are dealt with as an event after the reporting period.
Treasury Shares
Own equity instruments, which are reacquired, are recognized at cost and deducted from equity. No
gain or loss is recognized in the profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and consideration, if
reissued, is recognized in “Additional paid-in capital” account.
Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year.

3. Significant Judgments, Accounting Estimates and Assumptions
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in acordance with PFRSs requires the Group
to exercise judgments, make estimates and use assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. The estimates and assumptions used in the
consolidated financial statements are based upon management’s evaluation of relevant facts and
circumstances as of the date of the financial statements. Future events may occur which will cause the
assumptions used in arriving at the estimates to change. The effects of any change in estimates are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements as they become reasonably determinable.
Judgments
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on amounts
recognized in the consolidated financial statements.
Determination of the Group’s functional currency
Judgment is exercised in assessing various factors in determining the functional currency of each entity
within the Group. These include the prices of goods and services, competition, cost and expenses, and
other factors including the currency in which financing is primarily undertaken.
The Group, based on the relevant economic substance of the underlying circumstances, has determined
its functional currency to be Peso. It is the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the Group operates. The functional currencies of LTP and JASCO, the Group’s associated companies
(see Notes 2 and 9), has been determined to be US$ and JPY, respectively.
Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group applied the following judgments that significantly affect the determination of the amount
and timing of revenue from contracts with customers:
·

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that
would be issued upon conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The effect of stock dividends,
if any, is accounted for retrospectively. The Company has no potentially dilutive shares as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018.
Events After the Reporting Date
Post-year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the reporting
date (adjusting events), if any, are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Post-year-end
events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements when
material.
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Determination of the timing of satisfaction of performance obligation
In- flight and other catering, ground handling and aviation, and water services
The Group assessed that performance obligation for inflight and other catering, except for dry store
and beverage, ground handling and aviation and water services are rendered to the customers over
time. As a result, the Group’s revenue is recognized based on the extent of progress towards
completion of the performance obligation. The selection of the method to measure progress towards
completion requires judgment.
Sale of dry store and beverage
The Group assessed that performance obligation for sale of dry store and beverage are satisfied at
a point in time. The Group uses its judgment on when a customer obtains control of the promised
goods. The Group has assessed that the actual delivery of the goods to the customer is the point in
time when the performance obligation has been satisfied.

Segment Information
The Group’s operating businesses are organized and managed separately according to the nature of the
aviation-support service provided by its four subsidiaries, maintenance, repairs and overhaul, miningrelated activities and water treatment and distribution. This is the basis on which the Group reports its
primary segment information. The Group also monitors the revenue and operating results of its
associates. Information with respect to these subsidiaries, as well as the Group’s associates, are
disclosed in Notes 4 and 9. The Group’s geographic segment is the Philippines only. The Group
operates and derives all its revenue from domestic operation.

Allocation of total transaction price between construction and operation and maintenance of STP
Management determined that the contractually agreed price for construction of STP does not depict
the amount the Group expects to receive for the performance obligation as the costs of STP are also
expected to be recovered through the fees from operation and maintenance. Accordingly, the Group
determined that the total transaction price of construction and operation and maintenance (i.e., the
performance obligations) of STP needs to be allocated. This required the estimation of each of the
performance obligation’s stand-alone selling prices based on expected value method. The Group
estimates consideration from the construction of STP based on expected gross margin. On the other
hand, the Group estimates the variable consideration from operation and maintenance of STP based
on the historical patterns of water consumption and room capacity of the Group’s customers.
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The revenue recognized for the construction and the operation and maintenance of STP amounted
to =
P5.0 million and =
P15.8 million in 2019, and P
=112.8 million and P
=0.4 million in 2018. Contract
assets which will be realized as receivables as the Group renders operation and maintenance,
amounted to =
P20.8 million and =
P28.3 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively (see
Notes 6 and 19).
Assessment of control or significant influence over the investee
The Group makes an assessment whether or not it controls an investee by considering all relevant facts
and circumstances which indicate that the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee. A reassessment is made if circumstances indicate that there are changes in these control
elements. The Group has significant influence over an investee if it only has the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions, but not control or jointly control over the investee. As of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Group still determined that it controls its subsidiaries and has
significant influence over its associates (see Note 10).
Assessment of operators under Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 12
Management has assessed that memoranda of agreement with the Municipality of Solano, Nueva
Vizcaya (Solano) to provide water distribution facilities and with the Municipality of Naic Cavite
(Naic) to develop and operate water supply and distributions system are covered by the Philippine
Interpretation IFRIC 12. The memoranda of agreement qualify under the intangible asset model with
respect to the operation of the waterwork facilities as the Group has the right (license) to charge users
of public service (see Note 14).
Classification of leases - the Group as a lessor
The Group has entered into short-term leases, which provide no transfer of ownership to the lessee. The
Group has determined that, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, it
retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these equipment and accounts for these as
operating leases.
Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options - Group as a lessee
The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods
covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods
covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.
The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The Group
applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option
to renew or terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive
for it to exercise either the renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses
the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and
affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate (e.g., construction of
significant leasehold improvements or significant customisation to the leased asset).
The Group included the renewal period as part of the lease term for leases which are renewable at the
option of the lessee. The Group typically exercises its option to renew for these leases because of
significant permanent improvement introduced in the leased premises. The renewal periods for leases
are not included as part of the lease term if option to renew is at lessor’s discretion or leases which
renewal depends on mutual consent of contracting parties as these are not reasonably certain to be
exercised. Furthermore, the periods covered by termination options are included as part of the lease
term only when they are reasonably certain not to be exercised.

Contingencies
The Group, in its normal course of business, is involved in various legal cases and claims. Based on
management’s assessment, the Group will be able to defend its position on these cases and that the
ultimate outcome will not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
Accordingly, no provision has been recognized for these contingencies. LTP, the most significant
associate of the Group also assesses the need to recognize the provisions based on the status of the
claims (see Note 9).
Estimates and Assumptions
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised if the revision affects that
period, or in the period of revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
reporting date that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
Group’s assets and liabilities follow.
Determination of fair values in business combination and goodwill
The Group accounts for the acquired businesses using the acquisition method, which requires the
identification of the assets and liabilities of the acquired entities and the determination of their fair
values on acquisition date. Management exercises significant judgment and estimation to allocate the
purchase price to the fair values of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities and contingent
liabilities, if any, at the acquisition date.
On acquisition of the investment in JASCO, any difference between the cost of the investment and the
entity’s share of the net fair value of the investee’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for
either as goodwill included in the carrying amount of the investment relating to an associate or a joint
venture or as income in the determination of the Company’s share of the associate’s profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.
On the acquisition of NAWASCOR and SWRI, any difference in the purchase price and the fair values
of the net assets acquired is recorded as either goodwill or gain on bargain purchase in profit or loss.
As of December 31, 2019, investment in JASCO amounted to P
=853.8 million which includes a
provisional goodwill amounting to =
P799.1 million (see Notes 9 and 10).
In 2019 and 2018, management finalized the purchase price allocation of the acquisition of SWRI in
2018 and NAWASCOR in 2017 which resulted in recognition of goodwill amounting to =
P27.4 million
and P
=36.9 million, respectively (see Notes 10 and 14).
Determination of fair value of financial instruments
When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the parent company balance
sheet cannot be measured based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair values is measured using
valuation techniques including the discounted cash flow model. The inputs to these models are taken
from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required
in establishing fair values. Judgments include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk
and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these assumptions about these factors could affect the
reported fair value of financial instruments (see Note 32).

Refer to Note 28 for information on potential future rental payments relating to periods following the
exercise date of extension and termination options that are not included in the lease term.
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Leases - estimating the incremental borrowing rate
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its
incremental borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The
IBR therefore reflects what the Group ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no
observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or
when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases
are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs
(such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates
(such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
Provision for expected credit losses
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for financial assets at amortized cost. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns. The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates.
The Group calibrates the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in
forward-looking estimates are analyzed.
The assessment of the correlation between observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and
ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of
forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of the customer’s actual default in the future.
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Group’s trade receivables from related parties amounted to
=1,175.0 million and =
P
P361.2 million, net of allowance amounting to =
P4.4 million (i.e., accounts for
61% and 40.6% of the total receivables and contract assets), respectively (see Note 18). The related
party which comprise the significant portion of the Group’s total receivable has been incurring losses
resulting to a deficit and a negative working capital. We assessed that the carrying amount of the trade
receivable from related parties are collectible.
The Group has a segmentation of its credit risk exposures based on homogeneity of credit risk
characteristics and credit risk management policies to identify defaulting customers using observable
inputs such as historical loss rates, recoveries and write offs. The Group has also applied forwardlooking information for its overlay through statistical test and corroboration using publicly available
information.
The Group’s receivables and contract assets, net of allowance for the expected credit losses of
=15.5 million and =
P
P14.9 million, amounted to =
P1,925.7 million and P
=900.4 million as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively (see Note 6).
Determination of NRV of inventories
The Group estimates the NRV of inventories based on the most reliable evidence available at the time
the estimates are made. These estimates consider the fluctuations of prices or costs directly relating to
events occurring after the reporting date to the extent that such events affect the value of inventories.
Other factors include the age of the inventories and Company’s experience on write-off and expirations.
The Group did not identify any factors which indicate inventory obsolescence based on the above
discussions. Accordingly, no provision was recognized in 2019, 2018 and 2017.
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The Group’s inventories carried at cost as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 amounted to P
=106.0 million
and P
=88.8 million, respectively (see Note 7).
Estimating allowances for probable losses on input taxes and TCCs
The Group estimates the level of provision for probable losses on input taxes and TCCs based on the
experience of the Group and assessment of counsels assisting the Group in processing the claims and
negotiating the realization of TCCs. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the carrying value of input
taxes and TCCs amounted to P
=446.9 million and P
=334.3 million, respectively. Allowance for probable
losses amounted to =
P24.7 million and =
P47.8 million, respectively (see Note 8).
Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Group estimates the useful lives of property, plant and equipment based on the internal technical
evaluation and experience with similar assets. In cases where the use of property, plant and equipment
is dependent on the grant of certain permits to conduct its business, management considers the
probability of renewal of such permits based on past experience. In this situation, useful lives of
property, plant and equipment are based on the economic useful lives rather than the currently effective
period of the permits. Estimated useful lives are reviewed periodically and updated if expectations
differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical and commercial obsolescence
and other limits on the use of the assets. There is no change in the estimated useful lives of property,
plant and equipment in 2019, 2018 and 2017.
The carrying value of property, plant and equipment subject to depreciation as of December 31, 2019
and 2018 amounted to =
P2,095.6 million and =
P1,015.9 million, respectively (see Note 12).
Estimation of useful life of service concession right
At the start of operation of the water work facilities, the service concession right is to be amortized over
the concession period as provided in the agreements with relevant government units. The amortization
period is reviewed when there are changes in the expected term of the contract or the expected pattern
of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset. In 2018, NAWASCOR was granted
additional concession period of 15 years by the Municipality of Naic, Cavite. Accordingly,
NAWASCOR changed the useful life of its service concession right from 25 years to 40 years (see
Note 29).
Amortization for the service concession right amounted to =
P20.0 million, =
P18.9 million and
=18.7 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The carrying value of the service concession right
P
amounted to =
P424.6 million and =
P429.7 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively
(see Note 14).
Estimation of useful life of intangible assets acquired as part of business combination
The assigned useful lives of intangible assets acquired as part of business combination are estimated
based on the period over which the asset is expected to be available for use. Such estimation is based
on collective assessment of similar businesses, internal evaluation and experience with similar assets.
Further, management considers the probability of renewal of certain permits and the cost and efforts in
renewing such permits based on past experience. The useful life of each asset is reviewed at each
financial year and updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to technical or commercial
obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the asset. There were no changes in the estimated
useful lives of customer contract and relationships, while right to use asset is assessed to have indefinite
useful life due to minimal efforts required to renew certain permits to extract and distribute water in
relevant provinces based on past experience.
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The total carrying value of the customer contract and relationships, and the right to use of water permits
amounted to =
P174.3 million and =
P145.5 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively (see
Note 14).
Determination of impairment indicators and impairment testing of nonfinancial assets
Nonfinancial assets other than goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite life
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that its nonfinancial assets
other than goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite life (i.e., investments in associates, property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, investment property, service concession right, intangible
assets, deferred project costs, deferred mine exploration costs) may be impaired. Also, the Group
assesses whether facts and circumstances suggest that carrying amount of deferred mine exploration
costs may exceed its recoverable amount. The factors that the Group considers important which could
trigger an impairment review included the following, among others:
· significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results;
· significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the overall business strategy; and,
· significant negative industry or economic trends.
If such indication exists, the Group performs impairment testing to estimate the recoverable amount of
the related asset. Management determined certain facts which indicate impairment of the service
concession right which required impairment testing as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.
The carrying values of the nonfinancial assets are as follows:

Investments in associates (Note 9)
Property, plant and equipment (Note 12)
Right-of-use assets (Note 28)
Investment property (Note 13)
Service concession right (Note 14)
Customer contract and relationships (Note 14)
Deferred project costs (Note 15)
Deferred mine exploration costs (Notes 15 and 30)

2019
P
=3,087,533,060
2,561,076,769
499,566,989
143,852,303
424,608,123
61,646,255
57,013,350
20,418,948

2018
(As restated,
Notes 2 and 10)
=2,285,668,180
P
2,065,540,597
533,951,573
143,852,303
429,702,669
65,036,659
56,813,350
20,418,948

As December 31, 2019 and 2018, management assessed that there are no impairment indicators on the
nonfinancial assets, except for SNVRDC's service concession right and deferred mine exploration
costs.
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believes that any reasonable possible change in any of the assumptions used would not cause the
carrying value to exceed its recoverable amount.
The carrying value of the service concession right subjected to impairment testing amounted to
=267.5 million and =
P
P281.9 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively (see Note 14).
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite life
For goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful life, the Group performs impairment testing
at least on an annual basis or more frequently, if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it may
be impaired. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated to BTSI group,
NAWASCOR, SWRI and MACS in 2019 and 2018 as the cash generating units.
The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units have been determined based on a value-in-use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets as approved by management
covering five years of projections. The projected cash flows are based on expectations of future
outcomes taking into account past experience, adjusted for anticipated revenue growth based on
management’s future plans. Cash flows beyond the forecast period are extrapolated into perpetuity
assuming four percent (4%) growth rate for impairment test purposes. The discount rate is a pre-tax
measure based on the weighted average cost of capital of listed entities with similar assets or similar in
terms of potential risk. The pre-tax discount rate used ranges 8.4% to 9.0% in 2019 and 15.4% to 17.0%
in 2018.
The carrying value of goodwill subjected to impairment testing amounted to =
P127.8 million as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018 (see Note 14).
For the right to use of water permits, the recoverable amount is determined based on fair value less cost
to sell calculations determined by discounting notional royalty savings after tax. These calculations
use net sales projections and the related royalty savings based on a five-year projection. Net sales
beyond the forecast period are extrapolated into perpetuity assuming four percent (4%) growth rate for
impairment test purposes. Management considered the impact of cost to sell in the calculations of fair
value less cost to sell as negligible. The royalty rate is the average of royalty rates for water distribution
entities, while the discount rate was a pre-tax measure based on the weighted average cost of capital of
listed entities with similar assets or similar in terms of potential risk. The royalty rate applied is 1.6%
while pre-tax discount rates used range from 8.4% and 17.0% in 2019 and 2018, respectively.
The carrying value of right to use of water permits amounted to =
P112.6 million and P
=80.5 million as
of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively (see Note 14).
Management believes that no reasonably possible change in any of the assumptions used would cause
the carrying values of the goodwill and right to use asset to exceed their recoverable amounts. Based
on management’s assessment, the recoverable amounts of these assets are higher than their carrying
values, thus no impairment loss was recognized in 2019, 2018 and 2017.

For the purpose of impairment testing of SNVRDC’s service concession right, recoverable amount is
determined based on the value-in-use using cash flow projections based on financial budgets as
approved by management covering 20 years of projections, coterminous to the term of the concession
agreement with the Municipality of Solano. The projected cash flows are based on expectations of
future outcomes considering past experience, adjusted for anticipated revenue growth based on
management’s future plans. The discount rate is a pre-tax measure based on the weighted average cost
of capital of listed entities with similar assets or similar in terms of potential risk. The pre-tax discount
rate used is 8.5% and 14.5% in 2019 and 2018, respectively. Refer to Note 14 on the discussions of
assumptions which are most sensitive to impact the calculated value-in-use. Based on the impairment
test, the recoverable amount of the service concession right exceeds its carrying value. Managemnt

Impairment of deferred mine exploration costs
For deferred mine exploration costs, the Group considers its ability to secure the necessary permits to
continue its exploration activities within the mining tenements and the probability of subsequent
operations of mining tenements. The recovery of deferred mine exploration costs depends upon the
success of exploration activities, the discovery of recoverable reserves in quantities that can be
commercially produced and future development of the mining properties, including grants of necessary
permits.
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While the Group finds its Mineral Production Sharing Agreements (MPSAs) for its Infanta Nickel
Project valid and subsisting as affirmed by the MGB through the Department of Environment and
Natural Resources (DENR), the Group assessed the prevailing mining prospects does not support for
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- 41 nickel mining. Accordingly, management believes that the provision for probable loss amounting to
=212.9 million recognized in 2016 is still appropriate as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. Further, the
P
Group also has an ongoing case with a government agency relating to a necessary permit before the
Group can file a Declaration of Mine Feasibility (see Note 30).
Estimation of retirement benefits costs and obligation, and accumulating leave credits
The cost of defined benefit pension plans, as well as the present value of the pension obligation is,
determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions.
These include the determination of the discount rates and future salary increases. Due to the complexity
of the valuation, the underlying assumptions and its long-term nature, defined benefit obligations are
highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All significant assumptions are reviewed at each
reporting date. The calculation of accumulating leave credits follows the same assumptions as the
defined benefit costs.
In determining the appropriate discount rate, management considers the interest rates of government
bonds, adjusted to zero coupon rates, with term consistent with the obligation of the plan.
Accrued retirement and other employee benefits payable amounted to =
P93.1 million and =
P29.1 million
as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively (see Note 21). Pension asset amounted to =
P1.7 million
and P
=37.2 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and is included under “Other
noncurrent assets” account (see Note 15). Retirement benefits cost amounted to P
=40.7 million,
=25.9 million, and =
P
P22.4 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 21).
Estimation of provisions for probable loss
The Group is a party to certain claims arising from the normal course of business. The estimate of
probable costs of possible claims has been developed in consultation with the Company’s legal counsel
and is based upon an analysis of potential results. The information usually required by PAS 37,
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, is not disclosed as it may prejudice the
Company’s negotiation with the third party.
LTP, the significant associate, has recognized provisions as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 which
relate to certain claims by third parties. LTP’s management exercised significant judgment in assessing
the probability of the claims based on historical experience. LTP has recognized provisions amounting
to =
P815.4 million and P
=950.6 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, which are
included as part of LTP’s “Current liabilities.” The provision (reversal of provision) for probable losses
and claims recognized in profit or loss amounted to (P
=96.7 million) in 2019 , =
P259.4 million in 2018
and (P
=241.5 million) in 2017 which are included as part of “General and administrative expenses” of
LTP’s summarized financial information (see Note 9).
Recognition of deferred income tax assets
The Group reviews the carrying amounts of deferred income tax assets (gross of deferred income tax
liabilities) at each reporting date and adjusts the balance of deferred income tax assets to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred income tax assets to be utilized. The determination of future taxable income, which will
establish the amount of deferred income tax assets that can be recognized, requires the estimation and
use of assumptions about the Group’s future income and timing of reversal of temporary differences,
unused NOLCO and excess MCIT over RCIT.
Gross deferred income tax assets recognized, which relate primarily to operating subsidiaries,
amounted to =
P57.2 million and =
P46.8 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The
Group also has unrecognized deferred income taxes primarily on the non-operating subsidiaries’
temporary differences, NOLCO and MCIT (see Note 25).
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4. Segment Information
The Group’s operating businesses are organized and managed separately according to the nature of the
aviation-support services provided by the four subsidiaries, mining-related activities and water-related
projects, which is the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment information. The Group
also monitors its share in the results of operations of its associates (LTP, CPCS and JASCO) that are
accounted for using the equity method.
The operations of the Group’s segments are described as follows:
·

In-flight and other catering segment, which is operated by MACS and through the Company’s
interest in CPCS, refers to servicing of meal requirements of certain foreign and domestic passenger
airlines, as well as certain passenger terminal lounges at the NAIA and the MDA, and of certain
non-airline institutional accounts.

·

Ground handling and aviation segment, which is operated by MASCORP and MAATS, refers to
both ramp and passenger handling and aviation services to foreign airlines and domestic carriers at
NAIA, MCIA, KIA, Davao International Airport, Tuguegarao Airport and Clark International
Airport. In 2019, the Company acquired 30% ownership in JASCO, a ground handling and aviation
service company operating in Japan (see Note 9).

·

Maintenance, repairs and overhaul (MRO), which is operated through the Company’s interest in
LTP, pertains to rendering of MRO services of Airbus and Boeing aircraft for certain airlines.

·

Administrative segment, which is primarily operated through MAPDC, refers to the sub-lease of
the MacroAsia Ecozone at NAIA (see Note 28), which MAPDC leases from Manila International
Airport Authority (MIAA) with LTP as the anchor locator (see Note 18).

·

Charter flights segment, was operated by MAATS up to 2016, refers to international and domestic
chartered flights from its base at the General Aviation Area, MDA to any point within the
Philippines, through alliances with other helicopter owners.

·

Water treatment and distribution segment, which is operated through SNVRDC, BTSI,
NAWASCOR and SWRI. The Group has on-going water related projects which pertain to the
development (e.g., studies, surveys) and construction of water-treatment facilities activities, which
are undertaken by MAPDC and its other subsidiaries. The Group, through BTSI, is also engaged in
the construction, operation and maintenance of sewage treatment facilities.

·

Mining segment, which is operated through MMC, refers to mining-related activities of the Group.
This segment refers to expenditures for exploration activities and rendering of exploration-related
services.

The Group has only one geographic segment. Of the Group’s total revenue, =
P3,478.7 million (or 57%),
=
P941.4 million (or 27%) and P
=810.2 million (or 28%) in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, was derived
from two customers. For this purpose, the customers pertain to entities known to the Group to be under
common control.
Segment assets include the operating assets used by a segment and consist principally of cash and cash
equivalents, receivables, inventories, other current assets, and property, plant and equipment, net
investment in the lease, and right-of-use assets, net of allowances, depreciation and amortization and
any impairment in value. Segment liabilities include all operating liabilities and consist principally of
notes payable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and lease liabilities. Segment assets and
liabilities do not include deferred income tax. Segment results pertain to operating income.
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=79,022,380
P
144,361,564
(1,694,060)

=56,826,964
P
168,280,708
63,262,633
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1,010,579,024
–

=–
P
(56,157,651)
–

=28,412,748
P

Equity attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests
Investments in associates
Additions to noncurrent assets Property, plant and equipment

Liabilities:
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities

Assets:
Current assets
Noncurrent assets

P
=1,466,786,412
86,168,380
P
=1,552,954,792

P
=1,128,325,494
563,225,184
P
=1,691,550,678

590,839,266

437,856,059

–

20,193,391

P
=293,668,926
–
–

P
=– P
=1,114,389,640
– 1,679,909,373
P
=– P
=2,794,299,013

P
=– P
=485,251,419
– 2,602,716,520
P
=– P
=3,087,967,939

P
=500,984,160
P
=–
18,980,216
–
854,978,597 2,151,339,726

P
=1,318,535,029
754,384,139
P
=2,072,919,168

P
=886,015,121
36,862,633
50,212,737

(4,958,146)
3,391,486

=81,471,246
P

174,545,577

P
=238,790,959
142,943,288
31,002,000

P
=1,059,563,910
302,432,695
P
=1,361,996,605

P
=366,185,241
1,377,545,611
P
=1,743,730,852

Ground Maintenance,
Water
Handling and Repairs and
Treatment and
Aviation
Overhaul Administrative
Distribution
P
=1,328,603,594
1,285,824,838
P
=2,614,428,432

Inflight and
Other Catering

Other financial information of the operating segments as of December 31, 2019 is as follows:

Depreciation and amortization expense
Segment profit (loss) attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Operating expenses
Interest income
Financing charges
Foreign exchange gain – net
Other income (charges)
Income (loss) before income tax
Provision for income tax
Segment profit (loss)

Segment revenue
Direct costs
Gross profit (loss)
Equity in net earnings of associates

Ground Maintenance,
Water
Inflight and Handling and
Repairs and
Treatment and
Other Catering
Aviation
Overhaul Administrative
Distribution
=2,905,490,152 P
P
=2,869,563,325
=–
P
=30,995,437
P
=363,929,639
P
(2,077,705,460) (2,424,663,739)
–
(43,681,283)
(290,994,070)
827,784,692
444,899,586
–
(12,685,846)
72,935,569
39,838,392
10,220,156 1,010,579,024
–
–
867,623,084
455,119,742 1,010,579,024
(12,685,846)
72,935,569
(503,933,784)
(234,787,015)
–
(39,390,549)
(109,362,698)
676,310
245,901
–
181,030
3,785,216
(8,661,964)
(23,672,166)
–
(21,401,559)
(27,234,983)
(16,343,669)
2,028,825
–
(8,775)
–
5,273,690
7,586,457
–
14,714,155
69,828,740
344,633,667
206,521,744 1,010,579,024
(58,591,544)
9,951,844
(113,090,326)
(63,854,240)
–
2,433,893
(11,518,504)
=231,543,341
P
=142,667,504 P
P
=1,010,579,024
(P
=56,157,651)
(P
=1,566,660)

For the year ended December 31, 2019:

1,129,066,014
64,960,059

=268,894,865
P

–

1,274,105,278

*SGVFS033488*

50,670,985

P
=8,196,821 P
=4,496,498,904 P
=6,424,154,891
–
214,902,126
413,688,263
–
–
3,087,533,060

P
=19,482,887 (P
=1,905,477,337) P
=2,883,071,006
4,814,043
130,505,189
2,767,054,864
P
=24,296,930 (P
=1,774,972,148) P
=5,650,125,870

P
=24,355,264
P
=76,922,130 P
=3,599,852,677
8,138,487 2,859,506,752
8,888,116,347
P
=32,493,751 P
=2,936,428,882 P
=12,487,969,024

Total
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(113,080,683)
–

=16,109,543
P

Eliminations,
Adjustments and
Mining
Others

(19,958,802)
–

=7,051,984
P

Mining
P15,437,718
=
(24,338,457)
(8,900,739)
–
(8,900,739)
(11,014,917)
39,982
(47,868)
–
–
(19,923,542)
(35,260)
(P
=19,958,802)

Eliminations,
Adjustments and
Others
Total
(P
=17,585,164) =
P6,167,831,107
45,523,634
(4,815,859,375)
27,938,470
1,351,971,732
16,622,831
1,077,260,403
44,561,301
2,429,232,135
(140,031,726) (1,038,520,689)
6,846,876
11,775,315
(7,358,717)
(88,377,257)
31,776,233
17,452,614
(43,597,905)
53,805,137
(107,803,938)
1,385,367,255
(5,276,745)
(191,341,182)
(P
=113,080,683) P
=1,194,026,073

Financial information on the Group’s business segments as of and for the years ended December 31 are presented below. The amounts disclosed were determined
consistent with the measurement basis under PFRSs.
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=52,754,576
P
86,590,461
–

=47,398,159
P
151,580,828
51,239,129
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1,011,684,062
–

=–
P
(56,495,352)
–

=4,880,352
P

Administrative
=209,630,059
P
(234,940,224)
(25,310,165)
–
(25,310,165)
(48,739,360)
1,424,990
(1,248,148)
107,187
18,448,442
(55,317,054)
(1,178,298)
(P
=56,495,352)

(24,644,348)
(2,859,568)

=47,148,621
P

Water
Treatment and
Distribution
=284,200,794
P
(245,222,996)
38,977,798
–
38,977,798
(64,940,278)
839,735
(7,814,001)
–
8,806,346
(24,130,400)
(3,373,516)
(P
=27,503,916)

Equity attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests
Investments in associates
Additions to noncurrent assets Property, plant and equipment

Liabilities:
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities

Assets:
Current assets
Noncurrent assets

Eliminations,
Adjustments and
Mining
Others

Total

536,572,091

=716,856,432
P
51,556,366
30,374,348

222,925,259

–

=392,751,090
P
=–
P
–
–
– 2,453,279,160

=673,931,350
P
62,522,978
=736,454,328
P

67,181,093

=396,841,507
P
–
–

205,073,263

–

1,036,822,835
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5,071,129

=361,903,610 P
P
=29,360,772 =
P3,337,580,796 =
P5,235,294,207
(2,859,567)
–
314,395,866
363,092,665
31,002,000
–
(228,987,328) 2,285,668,180

=6,050,003 (P
P
=1,934,401,261) =
P1,354,266,540
2,489,265 1,753,934,151 2,610,039,440
=8,539,268 (P
P
=180,467,111) P
=3,964,305,980

=– =
P
P1,153,780,429 P
=757,418,922
–
148,495,634
272,591,776
=– P
P
=1,302,276,063 =
P1,030,010,698

Water
Treatment and
Distribution

=697,487,097
P
370,005,636
=1,067,492,733
P

Maintenance,
Repairs and
Overhaul Administrative

1,051,242,575
34,857,659

=212,137,508
P
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(90,542,506)
(13,521,902)

=52,723,268
P

Total
P3,426,619,410
=
(2,599,385,580)
827,233,830
1,070,014,588
1,897,248,418
(710,712,348)
11,076,601
(51,353,800)
27,414,886
29,766,123
1,203,439,880
(117,339,646)
=1,086,100,234
P

=– P
P
=553,526,435 P
=158,102,316 =
P24,130,038 (P
=195,534,080) =
P1,853,265,723
– 1,145,591,135 1,230,952,425 13,770,002 3,667,043,632 7,709,427,129
=– =
P
P1,699,117,570 =
P1,389,054,741 P
=37,900,040 =
P3,471,509,552 P
=9,562,692,852

Ground
Handling and
Aviation

(26,930,570)
–

=7,232,532
P

Eliminations,
Adjustments and
Mining
Others
=– (P
P
=194,929,977)
(13,666,586)
173,098,145
(13,666,586)
(21,831,832)
–
10,780,656
(13,666,586)
(11,051,176)
(13,238,254)
(65,189,675)
36,650
5,584,956
–
(30,512,969)
–
16,657,548
(55,050)
(21,591,707)
(26,923,240)
(106,103,023)
(7,330)
2,038,615
(P
=26,930,570) (P
=104,064,408)

=714,036,409 P
P
=599,004,605
1,121,869,122
530,200,813
=1,835,905,531 =
P
P1,129,205,418

Inflight and
Other Catering

Other financial information of the operating segments as of December 31, 2018 (As restated, Notes 2 and 10) is as follows:

Depreciation and amortization expense
Segment profit (loss) attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Operating expenses
Interest income
Financing charges
Foreign exchange gain – net
Other income (charges)
Income (loss) before income tax
Provision for income tax
Segment profit (loss)

Segment revenue
Direct costs
Gross profit (loss)
Equity in net earnings of associates

Maintenance,
Inflight and Ground Handling
Repairs and
Other Catering
and Aviation
Overhaul
=1,663,770,983 P
P
=1,463,947,551
=–
P
(1,102,589,553) (1,176,064,366)
–
561,181,430
287,883,185
–
47,549,870
– 1,011,684,062
608,731,300
287,883,185 1,011,684,062
(361,623,558)
(156,981,223)
–
3,076,525
113,745
–
–
(11,778,682)
–
10,620,586
29,565
–
16,761,710
7,396,382
–
277,566,563
126,662,972 1,011,684,062
(74,746,606)
(40,072,511)
–
=202,819,957
P
=86,590,461 P
P
=1,011,684,062

For the year ended December 31, 2018 (As restated, Notes 2 and 10):
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=46,275,425
P
70,103,580
–

=37,271,687
P
120,262,901
47,315,026
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928,398,664
–

=–
P
(36,293,583)
–

=3,914,202
P
(20,761,020)
1,714,195

=41,731,390
P

Water
Treatment and
Distribution
=168,776,671
P
(133,107,533)
35,669,138
–
35,669,138
(70,168,756)
17,127
(553,518)
–
21,545,728
(13,490,281)
(5,556,544)
(P
=19,046,825)

Equity attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests
Investments in associates
Additions to noncurrent assets:
Property, plant and equipment

Liabilities:
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities

Assets:
Current assets
Noncurrent assets

87,281,361

213,984,902

=336,636,526
P
80,435,013
=417,071,539
P

=796,954,441
P
20,923,246
=817,877,687
P

=301,251,136
P
–
–

=437,527,407
P
280,795,268
=718,322,675
P

=828,664,861
P
610,217,343
=1,438,882,204
P

=399,145,364
P
221,859,153
24,850,196

Ground
Handling and
Aviation
Inflight and
Other Catering

Water
Treatment and
Distribution

=183,552,507
P

Total
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(31,478,722) 1,022,721,639
(5,597,118)
43,432,103

=46,228,841
P

Eliminations,
Adjustments and
Mining
Others

(7,510,181)
–

=8,130,962
P

Eliminations,
Adjustments and
Mining
Others
Total
=27,259,722 (P
P
=211,444,857) P
=2,770,790,237
(27,433,991)
176,890,311 (1,984,910,595)
(174,269)
(34,554,546)
785,879,642
–
10,565,393
978,508,908
(174,269)
(23,989,153) 1,764,388,550
(7,330,889)
8,746,134 (601,428,734)
5,543
4,559,985
8,482,346
–
(28,959,925)
(33,153,279)
–
780,398
3,879,132
–
(843,838)
40,408,759
(7,499,615)
(39,706,399) 1,182,576,774
(10,566)
2,630,559 (116,423,032)
(P
=7,510,181) (P
=37,075,840) P
=1,066,153,742

–

=–
P
–
2,040,332,165

3,466,295

=419,759,926
P
–
–

=– P
P
=858,807,788
–
147,766,176
=– =
P
P1,006,573,964

104,099,529

5,570,763

427,817,373
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13,414,523

=379,441,612 (P
P
=42,246,393) =
P2,592,271,002 P
=4,049,622,647
99,552,436
–
(2,073,082)
319,338,507
–
–
(239,767,983) 1,825,414,378

=501,534,408 =
P
P82,228,307 (P
=1,080,245,810) P
=1,495,915,660
27,465,325
2,295,125 1,685,761,725 1,964,646,610
=528,999,733 P
P
=84,523,432
=605,515,915 =
P
P3,460,562,270

=– P
P
=370,282,126 P
=123,305,323 =
P24,562,085
=42,684,624 =
P
P1,827,026,426
– 1,056,051,764
884,688,458 17,714,954 3,153,029,211 6,002,496,998
=– =
P
P1,426,333,890 =
P1,007,993,781 P
=42,277,039 =
P3,195,713,835 P
=7,829,523,424

Maintenance,
Repairs and
Overhaul Administrative

Other financial information of the operating segments as of December 31, 2017 (As restated, Note 2) is as follows:

Depreciation and amortization expense
Segment profit (loss) attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Operating expenses
Interest income
Financing charges
Foreign exchange gain – net
Other income (charges)
Income (loss) before income tax
Provision for income tax
Segment profit (loss)

Segment revenue
Direct costs
Gross profit (loss)
Equity in net earnings of associates

Ground Maintenance,
Handling and
Repairs and
Inflight and
Other Catering
Aviation
Overhaul Administrative
=1,541,538,496 P
P
=1,031,617,643
=– P
P
=213,042,562
(1,006,099,235) (807,537,737)
–
(187,622,410)
535,439,261
224,079,906
–
25,420,152
39,544,851
–
928,398,664
–
574,984,112
224,079,906
928,398,664
25,420,152
(338,499,612) (131,033,078)
–
(63,142,533)
2,547,473
120,490
–
1,231,728
–
(2,557,187)
–
(1,082,649)
822,505
2,235,669
–
40,560
5,826,430
11,772,560
–
2,107,879
245,680,908
104,618,360
928,398,664
(35,424,863)
(78,102,981)
(34,514,780)
–
(868,720)
=167,577,927
P
=70,103,580 P
P
=928,398,664 (P
=36,293,583)

For the year ended December 31, 2017 (As restated, Note 2):
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- 49 5. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash on hand and cash in banks (Note 18)
Short-term deposits (Note 18)

2019
P
=952,199,325
267,440,103
P
=1,219,639,428

2018
=556,907,949
P
118,288,884
=675,196,833
P

Cash in banks earn interest at the respective bank deposits rates. Short-term deposits are made for
varying periods of up to three months and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.
Interest income earned amounted to =
P6.6 million, P
=8.3 million and P
=5.5 million in 2019, 2018, and
2017, respectively (see Note 22).
6. Receivables and Contract Assets
Receivables:
Trade:
Third parties (Note 18)
Related parties (Note 18)
Dividends receivable (Note 18)
Advances to officers and employees
Interest receivable
Other receivables
Contract assets- current portion
Less allowance for ECL

2019
P
=650,335,369
1,179,434,461
–
20,943,058
2,279,004
80,983,439
7,294,471
1,941,269,802
15,527,033
P
=1,925,742,769

2018
=448,908,361
P
365,613,222
42,000,000
15,510,511
2,271,732
38,161,559
2,876,886
915,342,271
14,918,648
=900,423,623
P

Trade receivables arise from the revenue-generating activities of the Group. These are non-interest
bearing with normal credit terms ranging from 30 to 90 days.
Long - term receivables
Included under trade receivables are monthly installments due from customers from the construction
of STPs. Payment terms from the said contracts are beyond one year; thus, contains significant
financing component. Interest income earned from installment receivables amounted to P
=3.7 million in
2019 and =
P0.5 million in 2018 (see Note 22).
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, outstanding receivables pertaining to construction of STPs are as
follows:
Gross installment receivables
Less: unearned interest
Current portion
Noncurrent portion (Note 15)

2019
P
=61,427,613
912,267
60,515,346
12,172,159
P
=48,343,187

2018
=102,469,545
P
12,402,114
90,067,431
40,668,657
=49,398,774
P
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In relation to the construction of STPs, the Group allocates the total transaction price earned between
the construction of STPs and the operation and maintenance services for the STPs. The allocated
amounts for the operation and maintenance services are recognized as contract assets. These contracts
assets are realized as receivables as the Group performs the operations and maintenance of STPs, which
is the remaining performance obligation, over the contract period of about 10 years. Contract assets are
presented based on the timing of realization. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, current and noncurrent
portion of contract assets amounted to =
P7.3 million and =
P2.9 million, and P
=13.5 million and
=25.4 million, respectively (see Note 15).
P
Advances to officers and employees pertain to cash advances that are subject to liquidation.
Other receivables include amounts due from third party insurance company and certain government
agencies (e.g., SSS) and employee loans which are payable through salary deductions.
Allowance for ECL pertains to trade receivables. The rollforward analyses of the allowance for ECL
as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:
Beginning balance
Provisions (Note 20)
Write-offs
Ending balance

2019
P
=14,918,648
608,385
−
P
=15,527,033

2018
=8,224,828
P
7,213,782
(519,962)
=14,918,648
P

2019
P
=62,542,228
43,436,643
P
=105,978,871

2018
=58,679,328
P
30,094,982
=88,774,310
P

7. Inventories - at cost
Food and beverage
Materials and supplies

Cost of inventories recognized as expense and included as part of “Food” and “Supplies” accounts
under “Direct costs” amounted to =
P1,282.6 million, P
=831.7 million and P
=641.8 million in 2019, 2018 and
2017, respectively (see Note 19).
8. Input Taxes and Other Current Assets
Other current assets consist of:
Input taxes - net
Creditable withholding taxes
Advances to suppliers, contractors and others
Tax credit certificates - net
Others

2019
P
=184,711,090
57,347,417
64,559,089
–
41,874,013
P
=348,491,609

2018
=97,862,666
P
46,062,130
10,116,718
6,709,902
28,119,541
=188,870,957
P

*SGVFS033488*

MacroAsia Corporation 2019 Annual Report

127

- 51 -

- 52 -

Input VAT
Gross input tax
Less allowance for probable losses
Less noncurrent portion
Current portion

2019
P
=465,740,842
18,856,466
446,884,376
262,173,286
P
=184,711,090

2018
=376,220,947
P
41,954,490
334,266,457
236,403,791
=97,862,666
P

Input taxes represent VAT paid on purchases of goods and services that can be recovered as tax
refund/credit from the Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) or the Bureau of Customs. The Group also
has input taxes arising from acquisition of property and equipment and other assets and those which
are not expected to be utilized in the next 12 months. Provision for losses on input taxes amounted to
=8.7 million, P
P
=7.9 million and =
P12.3 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 20).
Further, the Group wrote off input taxes amounting to P
=31.8 million and P
=49.9 million in 2019 and
2018, respectively, which were fully provided with allowance.
CWTs represent creditable tax certificates from customers which can be applied against any related
income tax liability of a company in the Group to which the CWTs relate.
TCCs represent amounts supported by certificates available for credit against income tax. In 2018, the
Group received TCCs from the BIR amounting to =
P31.3 million. TCCs applied as payment to income
taxes amounted to P
=6.8 million and =
P24.5 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively. The allowance for
probable losses for TCCs amounted to =
P5.8 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Advances to suppliers and contractors pertain to down payments for various purchases of operating
supplies of the Group.
Others mainly consist of prepaid insurance, rent and utilities.
9. Investments in Associates

Acquisition costs:
LTP
CPCS
MacroAsia WLL*
CSWC**
JASCO (Note 10)
Accumulated equity in net earnings:
Beginning of year, as previously reported
Accounting policy alignment impact (Note 2)
Beginning of year, as restated
Share in net earnings for the year
Dividends declared to the Company (Note 18)
End of year

Percentage of
ownership
interest
49
40
35*
24**
30

2019

2018
(As restated,
Note 2)

=935,759,560
P
5,000,000
2,310,175
31,002,000
853,799,023
1,827,870,758

=935,759,560
P
5,000,000
2,310,175
31,002,000
–
974,071,735

1,518,066,583
(228,987,328)
1,289,079,255
1,077,260,403
(916,316,715)
1,450,022,943

1,266,114,650
(239,767,983)
1,026,346,667
1,070,014,588
(807,282,000)
1,289,079,255

Share in foreign currency translation adjustments:
Beginning of year
Net foreign currency translation
adjustments for the year
End of year
Share in re-measurement losses on
defined benefit plans of associates:
Beginning of year
Remeasurement gains (losses) on
defined benefit plans for the year
End of year
Impairment allowance on investment in
MacroAsia WLL

2019

2018

=53,347,767
P

(P
=52,663,046)

(100,669,833)
(47,322,066)

106,010,813
53,347,767

(30,584,062)

(91,092,464)

(112,207,998)
(142,792,060)

60,508,402
(30,584,062)

(246,515)
=3,087,533,060
P

(246,515)
=2,285,668,180
P

*Effective ownership interest through MACS
**Effective ownership through SWRI

LTP adopted PFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach while the Group used the full
retrospective method as its transition approach. In order to align LTP’s policy on the adoption of PFRS
16 to the Group’s policy, the Group recognized a decrease to its beginning equity in net earnings
amounting to P
=229.0 million and P
=239.8 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively
(see Note 2).
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the shares of stock of the associated companies are not traded in
public and as such, have no publicly traded price quotation.
LTP
LTP is a joint venture between Lufthansa Technik AG (LHT), a corporation organized and existing
under the laws of the Federal Republic of Germany and MacroAsia Corporation (MAC), a corporation
organized under the laws of the Republic of the Philippines. LTP was incorporated primarily to provide
aircraft maintenance, aircraft overhaul, aircraft engine repair and overhaul and aircraft component
repair and overhaul services in Manila, Cebu and other locations. LTP is also registered with the
Philippine Economic Zone Authority (PEZA). The agreement provides for supermajority (i.e., twothirds) vote of directors for the approval of the annual budget as well as other critical corporate acts of
the agreement. The registered office address of LTP is LTP Technical Center, MacroAsia Ecozone,
Villamor Airbase, Pasay City.
CPCS
CPCS is the Company’s first in-flight catering venture, which started commercial operations in 1996.
It is the only in-flight catering company at Mactan-Cebu International Airport and serves both domestic
and international airlines. The registered office address of CPCS is 1st Ave. Extension, Block B6,
MEZ I, Lapu-Lapu City.
JASCO
On November 5, 2019, MAC entered into a Share Purchase Agreement with Konoike Transport for the
7,200 ordinary shares or 30% ownership interest in Japan Airport Service Co., Ltd. (JASCO) for an
aggregate amount of =
P853,799,023 (JPY 1,825,000,000). JASCO is a wholly-owned subsidiary of NKS
Holding Co. Ltd., a Japanese company wholly-owned by Konoike Transport (see Notes 10 and 11).

(Forward)

*SGVFS033488*

128

MacroAsia Corporation 2019 Annual Report

*SGVFS033488*

MacroAsia Corporation 2019 Annual Report

129

- 53 -

- 54 -

MacroAsia WLL
On June 5, 2012, MACS entered into a Shareholders’ Agreement with individuals to establish
MacroAsia WLL, a national institutional catering and laundry company in Doha, Qatar. As of
December 31, 2019, MacroAsia WLL has not yet started its commercial operations.
In 2015, the Group recognized provision for the probable loss of P
=0.2 million on the investment in
immaterial associate equivalent to its remaining carrying amount.
CWSC
CSWC is a joint venture between SWRI and another domestic corporation in the Philippines. CSWC
has bulk water supply with the water district of Janiuay, Iloilo. The registered office address of CWSC
is 9/F, 45 San Miguel, San Miguel Avenue, Ortigas Center, Pasig City.
Summarized financial information of LTP, CPCS and JASCO based on their financial statements as of
and for the years ended December 31 is as follows:

Current assets
Noncurrent assets
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Equity
Group’s carrying amount of the investment

LTP
P
=5,641,838,633
5,426,111,617
(3,066,852,604)
(3,177,211,522)
4,823,886,124*
P
=2,151,339,704

2019

CPCS
P
=125,021,436
24,522,322
(23,533,145)
(478,771)
125,531,843
P
=50,212,737

JASCO
P
=626,507,338
163,216,563
(340,271,373)
(235,307,935)
214,144,593
P
=854,978,597

*Inclusive of cumulative foreign currency translation loss amounting to =
P 100,669,833

Revenue from contracts with customers
Direct costs
Gross profit
General and administrative expenses
Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Total comprehensive income
Group’s share in the net income
Group’s share in total comprehensive income

LTP
P
=12,930,987,843
8,527,663,671
4,403,324,172
2,058,920,017
2,062,406,122
(228,995,908)
1,833,410,214
1,027,201,856
P
=914,993,861

Current assets
Noncurrent assets
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Equity
Group’s carrying amount of the investment

2019

CPCS
P
=285,489,710
163,679,886
121,809,824
16,681,456
99,595,978
–
99,595,978
39,838,391
P
=39,838,391

JASCO
P
=228,318,846
197,143,161
31,175,685
9,873,410
34,067,187
–
34,067,187
10,220,156
P
=10,220,156

2018
LTP
=6,113,831,497
P
3,550,755,678
(3,427,673,860)
(1,230,221,151)
5,006,692,164*
=2,453,279,160
P

CPCS
=145,772,098
P
23,016,892
(92,209,464)
(478,771)
76,100,755
=30,374,348
P

*Inclusive of cumulative foreign currency translation gain amounting to =
P 106,010,813

Revenue from contracts with customers
Direct costs
Gross profit
General and administrative expenses
Net income
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Group’s share in the net income
Group’s share in total comprehensive income

2018
(As restated, Note 2)
LTP
CPCS
=11,821,748,391
P
=341,529,715
P
7,903,836,808
201,224,607
3,917,911,583
140,305,108
1,687,823,781
16,019,855
2,064,661,350
118,874,675
123,539,028
424,690
2,188,200,378
119,299,365
1,022,464,718
47,549,870
=1,082,998,842
P
=47,719,746
P

*SGVFS033488*

130

MacroAsia Corporation 2019 Annual Report

2017
LTP
=4,171,550,791
P
3,391,662,420
(2,345,270,718)
(1,053,999,296)
4,163,943,198*
=2,040,332,165
P

Current assets
Noncurrent assets
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Equity
Group’s carrying amount of the investment

CPCS
=149,185,135
P
24,673,664
(110,856,967)
(876,342)
62,125,490
=24,850,196
P

*Inclusive of cumulative foreign currency translation loss amounting to =
P107,475,604.

Revenue
Direct costs
Gross profit
General and administrative expenses
Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Total comprehensive income
Group’s share in the net income
Group’s share in total comprehensive income

2017
(As restated, Note 2)
LTP
CPCS
=12,836,297,506
P
=307,678,479
P
9,408,110,540
187,707,666
3,428,186,966
119,970,813
1,432,151,712
15,183,798
1,894,691,151
98,862,128
(87,078,448)
6,006,814
1,807,612,703
104,868,942
938,964,057
39,544,851
=896,295,617
P
=41,947,577
P

In the normal course of business, LTP is involved in certain claims by third parties mainly related to
damages, consignment of inventories, labor and other contingencies. These provisions for claims and
losses pertain to management’s best estimate of probable losses in connection with claims from third
parties involving damages, consignment of inventories, and other issues. These provisions have been
developed in consultation with LTP’s legal counsels, advisors and are based upon an analysis of
potential results. LTP recognized provisions amounting to P
=815.4 million and P
=950.6 million as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, which are included as part of “Current liabilities”of LTP’s
summarized financial information. The provision (reversal of provision) for probable losses and claims
recognized in profit or loss amounted to (P
=96.7 million), P
=259.4 million and (P
=241.5 million) in 2019,
2018 and 2017, respectively, which is included as part of “General and administrative expenses” of
LTP’s summarized financial information.
Dividend received from LTP and CPCS amounted to P
=916.3 million, =
P799.3 million and =
P389.1 million
in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Further, the Group has interest in two immaterial associates. The financial information of these
associates as of and for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 is as follows:
Total assets
Total liabilities
Net loss
Group’s carrying amount of the investments

2019
P
=56,164,790
2,429,762
(6,162,234)
31,002,000

2018
=63,461,017
P
63,461,017
(1,097,150)
31,002,000

10. Business Combination
Aquisition of 30% interest in JASCO
In 2019, the Company acquired 30% ownership in Japan Airport Services Co. Ltd. (JASCO), from
Konoike Transport Group for a cash consideration amounting to =
P853.8 million. This resulted to
recognition of investment in associate which includes provisional goodwill amounting to
=792.8 million.
P
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The provisional fair values of the identified assets and liabilities and analysis of cash flows as of the
date of purchase of interest is presented as follows:.
Provisional

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Prepayments and other current assets
Property and equipment
Deferred income tax asset
Other noncurrent assets

P79,324,526
=
108,654,168
9,759,586
29,009,899
9,620,262
10,834,055
247,202,496

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Income tax payable
Retirement obligation
Other noncurrent liabilities
Total identifiable net assets at fair value
Goodwill
Purchase consideration

117,524,566
3,858,486
49,181,534
22,416,359
192,980,945
54,221,551
799,148,449
=853,370,000
P

Analysis of Cash Flows
Cash transferred as purchase consideration*
Transaction costs of the acquisition**
Net cash transferred

=853,370,000
P
429,023
=853,799,023
P

*Included in cash flows from investing activities
**Included in cash flows from operating activities

If the business combination had taken place at the beginning of 2019, the Group’s income before
income tax would have been P
=1,436.5 million. From the date of acquisition, JASCO contributed
=10.2 million to the Group’s income before income tax.
P
Acquisition of SWRI
On October 1, 2018, the Group, through ASSC, purchased the 60% shares of stock held by the former
individual shareholders of SWRI for a total consideration of P
=63.0 million under a Share Purchase
Agreement (SPA). The Group acquired SWRI as part of its strategy to grow its water treatment and
distribution segment. As of December 31, 2018, the Group recognized the acquired assets and liabilities
of SWRI at provisional amounts.
In 2019, the Group engaged an external specialist to value SWRI’s water service contract. This resulted
in adjustments in the provisional amounts of the acquired assets and liabilities, which were
retrospectively adjusted in the 2018 consolidated financial statements, as follows:
a. Identification and valuation of water service contract amounting to P
=21.3 million;
b. Increase in property, plant and equipment by =
P6.6 million; and
c. Reduction in goodwill by =
P6.0 million
The reconciliation of the provisional and final fair values of the identified assets and liabilities and
analysis of cash flows as of the date of acquisition is presented on the next page.
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Assets
Cash
Receivables
Inventories
Prepayments and other current assets
Investment in associate
Property and equipment
Deferred income tax asset
Other noncurrent assets
Service concession right (Note 14)
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Loans payable
Deferred income tax liability
Other noncurrent liabilities
Total identifiable net assets at fair value
Non-controlling interest
Goodwill (Note 14)
Purchase consideration
Analysis of Cash Flows
Cash transferred as purchase consideration*
Unpaid consideration
Cash transferred as purchase consideration
Transaction costs of the acquisition**
Cash acquired with the subsidiary*
Net cash transferred

Provisional

Adjustments

Final

P1,552,968
=
6,294,876
4,642,600
3,206,362
36,670,000
47,308,454
867,517
16,161,878
−
116,704,655

P−
=
−
−
−
−
6,577,546
−
−
21,283,538
27,861,084

P1,552,968
=
6,294,876
4,642,600
3,206,362
36,670,000
53,886,000
867,517
16,161,878
21,283,538
144,565,739

8,403,630
24,559,778
−
34,283,454
67,246,862
49,457,793
(19,783,121)
33,325,328
=63,000,000
P

−
−
8,358,325
−
8,358,325
19,502,759
(13,546,129)
(5,956,630)
=−
P

8,403,630
24,559,778
8,358,325
34,283,454
75,605,187
68,960,552
(33,329,250)
27,368,698
=63,000,000
P
=63,000,000
P
(9,450,000)
53,550,000
472,500
(1,552,968)
=52,469,532
P

*Included in cash flows from investing activities
**Included in cash flows from operating activities

If the business combination had taken place at the beginning of 2018, the Group’s revenue and income
before income tax would have been =
P3,623.7 million and P
=1,229.0 million, respectively. From the date
of acquisition, SWRI contributed P
=6.9 million and =
P1.7 million to the Group’s revenue and income
before income tax, respectively.
11. Material Partly-owned Subsidiaries
As of December 31, 2019, MASCORP has a material non-controlling interest of 20%. On
December 5, 2019, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement with Konoike Transport Co.,
LTD. (“Konoike”) to sell 250,001 shares representing 20% of the total issued and outstanding capital
stock of MASCORP. After the sale, MASCORP is 20% owned by Konoike. The transaction was
accounted for as a sale of share in subsidiary without loss of control; thus an equity transaction (see
Note 27).
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, MACS has a material non-controlling interest of 33%.
Set out on the next page are the summarized financial information of MACS and MASCORP. The
amounts disclosed are based on those included in the consolidated financial statements before
intercompany eliminations.
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Summarized balance sheets:
Current assets
Noncurrent assets
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Equity
Equity attributable to non-controlling interest

MASCORP
= 1,190,998,956
P
582,316,376
1,242,143,427
45,851,297
485,320,608
2,274,397

2019

2018
MACS
=605,224,064
P
518,549,251
407,311,665
6,352,843
710,108,807
234,335,906

MACS
P680,146,955
=
555,060,139
443,906,363
15,833,959
775,466,772
255,834,887

Summarized statements of income:
Revenue
Direct costs
Operating expenses
Net income
Net income attributable to
non-controlling interest

2019

MASCORP
= 2,821,166,345
P
2,397,933,240
209,946,096
135,766,067

MACS
= 1,819,496,574
P
1,217,760,927
367,868,378
154,102,149

2,274,397

50,784,564

2018
2017
MACS
MACS
=1,662,854,455 =
P
P1,541,020,403
1,101,952,910
1,004,592,447
342,249,529
323,595,522
173,490,184
143,378,867
57,251,761

47,315,026

Summarized statements of comprehensive income:
Net income
Other comprehensive income(loss)
Total comprehensive income
Total comprehensive
income attributable to non-controlling
interest

MASCORP
P135,766,067
=
(22,324,383)
113,441,684
1,902,324

Net Book Value

2019

2018
MACS
=173,490,184
P
764,738
174,254,922

MACS
= 154,102,149
P
(8,744,192)
145,357,957
57,504,124

2017
MACS
=143,378,867
P
1,477,525
144,856,392

57,504,124

47,802,608

Summarized statements of cash flows:
Cash flows from operations
Cash flows used in investing activities
Cash flows from (used in) financing activities

MASCORP
P118,270,707
=
(111,633,957)
85,260,054

2019

2018
MACS
=152,623,778
P
(248,087,715)
(37,500,000)

MACS
P129,818,154
=
(80,223,573)
(37,500,000)

2017
MACS
=162,472,304
P
(55,146,343)
(95,000,000)

12. Property, Plant and Equipment

Cost
Land and land improvements
Building and leasehold
improvements
Kitchen and other operations
equipment
Transportation equipment
Aviation equipment
Plant and technical equipment
Water pumps and machineries
Water pipelines
Office furniture, fixtures and
equipment
Drilling equipment
Construction in progress
(Notes 16 and 18)

Accumulated Depreciation
and Amortization
Land improvements
Buildings and leasehold
improvements
Kitchen and other operations
equipment
Transportation equipment
Aviation equipment
Plant and technical equipment
Water pumps and machineries
Water pipelines
Office furniture, fixtures and
equipment
Drilling equipment

2019
Additions
Adjustments,
through business
combination Reclassifications
and Disposal
(Note 10)

December 31,
2019

January 1,
2019

Additions

P
=309,535,197

P
=18,887,591

P
=−

454,968,477

545,428,549

−

(50,498,940)

949,898,086

415,184,918
349,244,374
569,837,555
31,080,847
117,263,085
108,104,929

211,974,198
29,030,660
209,058,032
1,413,630
10,423,799
−

−
−
−
−
−
−

17,231,124
10,279,309
48,135,877
(29,710,563)
73,378,968
70,976,865

644,390,240
388,554,343
827,031,464
2,783,914
201,065,852
179,081,794

113,941,903
5,735,469

72,374,111
−

−
−

6,045,525
-

192,361,539
5,735,469

904,030,539
P
=3,378,927,293

175,514,708
P
=1,274,105,278

−
P
=−

P
=142,007,712

(759,642,976)
(P
=471,797,099)

P
=470,430,500

319,902,271
P
=4,181,235,472

Cost
Land and land improvements
Building and leasehold
improvements
Kitchen and other operations
equipment
Transportation equipment
Aviation equipment
Plant and technical equipment
Water pumps and machineries
Water pipelines
Office furniture, fixtures and
equipment
Drilling equipment
Construction in progress
(Notes 16 and 18)
Accumulated Depreciation
and Amortization
Land improvements
Buildings and leasehold
improvements
Kitchen and other operations
equipment
Transportation equipment
Aviation equipment
Plant and technical equipment
Water pumps and machineries
Water pipelines
Office furniture, fixtures and
equipment
Drilling equipment
Net Book Value

January 1,
2019

Additions

2019
Additions
Adjustments,
through business
combination Reclassifications
and Disposal
(Note 10)

(P
= 12,336,660)

(P
=3,015,470)

P
=−

(368,871,391)

(19,350,912)

−

(357,136)

(388,579,439)

(305,989,043)
(201,191,414)
(252,652,757)
(3,845,218)
(15,281,930)
(41,267,214)

(35,320,782)
(37,922,517)
(58,682,593)
(676,509)
(11,135,548)
(18,092,020)

(18,754,284)
(7,623,388)
125,099
2,932,735
(54,421,446)
(34,569,660)

(360,064,109)
(246,737,319)
(311,210,251)
(1,588,992)
(80,838,924)
(93,928,894)

(106,215,600)
(5,735,469)
(1,313,386,696)
P
=2,065,540,597

(18,259,009)
−
(202,455,360)
P
=1,071,649,918

−
−
−
−
−
−
−

(2,490,018)
−
(104,316,647)
(P
=576,113,746)

(126,964,627)
(5,735,469)
(1,620,158,703)
P
=2,561,076,769

−
−
P
=−

P
=10,841,451

December 31,
2019

2018
Additions
through business
Adjustments,
combination Reclassifications
(Note 10)
and Disposal

(P
=4,510,679)

December 31,
2018

January 1,
2018

Additions

=305,707,114
P

=3,828,083
P

=−
P

=−
P

=309,535,197
P

453,181,774

1,786,703

−

−

454,968,477

368,953,424
326,565,550

56,634,823
27,111,396

−
254,118

358,380,538
30,950,737
55,293,683
108,104,929

211,457,017
4,553
9,291,072
−

−
125,557
46,858,103
−

101,537,338
5,735,469

12,932,937
−

70,676
−

(599,048)
−

113,941,903
5,735,469

212,197,836
2,326,608,392

713,776,251
1,036,822,835

−
47,308,454

(21,943,548)
(31,812,388)

904,030,539
3,378,927,293

(916,573)

(11,040,709)

(379,378)

−

(358,645,669)

(10,225,722)

(290,467,763)
(174,607,959)
(216,509,223)
(1,897,289)
(7,121,276)
(23,322,827)

(29,630,600)
(33,182,100)
(36,143,534)
(1,827,999)
(8,163,154)
(17,518,874)

−
−

(92,151,587)
(5,735,469)
(1,181,499,771)

(14,490,888)
−
(151,562,249)

=1,145,108,621
P

=885,260,586
P

(10,403,329)
(4,686,690)

415,184,918
349,244,374

−
−
5,820,227
−

569,837,555
31,080,847
117,263,085
108,104,929

−

(12,336,660)
(368,871,391)

−
−
−
−
−

14,109,320
6,598,645
−
(119,930)
2,500
(425,513)

−
−
−

426,874
−
19,675,323

(106,215,601)
(5,735,469)
(1,313,386,697)

(P
=12,137,064)

P
=2,065,540,597

=47,308,454
P

(305,989,043)
(201,191,414)
(252,652,757)
(3,845,218)
(15,281,930)
(41,267,214)

(Forward)
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Cost
Land and land improvements
Building and leasehold
improvements
Kitchen and other operations
equipment
Transportation equipment
Aviation equipment
Plant and technical equipment
Water pumps and machineries
Water pipelines
Office furniture, fixtures and
equipment
Drilling equipment
Construction in progress
(Notes 16 and 18)
Accumulated Depreciation
and Amortization
Land improvements
Buildings and leasehold
improvements
Kitchen and other operations
equipment
Transportation equipment
Aviation equipment
Plant and technical equipment
Water pumps and machineries
Water pipelines
Office furniture, fixtures and
equipment
Drilling equipment
Net Book Value

- 60 2017
Additions
Adjustments,
through business
combination Reclassifications
and Disposal
(Note 10)

13. Investment Property
December 31,
2017

January 1,
2017

Additions

=269,338,099
P

=35,169,015
P

=1,200,000
P

=−
P

=305,707,114
P

442,042,490

11,139,284

−

−

453,181,774

330,508,409
289,051,962
290,638,962
30,775,200
35,135,400
56,442,879

38,445,015
41,674,744
67,741,576
175,537
15,907,541
1,216,932

−
300,000
−
−
−
−

−
(4,461,156)
−
−
4,250,742
50,445,118

368,953,424
326,565,550
358,380,538
30,950,737
55,293,683
108,104,929

93,775,230
5,735,469

12,218,992
−

150,000
−

(4,606,884)
−

101,537,338
5,735,469

63,430,871
1,906,874,971

204,128,737
427,817,373

−
1,650,000

(55,361,772)
(9,733,952)

212,197,836
2,326,608,392

(10,425,531)

(615,178)

−

−

(11,040,709)

(344,097,504)

(14,548,165)

−

−

(358,645,669)

(270,271,933)
(154,416,138)
(189,611,616)
(66,487)
(129,776)
−

(20,195,830)
(24,564,278)
(26,897,607)
(1,830,802)
(7,605,828)
(23,322,827)

−
−
−
−
−
−

4,372,457
−
−
614,328
−

(290,467,763)
(174,607,959)
(216,509,223)
(1,897,289)
(7,121,276)
(23,322,827)

(82,296,717)
(5,735,469)
(1,057,051,171)
=849,823,800
P

(10,248,524)
−
(129,829,039)
=297,988,334
P

−
−
−
=1,650,000
P

393,654
−
5,380,439
(P
=4,353,513)

(92,151,587)
(5,735,469)
(1,181,499,771)
=1,145,108,621
P

Acquisitions of property and equipment on credit amounting to =
P183.5 million in 2019 are included as
part of “Accounts payable and accrued liabilities” account as of December 31, 2019. These are treated
as noncash investing activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows.
Depreciation and amortization is distributed as follows:
Direct costs (Note 19)
Operating expenses (Note 20)

2019
=146,273,834
P
56,181,526
=202,455,360
P

2018
=122,457,830
P
29,104,419
=151,562,249
P

2017
=109,508,134
P
20,320,905
=129,829,039
P

The costs of fully depreciated property and equipment which are still in use amounted to
=859.4 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.
P

The Group’s investment property pertains to a parcel of land held for future development which
amounted to =
P143.9 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. The fair value of the investment
property amounted to =
P261.1 million which is based on the latest available appraisal report rendered
by a Philippine SEC-accredited professional firm of appraisers as of December 31, 2016 (see Note 33).
Management believes that there have been no significant activities in the areas where the investment
properties are located which can indicate significant changes in the fair values of investment properties
per appraiser reports.
The independent appraiser used the “Market Data Approach” in valuing the property in 2016. This
approach considers the sales and listings and other market data of comparable properties registered
within the vicinity of the property being valued. Factors such as location, size, shape of lot, highest
and best use and time element were also taken into consideration in order to estimate the fair value of
the property.
Operating expense incurred in relation to investment property pertains to real property taxes (included
as part of “Taxes and licenses”) amounted to =
P0.4 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017 (see Note 20).
There are neither restrictions on the realizability of investment property nor contractual obligations to
develop or maintain such property.
14. Service Concession Right, Intangible Assets and Goodwill
Service Concession Right
Cost
Beginning balance
Additions
Additions through business combination (Note 10)
Accumulated Amortization
Beginning balance
Amortization (Note 19)
Ending balance
Net Book Value

2019

2018

P
=478,300,849
14,921,376
−
493,222,225

=432,610,702
P
24,406,608
21,283,538
478,300,848

48,598,179
20,015,923
68,614,102
P
=424,608,123

29,693,776
18,904,403
48,598,179
=429,702,669
P

The cost of service concession right pertains to incurred construction costs by SNVRDC in relation to
the construction of water treatment plant and pipe laying activities in Solano, Nueva Viscaya and the
fair value of NAWASCOR’s water system and pipelines in Naic, Cavite (see Note 29). Pursuant to
Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 12, the Group recognizes intangible assets in accordance with the
accounting policies stated in Note 2.
The additions to service concession right in 2019 amounting to P
=14.9 million pertain to costs of ongoing
construction of water facilities and pipe laying activities. These are recognized as contract assets and
are presented as part of service concession right in the 2019 consolidated balance sheet.
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, management performed impairment test of SNVRDC’s service
concession right due to SNVRDC’s continued losses since the start of commercial operations in 2016.
SNVRDC is part of water treatment and distribution segment. SNVRDC’s service concession right,
which pertains to incurred construction costs, amounted to =
P267.5 million and =
P281.9 million as at
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December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Management has determined based on the impairment test
that the value in use exceeds the carrying value of the service concession right.
The calculation of value in use is most sensitive to the following assumptions:
·

·

Discount rate (8.5%) – Discount rate represents the current market assessment of the risk specific
to the Company, taking into consideration the time value of money and individual risks of the
underlying assets that have not been incorporated in the cash flow estimates. The discount rate
calculation is derived from the weighted average cost of capital (WACC). The Group used WACC
rate as affected by beta of companies with similar activities and capital structure. WACC is also
affected by costs of debt and capital based on average lending rates for long-term loans.
Average volume of annual water consumption (2.7 million cubic meter) – The average volume of
annual water consumption is based on management’s best estimate of water consumption per
customer and increases in number of connections considering factors such as historical trend,
market analysis, government regulations and other economic factors.
Tariff rate (average tarrif rate with average annual increase of 3%) – Tariff rate represents the
management’s forecasted average price per cubic meter the Group would charge its customers
considering the estimated increase to be granted by the Municipality of Solano, the approved tariff
rate of National Water Regulations Board, and the estimated yearly increase that is acceptable to
the customers.

Sensitivity to Changes in Assumptions
Other than as disclosed above, management believes that any reasonable possible change in any of the
above assumptions would not cause the carrying value to exceed its recoverable amount.
Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Customer contract and relationships
Right-to-use of water permits
Goodwill

2019
P
=61,646,255
112,623,898
127,842,230
P
=302,112,383

2018
(As restated,
Note 10)
=65,036,659
P
80,515,556
127,842,230
=273,394,445
P

Customer contract and relationships
Customer contract and relationships pertain to Group’s long-term water supply contract with a third
party and established relationships with the existing customers through service contracts. These are
identified intangible assets as part of the acquisition of BTSI group in 2016. The customer contract is
amortized over the remaining contract term, while customer relationships are amortized over the
estimated years where all the existing customers would have switched to other water distributors. The
amortization of customer contract and relationships amounted to P
=3.4 million in 2019 and 2018 and
=3.7 million in 2017.
P
Right-to-use of water permits
The right-to-use of water permits of BTSI and NEWS allowing them to extract and distribute water in
certain provinces of the Philippines and NAWASCOR to operate, manage, maintain water systems of
certain subdivisions. Management believes that the right-to-use assets have an indefinite useful life
due to the permanent nature of water permits and minimal time and effort required of BTSI and NEWS
to renew certain operating permits in view of continued compliance with relevant regulations.
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Goodwill
The goodwill recognized by the Group amounting to P
=127.8 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018
resulted from the Group’s acquisition of: (a) 13% non-controlling interest from a previous stockholder
of MACS in 2006, (b) 67% of BTSI in 2016, (c) 100% of NAWASCOR in 2017 and (d) 60% of
SUMMA in 2018 (see Note 10).
The carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to each of the CGUs (determined to be at the subsidiary
level) as follows:

December 31, 2018
Addition through business
combination(Note 10)
December 31, 2019

MACS
P
=17,531,232

BTSI
P
=46,056,594

NAWASCOR
(As restated,
Note 10)
P
=36,885,706

−
P
=17,531,232

−
P
=46,056,594

−
P
=36,885,706

SWRI
(Note 10)
P
=−

Total
P
=100,473,532

27,368,698
P
=27,368,698

27,368,698
P
=127,842,230

Management performs its annual impairment test for each reporting period for all the CGUs. BTSI and
NAWASCOR are part of the water treatment and distribution segment, while MACS is part of inflight
and other catering services segment. The recoverable amounts are computed based on value in use
calculations using the five-year cash flow projections as approved by management and discounted using
a pre-tax discount rate of 8.4% in 2019 and 17.0% in 2018. Management determined, that the value in
use exceeds the carrying amount of the cash generating units with sufficient headroom as of December
31, 2019 and 2018.
The key assumptions used in determining the recoverable amounts as of December 31, 2019 of goodwill
allocated to BTSI and NAWASCOR and right to use assets are the same as with those used in the
impairment testing of service concession rights. Further, management used 2.0% growth rate in the
calculation of cash flows beyond the forecasted period. In addition, for impairment testing of goodwill
allocated to MACS, management used sales growth rate based on MACS’ five-year forecast and
long-term growth rate of 4.0% based on forecasted growth in food industry.
Management believes that no reasonably possible change in the assumptions would cause the carrying
values of the CGUs to materially exceed their recoverable amounts.
15. Other Noncurrent Assets

Installment receivables - net of current portion (Note 6)
Finance lease receivable - net of current portion (Note 6)
Contract assets - net of current portion (Note 6)
Advances to contractors and suppliers
Equity investments designated at FVTOCI/AFS investments
Deferred project costs
Deposits (Note 28)
Deferred mine exploration cost (Note 30)
Deferred rent expense (Note 28)
Pension asset (Note 21)
Others

2019
P
=48,343,187
13,612,695
13,520,926
54,998,126
76,138,300
57,013,350
42,714,608
20,418,948
11,922,204
1,729,914
43,038,986
P
=383,451,244

2018
(As restated,
Note 2)
=49,398,774
P
14,677,119
25,412,496
196,945,427
65,155,800
56,813,350
41,367,513
20,418,948
13,352,255
37,210,213
25,740,680
=546,492,575
P
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Advances to contractors and suppliers
Advances to contractors pertain to advance payments to contractors which primarily serve as
mobilization fee and are diminished through progress billings, and down payments for major capital
expenditures.
Financial assets investments designated at FVTOCI
The Company’s investments in golf club share and other proprietary and equity shares are carried at
fair value based on published club share quotes that are publicly available from local dailies and from
the website of club share brokers. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, equity investments designated
at FVTOCI amounted to P
=76,138,300 and =
P65,155,800, respectively.
The Group’s investment in Philippine government treasury bonds with fair value of P
=65.2 million as
of December 31, 2017 was sold in 2018 for P
=63.2 million. The total interest earned from these
government bonds, which carry interest rates of 3.25% to 6.00%, amounted to =
P0.9 million in 2018 and
=1.8 million in 2017 (see Note 22).
P
Below is the movement of reserve for fair value changes of financial assets investments at FVTOCI,
which is presented as part of “Reserve for fair value changes of financial assets investments” in the
consolidated statements of changes in equity.
Beginning balance , as previously reported
Effect of adoption of PFRS 9
Beginning balance, as adjusted
Changes in fair value of equity investments held at FVTOCI,
net of tax effect
Changes in fair value of debt securities held at FVTOCI
Cumulative unrealized loss on fair value changes of debt
securities recycled to profit or loss
(Note 22)
Ending balance

2019
P
=35,719,999
−
35,719,999

2018
=14,365,997
P
(400,000)
13,965,997

9,350,000
−

17,000,000
(2,092,938)

−
P
=45,069,999

6,846,940
=35,719,999
P

Deferred income tax liabilities on the fair value changes of the equity investments designated as
FVTOCI amounted to =
P7.5 million and =
P5.9 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively
(see Note 25).
Finance lease receivable
The Group has a long-term lease agreement with a third party which stipulates for a minimum volume
of cubic meter to be delivered daily. This is accounted for under finance lease with the related
receivables classified as part of “Installment receivables” of the Group. The gross investment in the
lease and the present value of minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2019 are shown as follows:
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years
Gross finance lease receivable
Less: unearned interest
Present value of minimum lease payments
Current portion (Note 6)
Finance lease receivable - net of current portion

2019
P
=1,030,347
4,121,385
15,111,746
20,263,478
(6,109,655)
14,153,823
(541,128)
P
=13,612,695

2018
=877,674
P
3,510,696
14,920,447
19,308,817
(4,106,803)
15,202,014
(524,895)
=14,677,119
P
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Deferred project costs
Maragondon Bulk Water project costs
Engineering designs, consultancy, development and
geodetic surveys costs

2019
P
=34,067,350

2018
=34,067,350
P

22,946,000
P
=57,013,350

22,746,000
=56,813,350
P

a. Maragondon Bulk Water project costs pertain to the cost of feasibility study acquired as part of
WBSI acquisition in 2011. Prior to acquisition, WBSI had contractual joint venture agreement with
Maragondon Water District (MWD) when WBSI submitted an unsolicited proposal to develop a
bulk water supply project to be sourced from the Maragondon River, to install and operate the water
treatment plant and deliver treated water at the off-takers tapping point. As part of the agreement,
MWD assigned its water permits for the use of the raw water from Maragondon River to WBSI.
As of December 31, 2019, the Group is working with the local government to execute the Bulk
Water Supply Agreement which will contain the terms and conditions to operate the water
treatment facility, as well as the corresponding tariffs and royalty fees.
In January 2019, the Group entered into a Supplemental Agreement to clarify the terms of the
contractual joint venture agreement and agree on the implementation timeline of the project.
b. In relation to the Group’s water-related projects, the Group incurs expenditures related to the
technical feasibility studies which include engineering designs, consultancy fees, development and
geodetic surveys and other project costs.
Others include software and restricted time deposits placed by the Group to guaranty an institutional
catering contract. The Group recognized amortization related to software amounting to P
=6.1 million,
=4.0 million and =
P
P2.9 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 20).
16. Notes Payable and Long-Term Debts
Notes payable
Entity
Company

BTSI

MSFI
MASCORP

Facility
One - year
loan
agreement
180 - day rolling
loan agreement
6 months short-term
loan agreement

Terms
Principal payable at maturity; interest payable quarterly,
interest rate of 5.75%.
Principal and interest payable at maturity; interest rate of
7.25% and 3.25% in 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Principal and interest payable at maturity; interest rate of
8.00%.

6 months short-term Principal and interest payable at maturity; interest rate of
loan agreement
5.25%.
180 days short term Principal and interest payable at maturity; interest rate of
6.75%. (Note 18)
loan agreement
180 days short-term
loan agreement
60 days short-term
loan agreement
70 days short-term
loan agreement

Principal payable at maturity and interest payable monthly in
arrears; US$1.5 million (with initial interest rate of 4.75%
per annum subject to quarterly repricing) (Note 18).
Principal and interest payable at maturity; P
=7.0 million (with
initial interest rate of 6.75% per annum) and US$1.0 million
(with initial interest rate of 5.00% per annum)(Note 18).
Principal and interest payable at maturity; interest rate of
6.75% (Note 18).

Outstanding Balance
2019
2018
= 500,000,000
P
=−
P
−

85,0000,000

50,000,000

−

−

75,000,000

25,000,000

−

−

78,870,000

−

59,580,000

−

50,000,000

P
=575,000,000

=348,450,000
P
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Long-term debts
Entity
MSFI

MASCORP

BTSI

SWRI

Facility
Eight-year term
loan agreement

17. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Five-year term
loan agreement

Terms
Principal and interest payable quarterly; interest rate
equivalent to the benchmark rate plus 100 basis points per
annum or 4.00% (Note 18).
Principal and interest payable quarterly; interest rate
equivalent to 7.10% per annum (Note 18).
Principal and interest payable monthly; interest rate of 5.11%
per annum subject to quarterly re-pricing (Note 18).
Principal and interest payable monthly; interest rate of 7.73%
per annum subject to quarterly re-pricing (Note 18).
Principal and interest payable monthly; interest rate of 4.34%
per annum subject to quarterly re-pricing (Note 18).
Principal and interest payable monthly; interest rate of 4.34%
per annum subject to quarterly re-pricing (Note 18).
Principal and interest payable monthly; interest rate of 5.25%
and 4.06% subject to monthly re-pricing.
Principal and interest payable quarterly; interest rate of
7.75% per annum.
Principal and interest payable quarterly; interest rate of 6.5%
per annum.
Principal and interest payable quarterly; interest rate of 8.4%
per annum.

Five-year term
loan agreement
Nine-year term
loan agreement

Principal and interest payable quarterly; interest rate of 8.4%
per annum.
Principal and interest payable monthly; interest rate of
8.0%.

Eight-year term
loan agreement
Five-year term
loan agreement
Five-year term
loan agreement
Five-year term
loan agreement
Five-year term
loan agreement
Five-year term
loan agreement
Five-year term
loan agreement
Five-year term
loan agreement

Unamortized transaction costs
Current portion

Outstanding Balance
2019
2018
= 366,666,667
P
=400,000,000
P
250,000,000

−

153,592,835

−

143,000,000

−

28,355,600

39,540,160

28,355,600

39,540,160

−

2,968,473

111,111,111

125,000,000

100,000,000

100,000,000

44,444,444

−

22,222,222

25,000,000

23,059,033

24,429,778

1,270,807,512
(3,871,947)
1,266,935,565
482,536,067
= 784,399,498
P

756,478,571
(2,952,650)
753,525,921
77,009,744
=676,516,177
P

The aforementioned notes payable and long-term debts are obtained from local banks.
The MSFI loan amounting to =
P366.7 million was specifically availed to finance the construction of its
kitchen facility. In accordance with the loan agreement, MSFI is required to maintain debt-to-equity
ratio of not more than 70:30 and debt service coverage ratio (DSCR) of at least 1.2 times. In April
2018, the lender-bank approved to defer the effectivity of the financial loan covenants until the full
commercial year of MSFI in 2019.
As of December 31, 2017, MSFI breached the minimum required debt-to-equity and DSCR ratios.
Accordingly, MSFI’s long term debt with carrying amount of P
=398.2 million is presented under
“Current liabilities” in the 2017 consolidated balance sheet.
In accordance with the loan agreements, MASCORP is required to maintain a debt-to-equity ratio of
not greater than 2.33 times and debt service coverage ratio of not lower than 1.0x. As of December 31,
2019, MASCORP complied with the required DSCR except for the DER of 2.65 times which exceeded
the required 2.33 times. Hence, the remaining noncurrent portion of the outstanding loan of
=265.4 million as of December 31, 2019 was reclassified to current liability.
P
Total interest expense incurred amounted to =
P59.0 million, P
=25.2 million and P
=8.3 million in 2019,
2018 and 2017, respectively. In 2018, capitalized interest amounted to P
=18.8 million which pertained
to MSFI loans. The capitalization rate is 4.19% in 2018 which is the effective interest rate of the loan.
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Trade accounts payable:
Third parties
Related parties (Note 18)
Nontrade accounts payable (Notes 18 and 27)
Accrued:
Service fees (Note 28)
Rental
Personnel cost
Construction costs
Outside services
Interest (Notes 16 and 18)
Utilities and others (Note 20)
Unearned revenue
Retentions payable
Output VAT
Payable to government agencies

2019

2018

P
=907,668,794
194,439,584
91,766,034

=383,311,673
P
18,135,904
161,370,763

64,097,444
55,180,273
23,424,076
17,639,410
12,362,748
7,980,719
66,911,234
91,313,239
60,373,869
64,043,299
93,713,197
P
=1,750,913,920

51,876,762
13,152,598
10,161,770
35,899,633
30,684,563
3,854,294
19,010,440
–
69,482,280
40,046,774
31,249,720
=868,237,174
P

Trade payables are incurred in the conduct of the Group’s business with normal credit terms ranging
from 30 to 45 days. Nontrade payables include concession privilege fee payable and payable to mine
surveyor and subcontractor.
Retention payable pertains to the portion of the contractors’ billings on the various construction projects
retained by the Group and will be released upon acceptance of the completed projects and submission
by the contractors of the certificate of completion and guarantee bond.
Payable to government agencies include other tax-related payable such as withholding tax and payable
to Social Security System, Philippine Health Insurance Corporation and Pag-IBIG Fund Contributions.
Deferred output VAT which is included as part of “Output VAT” pertains to output VAT of uncollected
receivables from the rendering of the Group’s services.
18. Related Party Transactions
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control, directly or indirectly, the other
party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.
It includes companies in which one or more of the directors and/or shareholder of the Company either
has a beneficial controlling interest or are in a position to exercise significant influence therein (i.e.,
affiliates).
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries and the related balances are eliminated at
consolidation and are no longer included in the disclosures.
Transactions disclosed below pertain to the following related parties:
Relationship
Affiliates:

Name
Philippine National Bank
Philippine Airlines, Inc. (PAL)
Air Philippines Corporation (APC)
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Name
LTP
CPCS

The following tables summarize the transactions with the Group’s related parties and their account
balances:
Outstanding balance
2019
(In millions)

Nature of Transaction
Affiliates
Deposits and cash equivalents
Rental deposit

P
=558.7
4.2

Nature of Transaction
Affiliates
Interest income on deposits
and cash equivalents
(Note 22)
Ground handling services
Equipment rent
Share in passenger lounge
Catering services
Share in rental and utilities
in MIAA
Short - term debt (Note 16)
Long-term debt (Note 16)
Interest expense
Office rent
Associated companies
Administrative income
from sublease of land

=511.3 On demand; prevailing interest rate
P
4.2 To be refunded at the end of lease
term; non-interest bearing
162.9 Based on trustee agreement

191.5

Trust fund retirement plan (Note 21)

2018 Terms and conditions

Amount of
Outstanding Balance
Transactions
Receivable (Payable)
2017
2018
2018
(As
(As
(As
restated, restated,
restated,
2019 Note 2) Note 2)
2019 Note 2) Terms and Conditions
(In millions)

P
=3.6

=6.3
P

=4.5
P

P
=–

=–
P

2,338.3 1,122.0

809.7

804.6

330.1

(141.4)

(8.6)

39.6

(7.5)

134.4

16.4

7.2

−

−

−

957.3

136.4

119.5

330.8

31.1

1.0
163.5
–
34.5

1.7
243.5
–
27.8

0.8
–
494.7
8.6

(0.3)
(25.0)
(970.0)
(7.9)

(0.7)
(188.5)
(479.1)
(4.2)

2.8

1.2

0.6

–

–

Service fee from preventive
maintenance and waste
water treatment services
Ground handling

30.5

30.5

30.5

–

–

16.3
(4.7)

17.8
(1.0)

16.5
−

3.5
−

5.3
(1.3)

Management services

22.1

19.2

19.2

−

−

Dividend declaration

916.3

807.3

403.0

−

42.0

On demand; prevailing interest rate
30 day, unsecured, non-interest
bearing, unimpaired
On-demand, unsecured, non-interest
bearing
On-demand, unsecured,
non-interest bearing
30 day, unsecured, non-interest
bearing, unimpaired
On-demand, unsecured,
non-interest bearing
5-8 year term loan, interest bearing
based on benchmark rate, payable
quarterly; no collateral
30 day, unsecured, non-interest
bearing, unimpaired
25 years, non-interest bearing,
includes impact of straight-line
recognition of lease income
30 day, unsecured, non-interest
bearing, unimpaired
30 day, unsecured, non-interest
bearing, unimpaired
30 day, unsecured, non-interest
bearing, unimpaired
On-demand, unsecured,
non-interest bearing

Outstanding balances at year-end are to be settled in cash. There have been no guarantees provided or
received for any related party receivables or payables.
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Ground handling and catering arrangements
Transactions with PAL and APC include ramp, passenger, cargo and other ground handling
services and catering services. The Group also provides catering services to an airport lounge of
PAL.
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Group’s trade receivables from related parties amounted to
=1,175.0 million and =
P
P361.2 million, net of allowance amounting to =
P4.4 million (i.e., accounts for
61% and 40.6% of the total receivables and contract assets), respectively. The related party which
comprises the significant portion of the Group’s total receivable has been incurring losses resulting to
a deficit and a negative working capital. We assessed that the carrying amount of the trade receivables
from related parties are collectible.
Loans
In 2017, the Group availed an eight-year term loan facility amounting to =
P400.0 million with the local
affiliated bank (see Note 16). The loan was availed to finance the Group’s construction of kitchen
facility. In 2019, the Group availed an eight-year term loan facility amounting to =
P250.0 million with
the local affiliated bank. The carrying value of the loan as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 amounted
to =
P616.7 million and =
P398.1 million, respectively. Interest expense incurred amounted to P
=14.1 million
in 2019, P
=18.8 million in 2018 and P
=8.2 million in 2017 (Notes 12 and 16).
In 2017, the Group availed of two five-year term loans totalling to P
=94.2 million with the local affiliated
bank for working capital and to finance the acquisition of groundhandling service equipment. The
carrying value of the loan as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 amounted to =
P56.7 million and
=79.1 million, respectively. Interest expense amounted to =
P
P4.2 million in 2019, P
=4.2 million in 2018
and P
=0.2 million in 2017.
The Group also has outstanding short term loans which amounted to =
P25 million and =
P188.5 million as
of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
The Group received refundable rental deposit from LTP amounting to =
P24.6 million. As of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, accreted value of rental deposit and is presented as part of “Other
noncurrent liabilities” in the consolidated balance sheets amounted to =
P9.4 million and =
P8.2 million,
respectively. Accretion of interest (included as part of “Financing charges” account) amounted to
=1.9 million in 2019, =
P
P1.2 million in 2018 and P
=1.1 million in 2017 (see Note 22). As of December 31,
2019 and 2018, unearned rent income from nonrefundable deposits amounted to =
P6.5 million and
=7.4 million, respectively.
P
The following are the transactions among related parties which are eliminated in the consolidated
statements of income:
Nature

Revenue and
other income
recognized by:

Service fees

MAC

Technical management fees
Land and building rental
Dividend income
Water revenue
Gain on sale of equipment

MAPDC
MAPDC
MAC
MONAD
MACS

Costs and
expenses recognized by:
MACS/
MASCORP/BTSI/MAPDC
MSFI/ SNVRDC/BTSI/FAA
MSFI/ SNVRDC
MAATS/ MACS/MASCORP
BTSI
MSFI

2019

2018
2017
(In Millions)

=172.4
P
1.0
16.6
53.6
16.3
–

=166.1 =
P
P118.8
13.2
–
16.6
16.6
60.3
56.9
7.7
10.7
12.9
–
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The following are the balances among related parties which are eliminated in the consolidated balance
sheets:

Nature
Due from/to
related parties

Trade receivables/
payables

Assets
recognized
by:

Liabilities
recognized by:

MAPDC
WBSI
ASSC
MMC

MASCORP/ MACS/ MAPDC/ / MAATS/
ASSC/ MMC
MSFI/ MSICS
SNVRDC/ BTSI/ NAWASCOR/ MPRDC/
PWRI/ WBSI/ CBRI/ MAATS/ MMC
CBRI
MAPDC/ MMC/ MAC
BUMICO

MAC
MASCORP
MACS
MAPDC
BTSI

MAC/ MACS/ MAATS
MAATS
MASCORP/ MAC
SNVRDC/ MSFI/ MAC
MONAD/NEWS

MAC
MACS

December 31
2019
2018
(In Millions)
P
=1,469.8
129.1

=1,175.6
P
–

429.7
10.0
5.5
0.1

437.1
10.0
5.5
0.1

94.9
0.7
–
19.6
58.7

100.1
0.2
0.2
15.4
30.3

Compensation of Key Management Personnel
The short-term benefits of the Company’s key management personnel amounted to P
=117.9 million in
2019, P
=101.4 million in 2018 and P
=105.1 million in 2017. There are no termination benefits or sharebased payments granted to key management personnel.
In accordance with the guidelines and regulations on corporate governance issued by SEC and other
regulatory bodies, the Group adopted a policy on related party transactions. The material related party
transactions policy shall cover transactions meeting the materiality threshold of 10% of the Group’s
total consolidated assets. All individual material related party transactions shall be approved by at least
two-thirds (2/3) vote of the BOD with at least a majority of the independent directors voting to approve
the material related party transaction.

In-flight and
Other Catering

Ground
Handling and
Aviation

Administrative
(As restated,
Note 2)

= 2,758,346,616
P
–
–
–

=–
P
2,579,417,701
259,277,818
–

=–
P
–
–
–

Construction of STP

–

–

Operation and maintenance of STP

–

–

–
42,827,126

–
30,867,806

–
–

104,316,410
2,905,490,152
–
= 2,905,490,152
P

–
2,869,563,325
–
= 2,869,563,325
P

–
–
29,742,058
= 29,742,058
P

Revenue from contracts with
customers
Services
Inflight and other catering
Passenger and ramp services
Cargo handling
Water distribution

Exploratory drilling fees
Others
Goods
Beverages and dry goods
Administrative fee
Total

Water
Treatment and
Distribution*

Mining

Total

=–
P
–
–
326,697,108

=–
P
–
–
–

= 2,758,346,616
P
2,579,417,701
259,277,818
326,697,108

–

5,089,286

–

5,089,286

–

15,811,460

–

15,811,460

15,437,718
–

15,437,718
73,694,932

–
15,437,718
–
= 15,437,718
P

104,316,410
6,138,089,049
29,742,058
= 6,167,831,107
P

–
–
–
–
347,597,854
–
= 347,597,854
P

*In 2019, revenue eliminated in rental and administrative and water treatment and distribution segments amounted toP
=1.3 million and
=
P16.3 million, respectively.

2018
Revenue from contracts with
customers
Services
Inflight and other catering
Passenger and ramp services
Cargo handling
Water distribution
Construction of STP
Operation and maintenance of STP
Others
Goods
Beverages and dry goods
Administrative fee
Total

19. Revenue and Direct Costs

In-flight and
Other Catering

Ground
Handling and
Aviation

Administrative
(As restated,
Note 2)

Water
Treatment and
Distribution*

Mining

Total

= 1,495,324,042
P
–
–
–
–

=–
P
1,361,111,692
63,509,619
–
–

=–
P
–
–
–
–

=–
P
–
–
157,911,390
112,756,360

=–
P
–
–
–
–

= 1,495,324,042
P
1,361,111,692
63,509,619
157,911,390
112,756,360

–
40,246,022

–
39,326,240

–
–

–
–

375,414
79,572,262

128,200,919
1,663,770,983
–
= 1,663,770,983
P

–
1,463,947,551
–
= 1,463,947,551
P

–
–
27,857,712
= 27,857,712
P

375,414
–
–
–
271,043,164
–
= 271,043,164
P

–
–
–
=–
P

128,200,919
3,398,761,698
27,857,712
= 3,426,619,410
P

*In 2018, revenue eliminated in administrative and water treatment and distribution segments amounted to =
P7.7 million and =
P 16.6 million,
respectively.
.

Service Revenue

Gross service revenue
Less discount

2019

2017

2019
P
=6,316,750,263
148,919,156
P
=6,167,831,107

2018
2017
(As restated,
(As restated,
Note 2)
Note 2)
=3,577,023,689 =
P
P2,907,290,921
150,404,279
136,500,684
=3,426,619,410 P
P
=2,770,790,237

Disaggregated Revenue Information
The Group derives its revenue from transfer of goods and services over time and at a point in time, in
different product types and within the Philippines.

Revenue
Services
Inflight and other catering
Passenger and ramp services
Cargo handling
Water distribution
Others
Goods
Beverages and dry goods
Administrative fee
Total

In-flight and
Other Catering

Ground
Handling and
Aviation

Administrative
(As restated,
Note 2)

Water
Treatment and
Distribution*

Mining

Total

= 1,272,167,458
P
–
–
–
130,150,753

=–
P
1,031,617,643
–
–
–

=–
P
–
–
–
–

=–
P
–
–
142,646,814
–

=–
P
–
–
–
27,259,722

= 1,272,167,458
P
1,031,617,643
–
142,646,814
157,410,475

138,682,142
1,541,000,353
–
= 1,541,000,353
P

–
1,031,617,643
–
= 1,031,617,643
P

–
–
28,265,705
= 27,857,712
P

–
142,646,814

–
27,259,722
–
= 27,259,722
P

138,682,142
2,742,524,532
28,265,705
= 2,770,790,237
P

= 142,646,814
P

Set out on the next page are the disaggregation of the Group’s revenue for 2019 and 2018 and the
reconciliation of the revenue from contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in segment
information (see Note 4).
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Others include laundry, warehousing and other ancillary services rendered by MACS and MASCORP.
Timing of revenue recognition
Goods or services transferred overtime
Goods transferred at a point in time

2019
P
=6,063,514,697
104,316,410
P
=6,167,831,107

2018
=3,298,418,491
P
128,200,919
=3,426,619,410
P

Contract Balances
The Group’s gross trade receivables amounted to P
=1,829.8 million and P
=814.5 million as at
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively (see Note 6). The significant increase in trade receivables
in 2019 is due to new airline customers and increased business in water segment.
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Group’s contract asset amounted to P
=20.8 million and
=28.3 million (see Notes 6 and 15). The Group does not have contract liabilities as of
P
December 31, 2019 and 2018.

2019
P1,574,521,074
=
1,206,608,196
763,865,636
360,839,555
191,099,090
124,016,404
119,633,035
95,849,021
90,891,677
76,038,939
50,683,775
20,855,024
13,147,398
127,810,551
=4,815,859,376
P

2018
(As restated,
Notes 2 and 10)
=697,125,732
P
676,937,203
338,733,294
198,643,074
180,797,286
79,740,868
65,582,077
73,576,148
56,279,345
154,774,471
20,611,210
12,463,400
12,197,195
31,924,277
=2,599,385,580
P

2017
(As restated,
Note 2)
=548,726,581
P
603,754,502
189,119,432
165,432,597
131,886,580
31,831,833
66,753,249
56,634,877
70,783,030
38,075,477
25,030,268
10,822,025
13,104,645
32,955,499
=1,984,910,595
P

20. Operating Expenses

Selling –
Advertising and promotions
General and administrative:
Salaries and wages
Employee benefits (Note 21)
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 12, 14 and 28)
Repairs and maintenance
Taxes and licenses (Note 13)
Professional and legal fees
Project expenses
Service fee (Note 29)
Security and janitorial

2019
P33,898,463
=
29,259,951
29,103,185
28,198,627
16,142,666
15,155,725
13,436,723
11,152,184
9,488,927
7,284,629
5,672,441
50,316,047
1,028,582,110
=1,038,520,689
P

2017
(As restated,
Note 2)
=20,364,048
P
14,735,430
11,004,816
16,586,747
12,586,778
13,603,909
2,767,638
9,301,669
5,182,389
4,982,664
2,528,976
50,732,161
599,050,164
=601,428,734
P

Others include quality control related expenses (e.g., hygiene and sanitation), company activities and
projects, and personnel training costs.

Direct costs

Salaries and wages
Food (Note 7)
Contractual services
Concession privilege fee (Note 29)
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 12, 14 and 28)
Leases (Notes 18 and 28)
Repairs and maintenance
Employee benefits (Note 21)
Overhead
Supplies (Note 7)
Utilities
Insurance
Laundry
Others

Transportation and travel
Entertainment, amusement and recreation
Utilities
Supplies
Provisions for probable losses (Notes 6, 8 and 30)
Rent (Notes 18 and 28)
Mining expenses (Note 30)
Directors’ fees
Communications
Gas and oil
Insurance
Others

2018
(As restated,
Notes 2 and 10)
=28,293,237
P
15,196,486
19,750,444
17,320,155
13,135,673
11,574,449
6,516,673
8,060,392
5,695,007
5,487,369
2,343,802
45,652,414
705,153,179
=710,712,348
P

2019

2018
(As restated,
Notes 2 and 10)

2017
(As restated,
Note 2)

=9,938,579
P

=5,559,169
P

=2,378,570
P

248,929,636
115,931,308
77,795,775
68,526,930
67,779,179
61,605,030
48,927,226
48,257,394
41,720,064

190,420,085
113,479,428
31,340,222
24,923,913
54,184,422
52,638,386
3,136,137
38,251,508
17,752,977

161,011,608
86,623,233
51,665,927
26,872,370
33,512,447
20,883,643
2,138,323
34,658,020
17,307,368

21. Employee Benefits Costs
Accrued retirement and other employee benefits payable consists of the following:
2019
P66,607,764
=
26,481,930
=93,089,694
P

Accrued retirement benefits payable
Other employee benefits

2018
=19,349,822
P
9,703,649
=29,053,471
P

Retirement Benefits Cost
The Group has funded, non-contributory defined benefit group retirement plans, covering all of their
permanent employees. The retirement benefit is equal to a certain percentage of the monthly final
salary for every year of service. The fund is administered by a trustee bank which is responsible for
investment strategy of the plan, in consultation with the Group’s Management.
Under the existing regulatory framework, Republic Act 7641, Retirement Pay Law, requires a provision
for retirement pay to qualified private sector employees in the absence of any retirement plan in the
entity, provided however that the employee’s retirement benefits under any collective bargaining and
other agreements shall not be less than those provided under the law. The law does not require
minimum funding of the plan.
The components of retirement benefits cost recognized in profit or loss follow:
Current service cost
Net interest cost (income)
Portions recognized in:
Direct costs (Note 19)
Operating expenses (Note 20)

2019
=41,995,458
P
(1,324,603)
=40,670,855
P

2018
=26,050,670
P
(114,623)
=25,936,047
P

2017
=22,174,708
P
181,471
=22,356,179
P

P16,342,069
=
24,328,786
=40,670,855
P

=18,865,372
P
7,070,675
=25,936,047
P

=16,196,333
P
6,159,846
=22,356,179
P

(Forward)
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The details of the remeasurement in other comprehensive income are as follows:
Actuarial gain (loss) on defined
benefit obligation arising from
changes in:
Experience adjustments
Financial assumptions
Remeasurement loss on plan assets
Tax effect

2019

(P
=18,355,611)
(49,519,472)
(67,875,083)
(4,085,391)
(71,960,474)
13,842,925
(P
=58,117,549)

Changes in fair value of plan assets are as follows:

2018

(P
=4,651,024)
25,432,270
20,781,246
(7,893,810)
12,887,436
(3,875,328)
=9,012,108
P

2017

=548,760
P
5,219,582
5,768,342
(4,155,180)
1,613,162
1,090,289
=2,703,451
P

The details of the accrued retirement benefits payable, net of pension assets, are as follows:
2019
P
=256,375,216
191,497,366
P
=64,877,850

Present value of defined benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets

2018
=145,040,559
P
162,900,950
(P
=17,860,391)

2019
2018
Accrued
retirement
Accrued
benefits Pension asset
retirement Pension asset
payable
(Note 15) benefits payable
(Note 15)
P
=19,349,822 P
=37,210,213 P
=17,484,359 P
=19,505,487
40,726,616

(55,761)

7,256,815

(18,679,232)

71,790,216
(29,893,088)

(170,258)
–

608,648
(6,000,000)

13,496,083
22,887,875

(35,365,802)
P
=66,607,764

(35,254,280)
P
=1,729,914

–
=19,349,822
P

–
=37,210,213
P

Changes in present value of defined benefit obligation are as follows:
Beginning balance
Current service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial loss (gain) on retirement obligation
Benefits paid out of the Group’s plan assets
Ending balance

2019
2018
P
=145,040,559 =
P134,493,428
41,995,458
26,050,670
10,726,716
7,581,764
67,875,083 (20,781,246)
(9,262,600)
(2,304,057)
P
=256,375,216 P
=145,040,559

*SGVFS033488*

150

MacroAsia Corporation 2019 Annual Report

The major categories of plan assets are as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents
Debt instruments:
Government securities
Quoted debt securities
Receivables

2019
=3,557,978
P

2018
=32,731
P

173,914,979
13,962,571
61,838
=191,497,366
P

144,587,325
18,176,167
104,727
=162,900,950
P

The plan assets have diverse investments and do not have any concentration risk.

Movements in accrued retirement benefits payable and pension asset follow:

Beginning balance
Retirement benefits cost
recognized in profit or
loss
Remeasurements in other
comprehensive income
Contributions
Accrued retirement
resulting from business
combination (Note 10)
Ending balance

2019
2018
P
=162,900,950 =
P136,514,556
12,051,319
7,696,387
29,893,088
28,887,875
(9,262,600)
(2,304,057)
(4,085,391)
(7,893,811)
P
=191,497,366 P
=162,900,950
P
=64,877,850 (P
=17,860,391)

Beginning balance
Interest income on plan assets
Contributions to the plan
Benefits paid
Remeasurement loss on plan assets
Ending balance
Actual return (loss) on plan assets

The cost of defined benefit pension plans and the present value of the pension obligation are determined
using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions. The principal
assumptions used in determining retirement benefits cost and obligations as of January 1 are shown on
the next page.
2019
7.40%
5.00%

Average discount rates
Average future salary increases

2018
7.37%-7.41%
5.00%

The average discount rate as of December 31, 2019 is 5.05%.
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each
significant assumption on the present value of defined benefit obligation as of December 31, assuming
all other assumptions were held constant:
Assumptions:
Discount rate:
+100 basis points
-100 basis points
Salary increase rate:
+100 basis points
-100% basis points

2019

2018

(P
=25,249,930)
35,368,700

(P
=9,728,253)
12,813,325

34,274,080
(25,056,941)

12,729,268
(4,500,982)

There were no changes in the methods and assumptions from the previous periods used in preparing the
sensitivity analysis.
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Shown below is the maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments:
2019
P
=1,895,465
51,108,386
160,829,265
187,681,472
275,610,565
14,890,076,805

Date of retirement:
1 year and less
more than 1 year to 5 years
more than 5 years to 10 years
more than 10 years to 15 years
more than 15 years to 20 years
more than 20 years

c. Other income - net consist of:
2018
=–
P
33,257,826
98,903,745
114,265,974
194,703,089
8,764,475,761

The Group expects to contribute P
=68.8 million in 2020. The Group does not currently employ any
asset-liability matching strategies.
Other employee benefits
Employees can accumulate earned leave credits, which can be used anytime when needed by the
employee or converted to cash, computed based on the employee’s final rate upon separation
(i.e., resignation or retirement). Accumulated leave credits are presented as “Other employee benefits”
which amounted to P
=26.5 million and P
=9.7 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Provision for accumulating leave credits amounted to P
=16.8 million in 2019, reversal for accumulating
leave credits amounted to =
P0.2 million in 2018 and provision for accumulating leave credits amounted
to =
P2.1 million in 2017.

2019
P306,255
=
(306,255)
1,196,694

Construction revenue (Note 14)
Construction costs (Note 14)
Connection and reconnection fees
Loss on sale of investment in debt securities
(Note 15)
Special flight permits
Reversal of prior years’ accruals
and long outstanding checks
Others - net

a.

Interest income was derived from:
Cash and cash equivalents
(Notes 5 and 18)
Debt instruments at FVTOCI
(Note 15)
Accretion of refundable deposits
(Note 28)
Installment receivables (Note 6)

2019

2018

2017

P
=6,623,302

=8,307,155
P

=5,454,280
P

–

928,802

1,819,500

1,413,647
3,738,366
P
=11,775,315

1,379,937
460,707
=11,076,601
P

1,208,566
–
=8,482,346
P

2018
(As restated,
Note 2)

2017
(As restated,
Note 2)

P
=59,015,513
27,425,044

=25,203,099
P
24,902,553

P8,305,240
=
23,765,390

1,936,700
P
=88,377,257

1,248,148
=51,353,800
P

1,082,649
=33,153,279
P

b. Financing charges pertain to:

Notes payable and long-term debts
(Notes 16 and 18)
Lease liabilities (Note 28)
Accretion of refundable deposits
(Note 18)

2019
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2017
P
=718,581
(718,581)
1,265,152

–
–

(6,846,940)
–

–
9,682,037

–
52,608,443
=53,805,137
P

–
35,061,746
=29,766,173
P

5,695,380
23,766,190
=40,408,759
P

Others include management fee charged to an associate amounting to P
=22.1 million and
=19.2 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively (see Note 18).
P
23. Foreign Currency-denominated Monetary Assets and Liabilities
The Group’s foreign currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities as of December 31 are as
follows:
2019

22. Other Income (Charges)

2018
P24,406,608
=
(24,406,608)
1,551,367

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Liabilities
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Notes payable and long term debts
(Note 16)
Net foreign currency-denominated
assets

2018

US Dollar

Total Peso
Equivalent

US Dollar

Total Peso
Equivalent

$4,528,444
8,685,429
13,213,873

P234,614,411
=
335,503,235
570,117,646

$5,195,336
5,647,769
10,843,105

P273,172,382
=
296,959,680
570,132,062

175,093

8,284,192

470,032

24,714,276

4,153,333
4,328,426

210,304,035
218,588,227

4,037,000
4,507,032

212,265,460
236,979,736

$8,885,447

=351,529,419
P

$6,336,073

=333,152,326
P

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the exchange rates of the Peso to US$ dollar were P
=50.63 and
=52.58 to US$1, respectively.
P
24. Registration with the Philippine Economic Zone Authority (PEZA), Mactan Cebu International
Airport Authority (MCIAA) and Subic Bay Metropolitan Authority (SBMA)
The Group, through MASCORP and MAPDC, is registered with the PEZA and has commercial
operations as the Ecozone Developer/Operator of the MacroAsia Special Ecozone at the Ninoy Aquino
International Aiport (NAIA) and at Mactan Cebu International Airport (MCIA). MacroAsia Special
Ecozone is the only existing ecozone within NAIA.
In 2018, the Group, through FAA, was issued Certificate of Registration and Tax Exemption and was
granted rights, privileges and benefits as a Subic Bay Freeport Enterprise in accordance with Republic
Act No. 7227, Bases Conversion and Development Act of 1992, the rules of authority bestowed on the
SBMA.
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Under the terms of their registrations, the Group is entitled to certain tax benefits provided for under
relevant rules and regulations which include, among others, exemption from payment of all national
internal revenue taxes and all local government imposed fees, licenses or taxes. In lieu thereof,
MAPDC and FAA shall pay a 5% final tax on gross income earned from their operations within the
special tax zones.
25. Income Taxes
a. The current provision for income tax is as follows:
RCIT
MCIT
Final tax on interest
5% final tax on gross income

2019
=183,994,720
P
7,915,305
1,117,956
950,722
=193,978,703
P

2018
=115,108,725
P
4,464,679
1,660,945
807,618
=122,041,967
P

2017
=113,821,423
P
3,067,898
1,132,254
535,288
=118,556,863
P

The Company’s and subsidiaries’ net deferred income tax assets (liabilities) as of December 31 are
as follows:

Recognized directly in the
consolidated statements of
income:
Deferred income tax assets on:
Allowances for:
ECL
Probable losses
Accrued rental expense
Accrued retirement benefits
payable and other employee
benefits
Accrued expenses
Lease liabilities
Unrealized foreign exchange loss
Unamortized past service cost
NOLCO
Deferred income tax liabilities on:
Contract assets
Right-of-use assets
Fair value adjustment on
property, plant and equipment
as a result of business
combination

2019
Net
Net
Deferred
Deferred
Income Tax
Income Tax
Assets
Liabilities

2018
(As restated,
Notes 2 and 10)
Net
Net
Deferred
Deferred
Income Tax
Income Tax
Assets
Liabilities

P4,658,109
=
7,639,680
619,828

P–
=
–
–

P2,236,700
=
14,410,819
–

=2,238,894
P
–
185,343

15,926,513
13,539,422
10,490,949
1,317,137
511,118
–
54,702,756

–
–
2,488,789
–
34,924
–
2,523,713

3,932,645
2,262,140
6,403,883
382,758
1,967,788
–
31,596,733

2,639,223
1,447,904
–
1,615,794
543,182
6,487,841
15,158,181

–
(634,945)

(6,244,619)
(3,017,715)

–
–

(8,432,960)
–

–
(634,945)

(128,531,790)
(137,794,124)

–
–

(130,332,404)
(138,765,364)

2018
(As restated,
Notes 2 and 10)
Net
Net
Deferred
Deferred
Income Tax
Income Tax
Assets
Liabilities

2019
Net
Net
Deferred
Deferred
Income Tax
Income Tax
Assets
Liabilities

Recognized directly in equity:
Deferred income tax liabilities on:
Fair value changes of
equity investments designated
as FVTOCI
Remeasurement gain

=–
P
(2,169,813)
(2,169,813)
=51,897,998
P

(P
= 7,530,000)
–
(7,530,000)
(P
= 142,800,411)

=–
P
(6,265,442)
(6,265,442)
=25,331,291
P

(P
=5,880,000)
(9,123,267)
(15,003,267)
(P
=138,610,450)

b. As of December 31, the deductible temporary differences, NOLCO and MCIT for which no
deferred income tax assets were recognized in the consolidated balance sheets are as follows:
Deductible temporary differences on:
Allowances for probable losses Deferred mine exploration costs
Accrued retirement benefits payable
Accrued rental expense
Unrealized foreign exchange losses
NOLCO
MCIT

2019

2018

2017

=217,070,924
P
9,499,895
21,125,027
524,972
495,579,393
4,043,964

=217,070,924
P
10,710,549
17,534,737
748,675
378,668,161
8,359,259

=217,070,924
P
4,784,880
17,534,737
1,365,952
251,632,174
5,399,931

The Group did not recognize deferred income tax assets on these temporary differences, NOLCO
and MCIT as management believes that certain companies in the Group may not have sufficient
taxable income against which these temporary differences and NOLCO can be used or RCIT
payable against which the MCIT can be applied.
c. MCIT can be deducted against the RCIT and NOLCO can be claimed as deduction from regular
taxable income. As of December 31, the details of the Group’s NOLCO and MCIT follow:
Year Incurred Expiry Date
2019
2022
2018
2021
2017
2020
2016
2019

NOLCO
2019
=219,055,865
P
174,839,206
101,684,322
–
=495,579,393
P

2018
=–
P
174,839,206
101,684,322
102,144,633
=378,668,161
P

MCIT
2019
2018
=4,357,970
P
=–
P
4,464,679
4,464,679
3,067,898
3,067,898
–
826,682
=11,890,547
P
P8,359,259
=

Movements of NOLCO and MCIT are as follows:

Beginning balance
Additions
Expired
Ending balance

NOLCO
2019
2018
=378,668,161
P
=251,632,174
P
219,055,865
174,839,206
(102,144,633)
(47,803,219)
=495,579,393
P
=378,668,161
P

MCIT
2019
2018
=8,359,259
P
=5,399,931
P
4,357,970
4,464,679
(826,682)
(1,505,351)
=11,890,547
P
=8,359,259
P

(Forward)
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d. The reconciliation of the provision for income tax at the statutory tax rates to the provision for
income tax as shown in the consolidated statements of income is as follows:

Provision for income tax computed at
the statutory tax rate
Adjustments resulting from:
Share in earnings of associates
Nondeductible expenses
Movements in deductible
temporary differences,
NOLCO and MCIT for
which no deferred income
tax assets were recognized
Derecognized deferred income
tax assets
Interest income already
subjected to final tax at
lower rates or not subject
to income tax
Provision for income tax

2018
(As restated,
Notes 2 and 10)

2019

2017
(As restated,
Note 2)

=444,670,313
P

=361,264,733
P

=354,789,845
P

(323,178,121)
4,489,218

(321,004,376)
20,289,851

(293,552,672)
7,000,601

66,320,193

57,396,962

38,742,856

–

–

(960,421)
=191,341,182
P

(607,524)
=117,339,646
P

9,875,126

(432,724)
=116,423,032
P

26. Basic/Diluted Earnings Per Share

2019

Capital stock
a. Track record of registration of securities
On August 30, 1974, the Philippine SEC authorized the registration and licensing of the Company’s
securities with total par value of P
=20.0 million divided into 2,000,000,000 shares with a par value
of P
=0.01 per share.
On December 10, 1993, the Company amended its articles of incorporation, increasing the par value
of its shares from =
P0.01 per share to =
P1.00 per share.

On March 22, 2000, the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) authorized to list the Company’s
750,000,000 shares, with a par value of =
P1.00 per share and 500,000,000 warrants divided into the
following:
i. 250,000,000 shares to cover the 1:4 stock rights offering to stockholders of record as of
April 12, 2000 at an offer price of P
=2.00 per share;
ii. 500,000,000 warrants to cover the 2:1 warrants offering attached to and detachable from the
rights shares at a subscription price of =
P0.10 per warrant; and
iii. 500,000,000 shares to cover the underlying shares of warrants at an exercise price of
=6.00 per share. Actual listing of the underlying common shares of the warrants shall take
P
effect upon the exercise of the warrants.
iv. All warrants expired in 2005.
MAC’s shares are listed and traded at the PSE and the number of holders of its common equity as
of December 31, 2019 and 2018 is 845 and 842, respectively.

Basic/diluted earnings per share are computed as follows:

Net income attributable to equity
holders of the Company
Divided by weighted average
number of common shares
outstanding*

27. Equity

2018
(As restated,
Notes 2 and 10)

2017
(As restated,
Note 2)

P
=1,129,066,014

=1,051,242,575
P

=1,022,721,639
P

1,584,022,660
P
=0.71

1,592,101,672
=0.66
P

1,597,917,588
=0.64
P

*Computed as if the issuance of shares of stock of 368,146,293 shares resulting from 30% stock dividends in
2018 have been recognized since January 1, 2017.

There are no potential common shares with dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share in 2019,
2018 and 2017.

b. The Company’s authorized capital stock is 2,000,000,000 shares with =
P1 per share. Movements in
the Company’s issued, treasury and outstanding shares are as follows:
As of December 31, 2009
Acquisition of treasury shares in 2010
As of December 31, 2010
Acquisition of treasury shares in 2011
As of December 31, 2011
Acquisition of treasury shares in 2012
As of December 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016
Acquisition of treasury shares in 2017
As of December 31, 2017
Stock dividend declaration (Note 17)
Acquisition of treasury shares in 2018
As of December 31, 2018
Acquisition of treasury shares in 2019
As of December 31, 2019

Issued
1,250,000,000
−
1,250,000,000
−
1,250,000,000
−
1,250,000,000
−
1,250,000,000
368,146,293
−
1,618,146,293
−
1,618,146,293

Treasury
−
(2,985,000)
(2,985,000)
(7,486,000)
(10,471,000)
(6,125,000)
(16,596,000)
(6,249,600)
(22,845,600)
−
(3,949,100)
(26,794,700)
(12,845,600)
(39,640,300)

Outstanding
1,250,000,000
(2,985,000)
1,247,015,000
(7,486,000)
1,239,529,000
(6,125,000)
1,233,404,000
(6,249,600)
1,227,154,400
368,146,293
(3,949,100)
1,591,351,593
(12,845,600)
1,578,505,993

Treasury shares
c. Treasury stock
On March 14, 2019, the Company’s BOD approved the additional funding of =
P200.0 million for
the 2017 Share Buyback Program of the Corporation.
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On June 15 2017, the Company’s BOD approved to allot =
P210.0 million to repurchase shares of
the Company at market price. The mechanics of the 2017 Buyback Program is similar to the
=50.0 million buyback program implemented in 2010. The Program commenced on June 20, 2017
P
and will run until the P
=210.0 million pesos authorized cash outlay is fully utilized, or until such
time that the Company’s BOD may direct, subject to appropriate disclosures to the PSE and the
SEC.
On July 16, 2010, the Company’s BOD approved the Share Buyback Program (the Program)
involving a total cash outlay of =
P50.0 million for the repurchase of the outstanding common shares
of the Company from the market, using the trading facilities of the PSE. The Program will not
involve any active or widespread solicitation for stockholders to sell. Repurchase of shares of stock
will be done during the period of the Program at such prices perceived by the Company to be lower
than the inherent value of the share. The Program will run until the =
P50.0 million authorized cash
outlay is fully utilized or until such time that the Company’s BOD may direct, subject to appropriate
disclosures to the PSE and the Philippine SEC.
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company’s cost and number of shares held in treasury are
as follows:
Cost
Number of shares held in treasury

2019
=426,826,835
P
39,640,300

On December 12, 2019, the Company’s BOD approved the reversal of the appropriation for water
projects amounting to =
P300.0 million and appropriation of =
P850.0 million for various projects to
be undertaken by the Group. The appropriation for water projects is retained for the next few years
as aligned with the Groupwide water related projects ranging two to three years.
Appropriated retained earnings as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 amounted to P
=1,645.0 million
and P
=1,088.1 million, respectively.
f.

Type
Cash
Stock
Cash
Cash

Date Approved
March 14, 2019
July 20, 2018
December 13, 2017
December 14, 2016

Per share
=
P0.20
30%
=
P0.14
=
P0.08

Stockholder of Record Date
April 12, 2019
August 17, 2018
January 5, 2018
January 6, 2017

Date of Payment
May 10, 2019
September 12, 2018
January 31, 2018
February 1, 2017

g. Cash dividends received by non-controlling interest are as follows:

2018
=176,215,402
P
26,794,700

Entity
MACS
MACS
MACS
MACS

Retained earnings

Date Declared
December 27, 2019
December 6, 2018
November 28, 2017
December 8, 2016

Amount
=
P80,000,000
75,000,000
70,000,000
50,000,000

Per share
=
P64.0
60.0
56.0
40.0

Dividends attributable to noncontrolling interest (SATS)
=26,400,000
P
24,750,000
23,100,000
16,500,000

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, P
=26.4 million and P
=12.4 million, respectively, remained
outstanding and presented as “Dividends payable” in the consolidated balance sheets..

d. Restriction on retained earnings
The retained earnings as of December 31 is restricted for dividend declaration for the portion
equivalent to the following:

Other reserves

·

Undistributed earnings of subsidiaries and equity in net earnings of associates amounting to
=1,645.0 million and =
P
P1,088.1 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Further, the undistributed earnings of subsidiaries include appropriated retained earnings of
MACS and MASCORP totalling to P
=795.0 million and P
=505.0 million as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

h. The sale of 250,001 shares representing 20% of the total issued and outstanding capital stock of
MASCORP to Konoike amounting to P
=1.1 billion (JPY 2.3 billion) was accounted for as a sale of
share in subsidiary without loss of control, thus an equity transaction. The excess of consideration
received over the carrying amount of the non-controlling interests amounted to =
P886.8 million,
which is presented as part of “Other reserves” in the equity section of the consolidated balance
sheets.

·

Cost of treasury shares amounting to P
=426.8 million and P
=176.2 million as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

i.

·

Deferred income tax assets amounting to =
P57.2 million and =
P46.8 million as of December 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively.

In December 2015, the Group, through MAPDC, entered into a share purchase agreement with a
third party wherein WBSI shall be owned by MAPDC and the third party at 51% and 49%,
respectively. The transaction was accounted for as a sale of share in subsidiary without loss of
control; thus an equity transaction. The excess of consideration received over the carrying amount
of the non-controlling interests amounted to =
P24.3 million, which is presented as part of “Other
reserves” in the equity section of the consolidated balance sheets.

j.

In July 2015, the Company signed a Sale and Purchase Agreement with SATS to sell 162,500
shares representing 13% of the total issued and outstanding capital stock of MACS. After the sale,
MACS is 33% owned by SATS. The excess of consideration received over the carrying amount of
the non-controlling interests amounted to P
=119.0 million, which is presented as part of “Other
reserves” in the equity section of the consolidated balance sheets.

e. Appropriation and reversal of appropriation of retained earnings
As of December 31, 2016 and 2017, the Company’s retained earnings included appropriated
amounts of =
P393.1 million and =
P300.0 million for the mining development projects and water
projects, respectively. These were originally approved for appropriation in 2011.
On March 22, 2018, the Company’s BOD approved the reversal of the appropriation for mining
development projects amounting to =
P393.1 million. The appropriation for water projects is retained
for the next few years as aligned with the Groupwide water related projects ranging two to three
years.
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- 84 The following are the amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of income:

28. Leases
The Group has various operating lease agreements with airport authorities for its catering and ground
handling operations and with a third party lessor for the Group’s office spaces and land. The Group
also has land subleased to an associate and accounted for as net investment in the lease. Leases of office
space between 5 and 35 years, while land generally have lease terms between 5 and 50 years.
The Group has certain lease of land with lease term of 12 months or less that the Group applies the
‘short-term lease’exemptions for these leases.
Set out below is the carrying amount of the net investment in the lease recognised and the movements
during the period:
At January 1
Accretion of interest
At December 31

2018
=1,167,217,957
P
1,871,747
=1,169,089,704
P

2019
=1,169,089,704
P
2,754,488
=1,171,844,192
P

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the
period:
2019
Cost
At January 1
Additions
Accumulated Depreciation
and Amortization
At January 1
Depreciation
At December 31
Net Book Value

Office space

Land and office
space

Total

=496,795,403
P
−
496,795,403

=60,431,856
P
−
60,431,856

= 34,519,510
P
2,513,321
37,032,831

=591,746,769
P
2,513,321
594,260,090

(3,700,954)
(3,915,650)
(7,616,604)
P
=29,416,227

(57,795,195)
(36,897,906)
(94,693,101)
P
=499,566,989

2018

Cost
At January 1, as previously reported
Effect of adoption of PFRS 16 (Note 2)
At January 1, as restated
Additions
At December 31
Accumulated Depreciation
and Amortization
At January 1, as previously reported
Effect of adoption of PFRS 16
At January 1, as restated
Depreciation
At December 31
Net Book Value

Land

Land and office
Office space
space

Total

=−
P
496,795,403
496,795,403
−
496,795,403

=−
P
34,108,282
34,108,282
26,323,574
60,431,856

P−
=
−
−
34,519,510
34,519,510

=−
P
530,903,685
530,903,685
60,843,084
591,746,769

–
(17,237,400)
(17,237,400)
(21,878,680)
(39,116,080)
=457,679,323
P

–
(6,478,474)
(6,478,474)
(8,499,687)
(14,978,161)
=45,453,695
P

–
–
–
(3,700,954)
(3,700,954)
=30,818,556
P

–
(23,715,874)
(23,715,874)
(34,079,321)
(57,795,195)
=533,951,574
P

*SGVFS033488*

160

MacroAsia Corporation 2019 Annual Report

2019
P36,897,906
=
27,425,044
139,172,129
=203,495,079
P

2018
P34,079,321
=
24,902,553
91,315,317
=150,297,191
P

2017
P31,666,408
=
23,765,390
45,435,742
=100,867,540
P

The rollforward analysis of lease liabilities follows:
At January 1, as previously reported
Effect of adoption of PFRS 16 (Note 2)
At January 1, as restated
Additions
Interest expense (Note 22)
Payments
As at December 31
Current portion
Noncurrent portion

2019
=1,743,543,333
P
–
1,743,543,333
30,949,574
27,425,044
(78,493,817)
1,723,424,134
24,688,033
=1,698,736,101
P

2018
=–
P
1,700,009,467
1,700,009,467
67,635,419
24,902,553
(49,004,106)
1,743,543,333
22,479,958
=1,721,063,375
P

29. Significant Agreements and Commitments

Land

(39,116,080) (14,978,161)
(23,066,250)
(9,916,006)
(62,182,330) (24,894,167)
P
=434,613,073 P
=35,537,689

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets (Notes 19 and 20)
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 22)
Expenses relating to short-term leases (Notes 19 and 20)
Total amount

Concession Agreements
The Group has concession agreements with MIAA, MCIAA. CAAP and GMR-Megaworld Cebu
Airport Corporation (the airport authorities) to exclusively operate within the airport authorities’
premises at NAIA Terminal 1, 2 and 3, MCIAA, KIA and/or MDA. The concession agreements have
a period of one year, subject to renewal. The Group pays the airport authorities a monthly concession
privilege fee equivalent to 7% of monthly gross income on catering services and groundhandling
services (10% effective July 1, 2018 at MCIAA), respectively.
Concession privilege fee amounted to P
=360.8 million, P
=198.6 million and P
=165.4 million in 2019, 2018
and 2017, respectively, which is presented under “Direct Costs” (see Note 19).
Service Fee Agreement
The Group has a service fee agreement with SATS, the 33% owner of MACS. Service fee amounted
to =
P41.9 million, P
=38.3 million and =
P34.7 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 20).
Outstanding payable to SATS amounted to =
P42.2 million and =
P51.9 million as of December 31, 2019
and 2018, respectively (see Note 17).
Waterworks System Agreements
The Group has Memorandum of Agreements (Agreements) with various government municipalities to
design, construct, commission and maintain a new and complete waterworks system, particularly in
Mabini Pangasinan, Solano, Nueva Vizcaya and Naic, Cavite. The Agreements commenced in 2013,
2015 and 2017, and are for a period of 25 years to 40 years, as applicable, subject to renewal based on
the provisions of the Agreements.
Certificate of Public Convenience (CPC)
BTSI is a holder of CPC, which allows BTSI to install, operate and maintain waterworks systems in
certain barangays in Malay, Aklan. The CPC was granted by National Water Resources Board
(NWRB) in 2014 and is valid until July 2017. In 2017, BTSI’s CPC was renewed with validity until
July 18, 2022.
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Exploratory Service Agreements
MMC has various service agreements with third parties, wherein MMC will undertake exploratory
drilling and sampling of nickel laterite services on the third parties, mining tenements.
Revenue recognized amounted to =
P15.4 million and =
P27.3 million in 2019 and 2017, respectively.

On January 30, 2015, the Company executed a Deed of Assignment of the MPSAs to MMC. However,
the assignment has not taken effect yet. As of December 31, 2019, the Company has submitted the
necessary requirements for the renewal of Exploration Period of the two MPSAs; and has obtained
approval by the MGB.

30. Deferred Mine Exploration Costs and Mining-Related Activities
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, deferred mine exploration costs follow:
Cost
Accumulated impairment loss

P237,489,872
=
217,070,924
=20,418,948
P

Infanta Nickel Project
Deferred mine exploration costs pertain to costs incurred by the Company in the exploration of its
mining property located in Brooke’s Point, Palawan, the Infanta Nickel Project (the Project).
The Project is the Company’s tenement under MPSAs with the government, MPSA 220IV-B and
MPSA 221 IV-B. The MPSAs are a consolidation of the Company’s eight mining lease contracts with
the Government that were granted under Commonwealth Act No. 137 and P.D. 463. In the 1970’s, the
Company operated the mine as an export producer of beneficiated nickel laterite. As such, it had sales
and purchase agreements with Sumitomo Metal Mining Co., Ltd. of Japan, and thus, had made
shipments of nickel ore to Japan in the 1970’s until very low nickel prices forced the operations to be
suspended. The previous quarry and road network within the tenement still exists and is currently being
maintained for future use.
The MPSAs run for a term not exceeding 25 years from the dates of the grant, and are renewable for
another term not exceeding 25 years under the same terms and conditions, without prejudice to changes
that will be mutually agreed upon by the DENR and the Company. As provided under the MPSAs, the
Company is allowed to conduct exploration activities within a certain period (“exploration period”),
renewable for like periods but not to exceed a total term of eight years.
In 2008, the Supreme Court ruled with finality that the Company has vested legal rights to its MPSAs;
and with the grant of the environmental compliance certificate (ECC) in 2010 for operations by the
DENR, the Company secured two major permits necessary to bring back the mine to operations.
Further, in 2010, the exploration efforts of the Company resulted in the delineation of 10.8 million dry
metric ton of measured mineral resource with average grade of 1.30% nickel (Ni) and 31.28% iron (Fe)
at 1% Ni cut-off. The reserves calculation was validated by the Mines and Geosciences Bureau (MGB)
to be acceptable. MGB’s independent calculation revealed a measured mineral resource of 12.8 million
dry metric ton with average grade of 1.29% Ni and 32.20% Fe at 1.0% Ni cut-off.
The recovery of deferred mine exploration costs depends upon the success of exploration activities and
future development of the mining properties, as well as the discovery of recoverable reserves in
quantities that can be commercially produced. Currently, the Company is working on the acquisition
of the Certificate of Pre-condition (CP) from the National Commission on Indigenous People and
approval of its Declaration of Mining Feasibility from the MGB. Simultaneously, it has ongoing
discussions with potential partners for the development of the project for the best interest of the various
stakeholders. As of December 31, 2018, the Company was able to obtain the approval of MGB for the
third renewal of the exploration period of MPSA 220 IV-B and second renewal of the exploration
period of MPSA 221 IV-B. However, recent pronouncements of the DENR indicate no strong support
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for nickel mine operations in the short-term, applicable to Infanta Nickel and other tenements in the
country. While the Company finds its MPSAs valid and subsisting as affirmed by the MGB through
the DENR, the prevailing mining prospects do not support nickel mining. Accordingly, management
believes that the full provision of P
=212.9 million recognized in 2016 is still appropriate as of
December 31, 2019.

Administrative expenses related to the mining exploration activities are expensed as incurred and
presented under “Mining expenses” under “Operating expenses” account. These amounted to
=13.4 million, P
P
=6.5 million and =
P2.8 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 20).
Deeds of Assignment with Bulawan Mining Corporation (BUMICO)
In 2012, the Company entered into two deeds of assignment with BUMICO. The first deed of
assignment covered BUMICO’s rights, title to, interests and obligations under the former’s application
for exploration permit with the MGB of the DENR over certain properties in Basay, Negros Oriental
under Exploration Permit Application No. 000103 VII. In consideration, the Company paid BUMICO
=16.0 million, which is recorded as “Deferred mine exploration costs” under “Other noncurrent assets”
P
account in the consolidated balance sheets. The said assignment was approved by the Regional Director
of the MGB on January 28, 2013.
The second deed of assignment covered BUMICO’s rights, interests and obligations under an Operating
Agreement with Philex Mining Corporation (PHILEX). The Operating Agreement granted PHILEX
the exclusive right and privilege to take over, as an independent contractor, the working and operation
of Mineral Claims as defined in the Operating Agreement for a period of 25 years. In consideration,
the Company offered its technical services for BUMICO to tie up with PHILEX. The said deed of
assignment was consented by PHILEX. Currently, PHILEX has no operations over the Mineral Claims.
Once PHILEX resumes the operations of and generates income from the Mineral Claims, the Company
shall be entitled to royalty payments and that BUMICO shall be entitled to a certain percentage of such
royalties.
31. Capital Management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit
and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize shareholder value.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustment to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders repurchase or issue new shares. The Group is not subject
to externally imposed capital requirements as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. Further, no changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2019.
The Group monitors capital vis-à-vis after tax profit. The Group also monitors the return on equity
ratio. Equity considered by the Group is total equity in the consolidated balance sheets, excluding items
arising from other comprehensive income. The return on equity ratio is computed by dividing the after
tax profit by total capital.
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The following summarizes the total capital considered by the Group and the computation of the return
on equity:
2018

Capital stock
Additional paid-in-capital
Retained earnings
Treasury shares
Net income
Return on equity

2019
=1,618,146,293
P
281,437,118
4,081,275,526
(426,826,835)
=5,554,032,102
P
=1,194,026,073
P
21.50%

(As restated,
Notes 2 and 10)
=1,618,146,293
P
281,437,118
3,270,479,831
(176,215,402)
=4,993,847,840
P
=1,086,100,234
P
21.75%

Risk Management Structure
Audit Committee
The Committee performs oversight role on financial management functions especially in the areas of
managing credit, market, liquidity, operational, legal and other risks of the Group.
Risk Management Committee
The Committee assists the BOD in identifying and assessing the various risks to which the Group is
exposed to. The Committee also ensures that the Group’s management has implemented a process to
identify, manage and report on the risks that might prevent the Group from achieving its strategic
objectives.
BOD
The BOD is responsible for the overall risk management approach and for approval of risk strategies
and principles of the Group.
Financial Risk Management
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents and some external
liabilities which were availed of primarily to fund operations. The Group has other financial assets and
financial liabilities such as trade receivables and payables which arise directly from operations.
The main risks, arising from the Group’s financial instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk,
interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The BOD reviews and approves policies for managing these risks
and they are summarized as follows:
Foreign currency risk
The Group’s transactional currency exposure arises from sales in currencies other than its functional
currency and retaining its cash substantially in currency other than its functional currency.
Approximately an average of 43% of Group’s revenue are denominated in US$. In addition, the Group
closely monitors the foreign exchange rates fluctuations and regularly assesses the impact of future
foreign exchange movements on its operations. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are
disclosed in Note 23.
The table on the next page demonstrates the impact on the Group’s income before income tax and
equity of reasonably possible changes in the US$, with all other variables held constant.
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2019
2018
2017

Increase of 5.0%
Decrease of 5.0%
Increase of 4.9%
Decrease of 4.9%
Increase of 0.4%
Decrease of 0.4%

Increase (decrease) in
income before income tax
(In millions)
=87.3
P
(87.3)
16.3
(16.3)
2.8
(2.8)

The Group reported net foreign exchange gain (loss) of (P
=17.5 million) in 2019, =
P27.4 million in 2018,
and P
=3.9 million in 2017 (see Notes 22 and 23).
Credit and concentration risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a loss because its customers or counterparties failed to
discharge their contractual obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a
financial loss. The Group manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is
willing to accept for individual counterparties and by monitoring exposures in relation to such limits.

32. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

164

Movement in US$

The Group trades only with related parties and duly evaluated and approved creditworthy third parties.
It is the Group’s policy that all customers and counterparties that wish to trade with the Group,
particularly on credit terms, are subjected to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable
balances are monitored on a continuous basis. The Group has major concentration of credit risk given
that the majority of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are deposited in the local affiliated bank and
major customers of MASCORP and MSISC include PAL and APC. As of December 31, 2019 and
2018, the related party which comprise the significant portion of the Group’s total receivable has a
negative working capital and has been incurring losses resulting to a deficit. Management assessed and
believes that the carrying amount of the trade receivable from related parties are collectible and that the
Group is not exposed to any significant risk since these companies are related parties. Further, the local
affiliated bank is one of the country’s reputable banks.
With respect to credit risk arising from financial assets, the Group’s exposure arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying values of these instruments. The Group
only deals with financial institutions that have been approved by the BOD of the Company and those
of its subsidiaries. The Group does not require any collateral and other credit enhancements.
Consequently, an impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to
measure expected credit losses (ECL). The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of
various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type,
customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance).
The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as follows:
a. Probability of default (PD) is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon.
b. Exposure at default (EAD) is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date taking into account
expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date.
c. Loss given default (LGD) is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a
given time.
For cash in bank, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification where the Group measures the
ECLs on a 12-month basis based on the probability of default and loss given default which are publicly
available. The Group also evaluates the credit rating of the bank and other financial institutions to
determine whether the debt instrument has significantly increased in credit risk and to estimate ECLs.
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For trade and other receivables, an impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure ECLs. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of
customer segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money, and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Impairment assessment
The main considerations for impairment assessment include whether any payments are overdue or if
there are any known difficulties in the cash flows of the counterparties. The Group assesses impairment
on an individual account basis for all stage 3 assets, regardless of the class of financial assets. Stage 1
and stage 2 assets are assessed on a collective basis.

In its ECL models, the Group relies on a broad range of forward looking information as economic
inputs, such as:

Items considered when determining allowance amounts include the sustainability of the counterparty’s
business plan, its ability to improve performance once a financial difficulty has arisen, projected
receipts and the expected dividend payout should bankruptcy ensue, the availability of other financial
support and the realizable value of collateral, and the timing of the expected cash flows. The
impairment losses are evaluated at each reporting date, unless unforeseen circumstances require more
careful attention even at interim.

·
·
·
·
·

Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth rates
Unemployment rates
Inflation rates
Interest rates
Foreign currency exchange rates

The inputs and models used for calculating ECLs may not always capture all characteristics of the
market at the date of the financial statements. To reflect this, qualitative adjustments or overlays are
occasionally made as temporary adjustments when such differences are significantly material. Based
on the Group’s credit risk experience, expected credit loss rate increases as the age of the receivables
increase.
The aging per class of financial assets and contract assets, and the expected credit loss follows:
December 31, 2019
Current

Less than
30 Days

Past Due
31 to 60
61 to 90
Days
Days
(In Thousands)

Over 90
Days

ECL

Total,
net of ECL

Financial assets
Cash in banks*
= 1,209,362,783
P
=–
P
=–
P
=–
P
=–
P
=– =
P
P1,209,362,783
Trade receivables
1,001,692,174 212,720,681 44,338,310
162,468,906 408,549,759 (15,527,033) 1,814,242,797
Due from officers and employees
20,943,058
–
–
–
–
–
20,943,058
Other receivables
80,983,439
–
–
–
–
–
80,983,439
Interest receivable
2,279,004
–
–
–
–
–
2,279,004
Deposits
42,714,608
–
–
–
–
–
42,714,608
Restricted cash investment
7,181,182
–
–
–
–
–
7,181,182
Contract assets
20,815,397
–
–
–
–
–
20,815,397
Installment receivables
60,515,346
–
–
–
–
–
60,515,346
Finance lease receivable
14,153,823
–
–
–
–
–
14,153,823
Total
= 2,460,640,814 =
P
P212,720,681 =
P44,338,310 =
P162,468,906 =
P408,549,759 (P
=15,527,033) P
= 3,273,191,437
*Exclusive of cash on hand amounting to =
P10,276,645

December 31, 2018
Current
Financial assets
Cash in banks
=672,909,592
P
Trade receivables
437,735,828
Dividends receivable
42,000,000
Due from officers and employees
15,510,511
Other Receivables
38,161,559
Interest Receivable
2,271,732
Deposits
41,367,513
Restricted cash investment
7,181,182
Contract assets
28,289,382
Installment receivables
90,067,431
Finance lease receivable
15,202,014
Total
= 1,390,696,744
P
*Exclusive of cash on hand amounting to =
P2,287,241.

Less than
30 Days
=–
P
92,958,211
–
–

Past Due
31 to 60
61 to 90
Over 90
Days
Days
Days
(In Thousands)
=–
P
19,375,690
–
–

=–
P
70,998,357
–
–

=–
P
193,453,497
–
–

ECL
=–
P
(14,918,648)
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
= 92,958,211 P
P
= 19,375,690 P
= 70,998,357 P
= 193,453,497 (P
=14,918,648)

Total,
net of ECL
P672,909,592
=
799,602,935
42,000,000
15,510,511
38,161,559
2,271,732
41,367,513
7,181,182
28,289,382
90,067,431
15,202,014
= 1,752,563,851
P
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Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk for changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s
notes payable with floating interest rates. The Group has a practice of keeping its interest-bearing
liabilities to third parties within a threshold that can be serviced through operating cash flows.
Management closely monitors the behaviour of interest rates to ensure that cash flow interest rate risk
is kept within management’s tolerable level. Finally, interest-bearing liabilities are ordinarily incurred
on a short-term basis only.
The table below sets forth the estimated change in the Group’s income before income tax (through the
impact on the variable rate borrowings) due to parallel changes in the interest rate curve in terms of
basis points (bp) as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, with all other variables held constant. There is no
other impact on the Group’s equity other than those already affecting the consolidated statements of
income.

100 bp rise
100 bp fall
50 bp rise
50 bp fall

Increase (decrease) in income before income tax
2019
2018
(In millions)
(P
= 14.51)
(P
=6.65)
14.51
6.65
(7.26)
(3.32)
7.26
3.32

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its obligations when they fall due under
normal and stress circumstances. To limit this risk, management manages assets with liquidity in mind,
and monitors future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. This incorporates an assessment of
expected cash flows which could be used to secure additional funding if required.
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through
the use of operating cash flows and short-term bank loans.
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Credit quality per class of financial assets
The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Group using internal credit ratings. The Group
considers its cash and cash equivalents (including restricted cash investment) as high grade since these
are placed in financial institutions of high credit standing. Accordingly, ECLs relating to cash and cash
equivalents rounds to zero. The Goup considers its dividend receivables as high grade as these are due
from an associate who has strong capacity to pay; thus LGD is considered low and no ECL is
recognized. The Group considers its advances to officers and employees as standard grade as
collectability is assured through salary deduction. Accordingly, the LGD is considered low; thus, no
ECLs are recognized on the advances to employees.
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In addition, the Group has an omnibus line of credit for P
=100.0 million (or USD equivalent) and bills
purchase line for =
P10.0 million. The omnibus line of credit is available by way of short-term
promissory notes with interest, while the bills purchase line is available for settlement of the Company’s
obligation through the bank.
The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual
and undiscounted repayment obligations. Repayments which are subject to notice are treated as if
notice were to be given immediately. The table also analyses the maturity profile of the Group’s
financial assets held for managing liquidity in order to provide complete view of the Group’s
contractual commitments and liquidity.
December 31, 2019:
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables:
Trade
Interest receivable
Installment receivable*
Finance lease receivable**
Deposits***
Other financial liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities****
Notes payable*****
Long-term debts
Lease liabilities
Dividends payable
Deposit******
Liquidity position

<1 year

>1-2 years

>2-3 years

>5 years

Total

P
=1,219,639,428

P
=–

P
=–

P
=–

P
= 1,219,639,428

1,814,242,797
2,279,004
–
399,917
–
3,036,561,146

–
–
16,137,425
1,506,004
–
17,643,429

–
–
24,206,139
2,473,791
–
26,679,930

–
–
20,171,782
16,914,113
42,714,608
79,800,503

1,814,242,797
2,279,004
60,515,346
21,293,825
42,714,608
3,160,685,008

1,593,157,424
575,000,000
482,536,067
24,688,033
35,928,020
–
2,711,309,544
P
=325,251,602

–
–
159,114,417
21,423,049
–
–
180,537,466
(P
= 162,894,037)

–
–
–
–
175,781,084
449,503,997
25,821,841
1,651,491,211
–
–
–
16,086,997
201,602,925
2,117,082,205
(P
= 174,922,995) (P
= 2,037,281,702)

1,593,157,424
575,000,000

1,266,935,565

1,723,424,134
35,928,020
16,086,997
5,210,532,140
(P
= 2,049,847,132)

*Gross of unearned interest income of =
P 912,267. The current portion amounting to =
P12,172,159 is presented under trade.
** Gross of unearned interest income of =
P6,109,655 exclusive of =
P541,128 included under trade.
*** Gross of unearned interest income of =
P 19,514,515. Presented as part of “Other noncurrent assets”.
****Exclusive of nonfinancial liabilities of =
P157,756,496.
***** Inclusive of interest to maturity of P
=102,830,011.
****** Inclusive of accretion of interest of =
P9,933,244. Presented as part of “Other noncurrent assets”.

December 31, 2018:
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables:
Trade
Dividends receivable
Interest receivable
Installment receivable*
Finance lease receivable**
Deposits***
Other financial liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities****
Notes payable*****
Long-term debts
Lease liabilities
Dividends payable
Deposit******
Liquidity position

33. Fair Values
The table below provides the comparison of carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s assets and
liabilities as at:

December 31, 2019
Assets measured at fair value:
Equity instruments designated at FVTOCI
(Note 15)
Assets for which fair value is disclosed:
Installment receivables (Note 15)
Finance lease receivable (Note 15)
Investment property (Note 13)
Deposits (Note 15)
Liabilities for which fair value is disclosed
Deposits (Note 18)
Long term debts (Note 16)
December 31, 2018
Assets measured at fair value:
Available for sale financial investments
(Note 15)
Assets for which fair value is disclosed:
Installment receivables (Note 15)
Finance lease receivable (Note 15)
Investment property (Note 13)
Deposits (Note 15)
Liabilities for which fair value is disclosed
Deposits (Note 18)
Long term debts (Note 16)

Carrying
value

Quoted prices
in active
markets
(Level 1)

Fair value measurements using
Significant
Significant
observable
unobservable
inputs
inputs
(Level 2)
(Level 3)

= 76,138,300
P

=–
P

= 76,138,300
P

=–
P

60,515,346
14,153,823
143,852,303
42,714,608

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

60,515,346
14,153,823
261,096,000
42,714,608

16,086,997
1,266,935,565

–
–

–
1,266,935,565

16,086,997
–

65,155,800

–

65,155,800

–

90,067,431
15,202,014
143,852,303
41,367,513

–
–
–

–
–
–
–

90,067,431
15,202,014
261,096,000
41,367,513

17,881,940
753,525,921

–
–

–
753,525,921

17,881,940
–

The Group determined that its investments in government bonds and golf club shares are categorized
at Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. The Group assessed that, while there is a market for these
securities, transactions are infrequent.

<1 year

>1-2 years

>2-3 years

>5 years

Total

=675,196,833
P

=–
P

=–
P

=–
P

=675,196,833
P

799,602,935
42,000,000
2,271,732
–
352,779
–
1,519,424,279

–
–
–
16,480,236
1,328,491
–
17,808,727

–
–
–
24,720,355
2,182,205
–
26,902,560

–
–
–
20,600,296
14,920,447
61,690,978
97,211,721

799,602,935
42,000,000
2,271,732
61,800,887
18,783.922
61,690,978
1,642,582,149

810,044,510
348,450,000
155,471,671
22,479,956
8,859,024
–
1,345,305,161
=174,119,118
P

–
–
311,922,620
24,688,033
–
–
336,610,653
(P
=318,801,926)

–
–
810,044,510
–
–
348,450,000
304,128,411
104,132,965
875,655,667
19,087,950
1,677,287,392
1,743,543,331
–
–
8,859,024
–
24,588,996
24,588,996
323,216,361
1,806,009,353
3,811,141,528
(P
=296,313,801) (P
=1,708,797,632) (P
=2,168,559,379)

There have been no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 in 2019 and 2018.
Cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payables and accrued liabilities, and notes payable
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities
dividends payable and notes payable approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.
Installment receivables and deposits
The carrying values of installment receivables and deposits are determined based on the present value
of expected cash flows discounted at the Group’s borrowing rate.
Dividends payable
The carrying value of dividends payable approximates its fair value since they are expected to be settled
within a short period of time after its declaration.
Long-term debts
The carrying value of long-term debts approximate its fair value due to the re-pricing feature of the
interest it carries.

*Gross of unearned interest income of =
P 12,402,113. The current portion amounting to =
P 40,668,657 is presented under trade.
** Gross of unearned interest income of =
P4,106,803 exclusive of =
P524,895 included under trade.
*** Gross of unearned interest income of =
P 20,323,465. Presented as part of “Other noncurrent assets”.
****Exclusive of nonfinancial liabilities of =
P71,296,495.
***** Inclusive of interest to maturity of P
=122,129,746.
****** Inclusive of accretion of interest of =
P15,175,762. Presented as part of “Other noncurrent assets”.
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Equity instruments designated at FVTOCI
The Group’s investments in golf club share and other proprietary shares are carried at fair value based
on published club share quotes that are publicly available from the local dailies and from the website
of club share brokers.
Investment property
The Philippine SEC-accredited and independent appraiser used the “Market Data Approach” in valuing
the property. The Group has determined that the highest and best use of the property is its current use
(i.e., industrial purpose).
34. Changes in Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities

Beginning
Availments
Payments
Note payable (Note 16)
= 348,450,000
P
= 625,000,000 (P
P
= 398,450,000)
Long-term debt (Note 16)
753,525,921
648,575,000 (135,165,356)
Lease liabilities (Note 28) 1,743,543,333
–
(51,068,773)
Dividend payable (Note 27)
8,859,024
– (305,226,323)
Dividends payable to noncontrolling interest
(Note 27)
12,375,000
–
(12,375,000)
Total liabilities from
financing activities
= 2,866,753,278 P
P
= 1,273,575,000 (P
= 902,285,452)
*Noncash activities pertain to discounting of lease payments

Additions
through
business
Noncash combination
activities* (Note 10)
=–
P
=–
P
–
–
30,949,574
–
–
–
–
= 30,949,574
P

2018
Noncash
activities*
(P
=414,980)
4,423,233
67,635,419
–

–

Cash Dividend Declaration
On March 6, 2020, the Company’s BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends in the amount of
=0.25 per share with an aggregate amount of =
P
P393.9 million from the unrestricted retained earnings as
of December 31, 2019.
Dividend Declaration of LTP
On February 4, 2020, the BOD of LTP has approved the declaration of cash dividends amounting to
=1,930.4 million ($38.0 million) out of LTP’s unrestricted retained earnings. The Parent Company’s
P
share in this dividend declaration amounts to =
P945.9 million ($18.6 million).

The table below presents the changes in Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities.
2019

The Group considers the events surrounding the outbreak as non-adjusting subsequent events, which
do not impact its financial position and performance as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Accordingly, no adjustments have been made to the consolidated financial statements as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2019 for the impact of COVID-19. However, it could have a material impact
on its 2020 financial results and even periods thereafter. Considering the evolving nature of this
outbreak, the Group cannot determine at this time the impact to its consolidated financial position,
performance and cash flows. The Group will continue to monitor the situation.

Dividend
declaration
(Note 27)
=–
P
–
–
305,895,319

Ending
P575,000,000
=
1,266,935,565
1,723,424,134
9,528,020

26,400,000

26,400,000

=– P
P
= 332,295,319 P
= 3,601,287,719

Additions
through
business
combination
(Note 10)
=–
P
24,559,778
–
–

Dividend
declaration
(Note 27)
Ending
=– P
P
=348,450,000
–
753,525,921
– 1,743,543,333
–
8,859,024

Beginning
Availments
Payments
Note payable (Note 16)
=207,700,866
P
=403,865,000 (P
P
=262,700,886)
Long-term debt (Note 16)
512,609,945
250,000,000
(38,067,035)
Lease liabilities (Note 28)
1,700,009,467
–
(24,101,553)
Dividend payable (Note 27)
180,660,640
– (171,801,616)
Dividends payable to noncontrolling interest
(Note 27)
–
–
(12,375,000)
–
– 24,750,000
12,375,000
Total liabilities from
financing activities
=2,600,980,918
P
=653,865,000 (P
P
=509,046,090) P
=71,643,672 P
=24,559,778 =
P24,750,000 P
=2,866,753,278
*Noncash activities pertain to discounting of lease payments and foreign currency translation

35. Subsequent Events
Impact of Coronavirus Outbreak
Subsequent to December 31, 2019, the Philippine Government implemented travel ban to/from highrisk countries severely affected by the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) which
affected the Group’s catering and groundhandling services to airlines with flights to/from these
countries. As of March 6, 2020, the Group continuously complies with the regulations set forth by the
local government in relation to the travel ban.
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Committees, Other Entities and Shareholder Information

Corporate Governance Committee
Chairperson
Members

Non-Voting Member

Risk Management Committee

Marixi R. Prieto (Independent Director)
Lucio C. Tan III
Johnip G. Cua (Independent Director)
Ben C. Tiu (Independent Director)
Samuel C. Uy (Independent Director)
Marivic T. Moya

Chairman

Ben C. Tiu (Independent Director)

Members

Joseph T. Chua
Michael G. Tan
Vivienne K. Tan
Johnip G. Cua (Independent Director)
Marixi R. Prieto (Independent Director)
Samuel C. Uy (Independent Director)

Audit Committee
Chairman
Members

Johnip G. Cua (Independent Director)
Michael G. Tan
Lucio C. Tan III
Ben C. Tiu (Independent Director)
Marixi R. Prieto (Independent Director)
Samuel C. Uy (Independent Director)

Investment Committee
Chairman

Dr. Lucio C. Tan

Members

Carmen K. Tan
Lucio C. Tan III
Joseph T. Chua
Vivienne K. Tan

Related Party Transactions Committee
Chairperson
Members

Marixi R. Prieto (Independent Director)
Lucio C. Tan III
Johnip G. Cua (Independent Director)
Ben C. Tiu (Independent Director)
Samuel C. Uy (Independent Director)

Johnip G. Cua (Independent Director)

Mining Committee
Chairman

Johnip G. Cua (Independent Director)

Members

Joseph T. Chua
Michael G. Tan

Compensation Committee
Chairman
Members

Non-Voting Member

Johnip G. Cua (Independent Director)
Lucio C. Tan III
Michael G. Tan
Ben C. Tiu (Independent Director)
Samuel C. Uy (Independent Director)
Marivic T. Moya

Banks
Philippine National Bank
(formerly Allied Banking Corporation)
6754 Ayala Avenue, Makati City
Philippine Bank of Communications
565-567 Sto. Cristo, Binondo Manila
Banco de Oro Universal Bank
EPC Building, Paseo de Roxas cor.
Gil Puyat Ave., Makati City
Unionbank of the Philippines
Tektite Building, Ortigas Center
Pasig City
Asia United Bank
G/F Morning Star Center Building,
Gil Puyat Avenue, Makati City
China Banking Corporation
8745 Paseo de Roxas corner Villar St.,
Makati City

172

Directory of Subsidiaries and Associated Companies

MacroAsia Corporation 2019 Annual Report

Eduardo Luis T. Luy

Metrobank and Trust Company
New Manila Branch 676 Aurora Blvd.
New Manila, 1112 Quezon City
Stock and Transfer Agent
Trust Banking Group
Philippine National Bank
(formerly Allied Banking Corporation)
3rd Floor, PNB Financial Center
Pres. Diosdado Macapagal Blvd.,
Pasay City
Independent Auditors
SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co.
6760 Ayala Avenue
Makati City
Investor Relations
For further information about
MacroAsia Corporation,
please contact:
Ms. Gladys Lorraine P. Salamatin
Investor Relations Officer

Lufthansa Technik Philippines, Inc. (LTP)
(A Joint Venture with MacroAsia Corporation)
MacroAsia Special Economic Zone
Villamor Airbase, Pasay City 1309, Philippines
Tel No.: + 63 2 8855 2222
Fax No.: +63 2 8855 9309
https://www.lht-philippines.com
MacroAsia Catering Services, Inc. (MACS)
West Service Road, Merville Exit
NAIA, Pasay City 1300, Philippines
Tel Nos.: +63 2 8828 2011/+63 2 8828 2031
Fax No.: +63 2 8828 4717
http://www.macroasiacatering.com

12th Floor, PNB Allied Bank Center,
6754 Ayala Avenue
Makati City, 1226, Philippines
Tel No.: +63 88402001
Email: gpsalamatin@macroasiacorp.com
Stock Code
Philippine Stock Exchange – MAC
Financial Calendar
Year Ended 31st December 2019
Annual Report Announcement –
21 April 2020
Annual General Stockholders’ Meeting –
17 July 2020
First Quarter Interim Results
Announcement – 16 June 2020

MacroAsia SATS Inflight Services
Corporation (MSIS)
PAL Inflight Center, Baltao St. Cor MIAA Road
Pasay City 1301, Philippines
Tel No.: +63 2 8851 1049
MacroAsia SATS Food Industries
Corporation (MSFI)
MAPDC Building, East Service Road, Sucat
Muntinlupa City 1771, Philippines
Tel. No.: +63 2 8297 9000
Cebu Pacific Catering Services, Inc. (CPCS)
1st Avenue Extension, Block B6
Mactan Economic Zone 1,
Lapu-Lapu City 6015, Philippines
Tel Nos.: +632 32 340 5838/ +632 32 340 5848/
+632 32 340 5858/+632 32 340 7609/
+632 32 340 8858
Fax No.: +63 32 340 5358
MacroAsia Airport Services Corporation
(MASCORP)
3rd Floor, Bldg. A, Skyfreight Center,
Ninoy Aquino Ave.
Brgy. Sto. Niño, Parañaque City 1704, Philippines
Tel No.: +63 2 8878 5000
Fax No.: +63 2 8878 5001
Website: http://www.mascorp.ph

Japan Airport Service Co., Ltd. (JASCO)
Room # 322, 3rd Floor, 1st Cargo Agency Building
Narita International Airport, Narita City
Chiba Prefecture 282-0004, Japan
Tel No.: 0476 32 5881
Fax No.: 0476 32 5894
MacroAsia Air Taxi Services, Inc. (MAATS)
2nd Floor Anzcor Hangar 2 Building-A
A. Soriano Island Aviation, Andrews Avenue
Pasay City 1300, Philippines
Tel. No.: +63 2 8553 4847
First Aviation Academy, Inc. (FAA)
Building 8303, Southwest Apron B, Subic Bay
International Airport,
Subic Bay Freeport Zone 2200, Philippines
Tel. Nos.: +63 47 251 2412 up to 14
E-mail address: info@firstaviationacademy.com
https://www.firstaviationacademy.com
MacroAsia Properties Development
Corporation (MAPDC)
MacroAsia Special Economic Zone, Villamor
Airbase
Pasay City 1309, Philippines
Tel Nos.: +63 2 8853 5201/+63 2 8855 2222
Fax No.: +63 2 8853 5200
Boracay Tubi System, Inc. (BTSI)
Main Road Brgy. Balagbag, Boracay Island
Malay Aklan 5608, Philippines
Tel. Nos.: 288 3168/288 1483/288 9358
http://www.boracaytubi.com

SNV Resources Development Corporation
(SNVRDC)
Dupan St. cor. Yogad St., Brgy. Quirino
Solano, Nueva Vizcaya 3709, Philippines
Tel. No.: +63 78 392 0759
Mobile No. (Bus. Office).: +63 917 653 1737
Mobile No. (WTP): +63 977 812 1456
www.solanowater.com
Summa Water Resources, Inc. (SWRI)
369 Dr. Sixto Antonio Avenue, Maybunga
Pasig City 1607, Philippines
Tel. Nos.: +63 2 7576 3296/+63 2 7621 3367/
+63 2 8288 1529, +63 2 8286 7077
http://summawater.com
Allied Water Services, Inc. (AWSI)
Formerly Airport Specialists’ Services
Corporation (ASSC)
12th Floor, PNB Allied Bank Center
6754 Ayala Avenue
Makati City 1226, Philippines
Tel No.: +63 2 8840 2001
Fax No.: +63 2 8840 1892
MacroAsia Mining Corporation (MMC)
12th Floor, PNB Allied Bank Center
6754 Ayala Avenue
Makati City 1226, Philippines
Tel No.: +63 2 8840 2001
Fax No.: +63 2 8840 1892

Naic Water Supply Corporation (NAWASCOR)
003 Capt. C Nazareno St., Poblacion
Naic, Cavite 4110, Philippines
Tel. No.: +63 46 412 0026
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